Regular Meeting Tuesday, October 13, 2020 6:00 p.m.



Unalaska City Hall Council Chambers 43 Raven Way

Council Members Thomas D. Bell Darin Nicholson David M. Gregory

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL

P. O. Box 610 • Unalaska, Alaska 99685 (907) 581-1251 • <u>www.ci.unalaska.ak.us</u>

Vincent M. Tutiakoff Sr., Mayor Erin Reinders, City Manager **Council Members** Dennis M. Robinson Alejandro R. Tungul Shari Coleman

Due to recommended social distancing measures to stop the spread of COVID-19 and the City Manager's Emergency Order suspending the provisions of UCO § 2.20.075, this meeting will be conducted via telephone conference and online with the ZOOM platform. A limited number of Council Members and City Staff will be in attendance. Seating for members of the public is reduced to allow for social distancing. Coverings over nose and mouth are required to be worn upon entering the building and until seated; and again when exiting.

PARTICIPATION AND TESTIMONY OPTIONS

- Attend in person; seating limited to allow for social distancing
- Listen to the meeting on KUCB TV Channel 8 or Radio Station 89.7
- Join online via ZOOM (link, meeting ID & password below); please notify Clerk if you wish to speak
- Join by phone (toll free numbers, meeting ID & password below); notify Clerk if you wish to speak
- Email comments, testimony or questions to the City Clerk (<u>mveeder@ci.unalaska.ak.us</u>) no later than 5:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting, to be read into the record

ZOOM MEETING LINK:

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3547251432?pwd=Qkp3UDhqTEIKWVZlbytYWlpCUmhyZz09 Meeting ID: 354 725 1432 / Passcode: 8675309

TELEPHONE:

TOLL FREE (833) 548-0276; <u>or</u> (833) 548-0282; <u>or</u> (877) 853-5247; <u>or</u> (888) 788-0099 Meeting ID: 354 725 1432 / Passcode: 8675309

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA

- 1. Call to order
- 2. Roll call
- 3. Pledge of allegiance
- 4. Legislative:
 - a. Canvass Committee Report
 - b. Certification of Election
- 5. Adjournment

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA

- 1. Call to order
- 2. Recognition of visitors
- 3. Adoption of agenda

- 4. Approve minutes of previous meeting: September 22, 2020
- 5. Report: City Manager
- 6. **Community Input & Announcements** *Members of the public may make announcements of interest to the community.*
- 7. Public testimony on agenda items *Time for members of the public to testify or provide information to Council regarding items on the agenda. Members of the public may also speak when the issue comes up on the regular agenda by signing up with the City Clerk.*
- 8. Public hearing Members of the public may testify about any item set for public hearing.
 - a. Ordinance 2020-15: Budget Amendment #2 to the FY21 budget, recognizing private donation revenue of \$50,000 in the general fund and increasing community support expenditures by \$50,000; request of \$68,121 for FY21 Rolling Stock Replacements for the Department of Public Utilities Wastewater and Water Divisions
- 9. Work session *Work sessions are for planning purposes, or studying and discussing issues before the Council.*
 - a. Request from the Unalaska Native Fisherman's Association for the City's support of their request to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council for a Community Cod Allocation
 - b. FY22 Budget Calendar Review
- 10. **Consent agenda** *Approval of non-controversial and routine items, accomplished without debate and with a single motion and vote. Any council member may request an item be moved to the regular agenda for discussion purposes.*
 - a. Resolution 2020-64: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an Agreement renewing a 20 year lease with TelAlaska for the Lear Road Water Tank Site
 - b. Resolution 2020-65: Approving the Mayor's Appointment of Cameron Dean and Andrew Dietrick to the Parks, Culture and Recreation Committee
- 11. Regular agenda Persons wishing to speak on regular agenda items must sign up with the City Clerk.
 - a. Unfinished Business
 - i. Ordinance 2020-15: Budget Amendment #2 to the FY21 budget, recognizing private donation revenue of \$50,000 in the general fund and increasing community support expenditures by \$50,000; request of \$68,121 for FY21 Rolling Stock Replacements for the Department of Public Utilities Wastewater and Water Divisions
 - b. New Business
 - i. Vote on UNFA request (from Work Session)
 - ii. Resolution 2020-66: Continuing Measures to protect Public Health
- 12. Council Directives to City Manager
- **13. Community Input & Announcements** *Members of the public may make announcements of interest to the community.*
- 14. Adjournment

CITY OF UNALASKA UNALASKA, ALASKA

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION

THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL hereby certifies the results of the General Municipal Election held October 6, 2020, as presented by the Election Board and Canvass Committee, as follows:

City Council Seat CC-B

Thomas D. Bell	
Brenda Baker	
Write-ins	5

City Council Seat CC-E

Dennis M. Robinson	271
Write-in Anthony Longo	177
Write-ins other	

School Board Seat SB-B

Jolene Longo	
Patrick Shipp	
Write-ins	

School Board Seat SB-E

Fernando Barrera	429
Write-ins	28

The City Council with this certification hereby declares the following:

- 1. THOMAS D. BELL is elected to City Council Seat CC-B for a 3-year term expiring October 2023.
- 2. DENNIS M. ROBINSON is elected to City Council Seat CC-E for a 3-year term expiring October 2023.
- 3. JOLENE LONGO is elected to School Board Seat SB-B for a 3-year term expiring October 2023.
- 4. FERNANDO BARRERA is elected to School Board Seat SB-E for a 3-year term expiring October 2023.

The City Clerk is authorized to deliver this Certificate of Election to every person elected.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 13, 2020.

Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. Mayor

ATTEST:

Marjie Veeder, CMC City Clerk

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL

To:Mayor and City Council MembersFrom:Marjie Veeder, City ClerkDate:October 13, 2020Re:Certificate of Election

<u>SUMMARY</u>: Pursuant to code, the City Council shall publicly declare and certify the election results on the first Tuesday following the election. The Canvass Committee recommends that Council certify the results as presented.

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: This procedure is followed annually.

BACKGROUND and DISCUSSION: The General Municipal Election was held on October 6, 2020, following which the Election Board reconciled ballots and completed a count of the ballots cast on Election Day.

The Canvass Committee met on October 9 to canvass all absentee, special needs and questioned ballots, and to compile final election results.

Presented to Council tonight is the Canvass Committee Report, along with the final results, tallying both Election Day results and ballots counted by the Canvass Committee.

ALTERNATIVES: None.

<u>STAFF RECOMMENDATION</u>: The City Clerk and the Canvass Committee recommend certification of the election results as presented.

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to certify the results of the October 6, 2020 general election as presented by the Election Board and the Canvass Committee.

ATTACHMENT: Canvassing Committee Report

CITY OF UNALASKA UNALASKA, ALASKA

CANVASSING COMMITTEE REPORT OCTOBER 6, 2020 GENERAL ELECTION

The Canvassing Committee members, appointed by City Council Resolution 2020-57, consist of Council Member Darin Nicholson, City Clerk Marjie Veeder and Deputy City Clerk Roxanna Winters.

The Election Board completed a tally of all regular ballots cast at the polls on October 6, 2020, and supplied their reports to the Canvassing Committee.

The Canvassing Committee met on October 9, 2020, at 10:00 a.m. to canvass ballots not counted on Election Day, consisting of early and absentee ballots, special needs ballots and questioned ballots, and reports as follows:

EARLY AND ABSENTEE BALLOTS CAST

Early and Absentee Ballots	51
Special Needs Ballots	3
Questioned Ballots	3
Subtotal	57

BALLOTS CAST AT THE POLLS

Ballots Counted on Election Day	422
Special Needs Ballots	
Questioned Ballots	
Subtotal	444
Total Ballots Cast	501

I otal Ballots Cast	
Less questioned ballots found unqualified	6
Total Qualified & Counted Ballots	495

There were a total of 12 questioned ballots, six of which were determined to have been cast by qualified voters. The remaining 6 questioned ballots were not counted because the voters were either not registered to vote, not timely registered, or not a citizen of the United States. Therefore, there were 495 qualified ballots cast in local election and counted.

The Canvass Committee tallied the Early and Absentee Ballots, the Special Needs Ballots and the qualified Questioned Ballots (73 total). The results, combined with the votes cast at the pools, are attached to this report.

There were 2,002 voters on the precinct register, which documents all voters registered at an address in our community at least 30 days before Election Day. The total number of votes cast by qualified voters was 495, which is a 25% voter turnout.

The Canvassing Committee recommends certification of the election results.

DATED this 9th day of October 2020.

Darin Nicholson

Meller

Marjie Veeder

Roxanna Winters

CITY OF UNALASKA

Canvass Committee Tally Sheet 10/9/2020 October 6, 2020 General Municipal Election



-			
COUNCIL SEAT B			
Thomas D. Bell	275	49	324
Brenda Baker	132	21	153
Write-ins	2	3	5
	409	73	482
COUNCIL SEAT E			
Dennis M. Robinson	225	46	271
Write-in Anthony Longo	161	16	177
Write-in Other	9	5	14
	395	67	462
SCHOOL BOARD SEAT B			
Jolene Longo	240	32	272
Patrick Shipp	140	35	175
Write-ins	15	3	18
	395	70	465
SCHOOL BOARD SEAT E			
Fernando Barrera	364	65	429
Write-ins	23	5	28
-	387	70	457

CANVASS COMMITTEE SIGNATURES Darin Nicholson Weller Marjie Veeder **Roxanna Winters**

TOTAL

Regular Meeting Tuesday, September 22, 2020 6:00 p.m.



UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL

P. O. Box 610 • Unalaska, Alaska 99685 (907) 581-1251 • <u>www.ci.unalaska.ak.us</u>

Vincent M. Tutiakoff Sr., Mayor Erin Reinders, City Manager

MINUTES

1. Call to order

Council Members

Thomas D. Bell

Darin Nicholson

David M. Gregory

Mayor Tutiakoff, Sr. called the regular meeting of the Unalaska City Council to order on Tuesday, September 22, 2020 at 6:09 pm in the Unalaska City Council chambers.

2. Roll call

<u>Present in chambers</u>: Vincent Tutiakoff, Sr., Mayor Thomas D. Bell David Gregory Shari Coleman <u>Present Via Telephone or Zoom</u>: Dennis Robinson Darin Nicholson Alejandro Tungul

<u>Absent</u>: None

Unalaska City Hall

Council Chambers

43 Raven Way

Council Members

Dennis M. Robinson

Alejandro R. Tungul

Shari Coleman

- 3. Recognition of visitors None
- 4. **Pledge of allegiance** Coleman led the Pledge of Allegiance

5. Adoption of agenda

Coleman made a motion to adopt agenda; Gregory seconded. Roll Call Vote: Tungul – yes; Robinson – yes; Nicholson – yes; Gregory – yes; Bell – yes; Coleman – yes. Motion passed 6-0.

6. Awards and Presentations - Recognize City Employee Anniversaries

Mayor and Council recognized the following city employees for their service:

- a. Maricela Rodriquez 10 years, PCR
- b. Victor Sabater 10 years, DPS
- c. Timoteo Balbarino 10 years, DPW

7. Approve minutes of previous meeting September 8, 2020

Coleman made a motion to approve the September 8, 2020 meeting minutes; Gregory seconded.

Roll Call Vote: Coleman – yes; Gregory – yes; Nicholson – yes; Robinson – yes; Tungul – yes; Bell – yes.

Motion passed 6-0.

8. City Manager's Report – In the packet.

City Manager added the following items to the report:

• AML November meeting to be held virtually

City Manager answered Council questions regarding:

- Strategic Planning updates
- Geo Thermal Project
- Update for commercial flight service in Unalaska with New Raven Group
- Tsunami Warning System Outdoor and Indoor
- CARES Act Disbursements
- New Year's Fireworks cancelation

9. Community Input & Announcements

- General Municipal Election October 6, 2020; Absentee/Early/Special Needs voting is ongoing
- Census Count

10. Public testimony on agenda items - None

11. Work session

Coleman made a motion to go into Work Session; Bell seconded. Roll Call Vote: Bell – yes; Nicholson – yes; Gregory – yes; Robinson – yes; Coleman – yes; Tungul – yes. Motion passed 6-0.

a. Report from Fisheries Consultant Frank Kelty

Frank Kelty presented a Fisheries Report and answered Council questions regarding:

- Halibut Abundance Management
- Proposed letter of support to reduce Halibut By-Catch
- b. Discuss proposed Utility Credit Program for Unalaska residents

Interim Finance Director Jim Sharpe led the discussion on establishing a Utility Credit Program for PCE eligible utility customers impacted by Stay at Home orders due to COVID-19 and presented three options for the distribution of funds for Council to consider. City Manager and Interim Director answered Council questions. Andy Dietrick provided Public Testimony.

12. Regular agenda

a. Resolution 2020-60: Establishing a Utility Credit Program for PCE eligible utility customers impacted by Stay at Home orders due to COVID-19 Gregory made a motion to adopt Resolution 2020-60; Bell seconded.

Bell made a motion to amend Resolution 2020-60 to strike *\$1,035* and insert *\$2,070* and to strike *\$345* and insert *\$690*; Gregory seconded. Roll Call Vote on motion to amend: Gregory – yes; Bell – yes; Coleman – yes; Nicholson – yes; Robinson – yes; Tungul – yes. Motion passed 6-0. Roll Call Vote on main motion as amended: Bell – yes; Coleman – yes; Robinson – yes; Tungul – yes; Gregory – yes. Nicholson did not vote. Motion passed 5-0.

b. Resolution 2020-61: Identifying the City of Unalaska's Federal Priorities

Gregory made a motion to adopt Resolution 2020-61; Bell seconded Roll Call Vote: Bell – yes; Coleman – yes; Nicholson – yes; Robinson – yes; Tungul – yes; Gregory – yes. Motion passed 6-0.

c. Resolutions 2020-62: Identifying the City of Unalaska's State Priorities

Coleman made a motion to adopt Resolution 2020-62; Gregory seconded. Roll Call Vote: Robinson – yes; Tungul – yes; Coleman – yes; Gregory – yes; Bell – yes; Nicholson – yes. Motion passed 6-0.

d. Resolution 2020-63: Continuing Measures to Protect Public Health

Coleman made a motion to adopt Resolution 2020-63; Gregory seconded. Roll Call Vote: Nicholson – yes; Tungul – yes; Robinson – yes; Gregory – yes; Bell – yes; Coleman – yes. Motion passed 6-0.

e. Ordinance 2020-15: Budget Amendment #2 to the FY21 budget, recognizing private donation revenue of \$50,000 in the general fund and increasing community support expenditures by \$50,000; request of \$68,121 for FY21 Rolling Stock Replacements for the Department of Public Utilities Wastewater and Water Divisions

Gregory made a motion to move Ordinance 2020-15 to Second Reading and Public Hearing on October 13, 2020; Coleman seconded. Roll Call Vote: Bell – yes; Gregory – yes; Coleman – yes; Robinson – yes; Nicholson; Tungul – yes. Motion passed 6-0.

13. Council Directives to City Manager – None

14. Community Input & Announcements - None

15. Adjournment – Mayor Tutiakoff, Sr., adjourned the meeting at 8:32 pm.

Marjie Veeder, CMC City Clerk

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL

To:Mayor and City Council MembersFrom:Erin Reinders, City ManagerDate:October 13, 2020Re:City Manager Report

Upcoming Deadlines: The following filing and application deadlines and events are coming up.

- SECOND HALF PROPERTY TAX PAYMENT due Tuesday, October 20, 2020
- STATE/NATIONAL GENERAL ELECTION
 - <u>Voter Registration</u>: In a presidential election, you may register to vote and participate in the presidential election so long as your completed application and any supporting documentation is received by the State of Alaska 10 days before Election Day (October 24, 2020). Register with the State Division of Elections. Apply online if you have an Alaska driver license or state ID card. Paper applications can be downloaded from the state website and are also available at City Hall. The state website is <u>elections.alaska.gov</u>
 - Early & Absentee Voting:
 - Apply to vote by mail or email with the State of Alaska, Division of Elections online at <u>elections.alaska.gov</u>; paper applications available on the state website and at City Hall
 - In person Early and Absentee voting at Unalaska City Hall, October 19 through November 2; call the Clerk's Department at 581-1251, option 4, to make a voting appointment
 - <u>Election Day</u>: Tuesday, November 3, 2020; polls open at City Hall 7am to 8pm for in person voting

Strategic Planning: The Mayor and I have continued discussions with a facilitator to lead a Strategic Planning Session. To be most effective, this will be done in person with numerous COVID safeguards in place. The facilitator will first meet with the Executive Team as a group and with their input, will then meet with the Mayor and City Council. This process will help Council set goals and focus areas for the coming year to best address community needs and your vision for the future. With added focus, this will help us to use our resources more effectively.

Council members must first determine the week this should occur. Based on feedback I have heard so far, Option 2 seems to be the preferred timeframe:

- Option 1: Nov 9-13
- Option 2: Dec 7-11
- Option 3: Feb 8-12

I am also looking for feedback as to whether Council prefers their session to span 2 or 3 days. Please see the attached overview of delivery options and for additional detail on the process.

RAVN Update: Our Port Director remains in regular communication with Ravn. They continue their efforts with FAA certification and US DOT approval. We are working with our lobbyists to help ensure federal agencies focus their attention on these processes. Safe and reliable air travel is critical for our community.

Airport Master Plan: The State hosted a virtual meeting of the Stakeholder Advisory Committee on Wednesday, October 7. Typically the Airport Master Plan process take 18 months, their goal is to have this completed in 10 months to better position infrastructure projects for funding opportunities. Plans are in the works for some sort of public engagement later in October. We will share details when we learn more.

Geothermal PPA: In accordance with the PPA, the City contracted with Electrical Power Systems (EPS) to conduct the Interconnection and Integration Study. We remain in contact with OCCP on this subject. City staff has also been notified that OCCP is working on the feasibility study of the heat pumps as outlined in the PPA. We have also identified a new Anchorage based consultant, Thomas Lovas of Energy & Resource Economics, to assist us with analysis when needed. Mr. Lovas has worked in the energy industry for over 40 years, culminating with his 16 years as the owner/principal consultant for Energy & Resource Economics of Anchorage, Alaska. His experience includes electricity production by hydro, coal, nuclear, gas, solar, biomass, geothermal and wind; power transmission and distribution; power and fuel contracts; regulatory processes; energy research; and administrative services. His clients have included private and public utilities, rural electric cooperatives, native regional corporations, the National Rural Electric Cooperative Association, and Alaska Energy Authority in the areas of business planning, rate studies, and financial and economic analysis for administrative and operating purposes.

Innovative Readiness Training (IRT): The Tribe received the IRT Assessment Report, which is the final deliverable, and passed that along to both OC and the City. I further distributed the document to the City Council, City Department Directors as well as our federal lobbyist. As a review, an IRT (Innovative Readiness Training) Program team assessed community needs and identified potential solutions. Chris Salts with OC, Chris Price with the Q-Tribe and I plan to meet in the coming months to discuss next steps.

Tsunami Sirens Update: The Fire Chief provided the following update regarding the sirens: There are currently 4 operational sirens on the island (CEM, Bobby Storrs, Amaknak Fire Station, and Ballyhoo Road). The sirens have reached the end of their serviceable life. City staff is reviewing quotes to replace the sirens. The project continues to move forward, and focus remains on cost effective and timely installation of sirens.

COVID-19 Unified Command: The City of Unalaska remains in a state of emergency. Given the duration of this event, we have again adjusted our meeting scheduled and scope. The Unalaska Unified Command Stakeholder Group now meets monthly rather than weekly. This is the same group that has been meeting since the pandemic began and includes representatives from USAFV, industry, City, Tribe, School and Clinic. Additionally, City Staff meet on a weekly basis to discuss operational issues any necessary updates; the Clinic Director and I meet on a weekly bases as well. We believe this is a sustainable approach, and one that can be adapted as the situation evolves.

CARES Act: The Finance Department continues to submit monthly reports as required. We have requested and received our third and final disbursement. There has been no extension on the federal level to the end of the year deadline for the expenditure of funds. Our federal lobbyists are monitoring this issue. City Staff plans on providing an update on Cares Act spending at the October 27 Council meeting, which will include a proposal of how the remaining funds in that 10% contingency or "buffer" might be used.

Emergency Response Plan Update: The City has contracted with The Response Group to review and update the City's Hazard Mitigation Plan as well as each department's Emergency Response Plan. These new plans will be the backbone to assist the city moving forward with a more coordinated response to emergencies, included pandemics. These updates plans are being paid for with CARES Act funding. The Response Group representatives are schedule for an onsite visit October 13-17. They plan to meet with City Staff and other stakeholders in the community during their visit. A follow up visit will be planned in the coming weeks.

Finance Director: We continue our efforts to fill the Finance Director role on a permanent basis with a highly competent and qualified individual to effectively serve our organization and community. The City is now working with Alaska Executive Search out of Anchorage to assist in recruitment efforts. They have worked with other Alaska municipalities and have a solid understanding of both the challenges and opportunities of living in remote Alaska. Jim Sharpe continues to serve as Interim Finance Director, and is participating in meetings telephonically and remains available for staff even while off island. Jim is currently on island for the month of October.

Directives to the City Manager: Two directives to the City Manager remain outstanding.

- Options for Increased Tobacco Tax (11/27/18). Ongoing. Council discussed this in detail at the July 9, 2019 Council Meeting. Future discussions will include additional information on Tobacco Excise Tax, a combination Tobacco Excise Tax with increased sales tax on alcohol and marijuana, fund dedication options, and potential rates. City Clerk, Marjie Veeder is working with our city attorneys and will bring additional information to Council in the coming months. We have the tentatively scheduled this complex topic to be on a Council agenda in November.
- Fiscal Sustainability Plan and Policy (5/14/19). Initiated. Interim Finance Director Jim Sharpe began a discussion with City Council on sustainable long term planning at the December 12, 2019 Council meeting. He provided informational material for Council to review. This is in a holding pattern given our current state of emergency and current work load of the Finance Department.



City of UnAlaska

Strategic Planning Overview

Participants: Directors

- Topic: Strategic Planning Session
- Purpose:
 To review and revise Mission statement; To identify goals or focus areas for 2021

 The results here will be sent to City Council

Dates/Times: TBD

Overview:

- Part I: SWOT Discussion
 Review and discuss the city's: strengths, concerns (today and tomorrow) and opportunities
- Part II: Mission Revisit
 - o Review the draft mission statement created in January 2019; Revise and route to City Council
- Part III: Goals or Focus Areas
 - o Develop goals or focus areas for 2021

Participants: City Council

Topic: Strategic Planning Session

Purpose: To finalize and adopt a Mission statement; To identify goals or focus areas for 2021

Dates/Times: TBD

Overview:

- Part I: SWOT Discussion
 - o Review and discuss the city's: strengths, concerns (today and tomorrow) and opportunities
- Part II: Mission Statement
 - o Review the draft mission statement created by Directors; Edit and/or adopt Mission statement
- Part III: Goals or Focus Areas
 - o Develop goals or focus areas for 2021

Delivery Options:

Directors Planning Session:

Option A

- Day 1 4.5 5.5hr SWOT & Mission
- Day 2 1.5 3.5hr Goals/ Focus Areas (extend to 3.5hr if Vision work)*
 - *Note: Optional time on Day 2 to develop a Vision statement if interested / needed
 - Mission statements identify why-we-are-here/ our purpose
 - Vision statements identify where-we-are-going/ our direction

Option B

- Day 1 2hr SWOT
- Day 2 2.5-3hr Mission
- Day 3 1.5 3.5hr Goals/Focus Areas (extend to 3.5hr ifVision work)

City Council Planning Session:

Option A

- Day 1 4.5 5hr SWOT & Mission
- Day 2 2.5 3.5hr Goals/ Focus Areas (extend to 3.5hr if Vision work)

Option B

- Day 1 2hr SWOT
- Day 2 2.5hr Mission
- Day 3 2.5–3.5hr Goals / Focus Areas (extend to 3.5hr if Vision work)

Note: You may select Option 'A' for Directors & Option 'B' for City Council or any other combination

CITY OF UNALASKA UNALASKA, ALASKA

ORDINANCE 2020-15

CREATING BUDGET AMENDMENT #2 TO THE FISCAL YEAR 2021 BUDGET, RECOGNIZING PRIVATE DONATION REVENUE OF \$50,000 IN THE GENERAL FUND AND INCREASING COMMUNITY SUPPORT EXPENDITURES BY \$50,000, AND INCREASING THE WATER FUND OPERATING BUDGET BY \$7,295 AND THE WASTEWATER FUND OPERATING BUDGET BY \$60,826 FOR ROLLING STOCK REPLACEMENTS

BE IT ENACTED BY THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL

Section 1.	Classification:	This is a non-code ordinance.
Section 2.	Effective Date:	This ordinance becomes effective upon adoption.
Section 3.	Content:	The City of Unalaska FY21 Budget is amended as follows:

A. That the following sums of money are hereby accepted and the following sums of money are hereby authorized for expenditure.

B. The following are the changes by account line item:

Amendment No. 2 to Ordinance 2020-10

	Current	Requested	Revised
I. OPERATING BUDGETS			
A. General Fund			
Sources:	¢	¢ 50.000	¢ 50.000
Private Contributions - Rasmuson Foundation	\$ -	\$ 50,000	\$ 50,000
Uses:			
Community Support - KUCB & Museum	\$ 424,163	\$ 50,000	\$ 474,163
P. Drenzistany Funda			
B. Proprietary Funds			
WATER FUND			
Sources:			
Water Fund - Budgeted Use of Unrestricted Net Position	\$1,152,793	\$ 7,295	\$1,160,088
Uses: Water Fund - Machinery & Equipment	\$ 45,000	\$ 7,295	\$ 52,295
Water Fund - Machinery & Equipment	φ 4 <u>5</u> ,000	φ 1,295	φ 32,295
WASTEWATER FUND			
Sources:			
Wastewater Fund - Budgeted Use of Unrestricted Net Position	\$1,090,941	\$ 60,826	\$1,151,767
Uses: Wastewater Fund - Machinery & Equipment	\$ 430,000	\$ 60,826	\$ 490,826
wasiewaler Fund - Machinery & Equipment	φ 430,000	φ 00,820	φ 490,820

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 13, 2020.

Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. Mayor

ATTEST:

Marjie Veeder, CMC City Clerk

City of Unalaska Summary of Budget Amendment and Schedule of Proposed Accounts Ordinance 202015 - Budget Amendment 2 to the FY21 Budget

1) General Fund - Operating Budget

Add \$50,000 to Private Contributions revenue to recognize a municipal arts and culture matching grant from the Rasmuson Foundation Add \$50,000 to Community Support for KUCB and the Museum

2) Water Fund - Operating Budget

Add \$7,295 to Budgeted Use of Unrestricted Net Position and to Machinery and Equipment to cover budget shortfall for new pickup truck with utility box

3) Wastewater Fund - Operating Budget

Add \$60,826 to Budgeted Use of Unrestricted Net Position and to Machinery and Equipment to cover budget shortfall for vactor truck

		Org	Object	Project	_	Current	Requested		Revised
1)	<u>General Fund - Operating Budget</u> Sources: Private Contributions	01010047	47400		\$	_	\$ 50,000.00	\$	50,000.00
				_	Ŷ		\$ 00,000100	Ŷ	00,000100
	Uses:								
	Community Support - KUCB	01029154	58450	_	\$	106,350.00	\$20,000.00	\$	126,350.00
	Community Support - Museum of the Aleutians	01029154	58460	_	\$	317,813.00	\$30,000.00	\$	347,813.00
2)	Water Proprietary Fund Sources: Budgeted Use of Unrestricted Net Position	51015549	49910		\$ 1	,152,793.00	\$ 7,295.00	\$	1,160,088.00
	Uses:								
	Machinery & Equipment	51024353	57400	_	\$	45,000.00	\$ 7,295.00	\$	52,295.00
3)	<u>Wastewater Proprietary Fund</u> Sources: Budgeted Use of Unrestricted Net Position	52016049	49910		\$ 1	,090,941.00	\$60,826.00	\$	1,151,767.00
	Uses:								
	Machinery & Equipment	52024553	57400		\$	430,000.00	\$60,826.00	\$	490,826.00

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL

To: From:	Mayor and City Council Members James Sharpe, Interim Finance Director and Tom Cohenour, Public Works Director
Through: Date: Re:	Erin Reinders, City Manager September 22, 2020 Ordinance 2020-15: Budget Amendment #2 to the FY21 budget, recognizing private donation revenue of \$50,000 in the general fund and increasing community support expenditures by \$50,000; request of \$68,121 for FY21 Rolling Stock Replacements for the Department of Public Utilities Wastewater and Water Divisions

<u>SUMMARY</u>: This ordinance will create a budget amendment to recognize a \$50,000 municipal arts and culture matching grant received from the Rasmuson Foundation and the required disbursement of the grant funds to KUCB and the Museum of the Aleutians.

Additionally, staff requests an additional \$68,121 to cover budgeting shortfalls for the purchase of a Vactor truck for the Wastewater Utility and a new pickup for the Water Division.

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council passed Resolution 2020-37 on May 26, 2020 accepting Alaska CARES Act funds. Council passed Resolution 2020-46 on July 14, 2020 establishing formulas to be used in awarding CARES Act funds to local businesses and non-profit organizations.

Council funded the FY21 Capital and Operating budget via Ordinance 2020-10 adopted June 9, 2020, which included the Rolling Stock Replacement Plan for FY21, a copy of which is attached to this Memorandum.

BACKGROUND: The Municipal Arts & Culture Matching Grant Program was instituted by the Rasmuson Foundation to increase municipal allocation of Alaska CARES Act "Direct Municipal Relief" funds to arts and culture organizations within Alaska communities.

The funds requested via the FY21 CMMP and budgeting process for these two vehicle purchases were based upon historical cost estimates for similar purchases. Solid price quotations from vendors were delayed and difficult to obtain during the CMMP process due to vendor employees working from home. This total request of \$68,121.00 will cover the shortfall on two vehicles broken down as follows:

DPU - Water Division Pickup Truck w/ Utility Box	\$7,295.00
DPU - Wastewater Division Vactor Truck	\$60,826.00
Total Budget Shortfall	\$68,121.00

DISCUSSION: In July of 2020 the City applied for a Municipal Arts & Culture Matching Grant from the Rasmuson Foundation to request a \$50,000 match of Unalaska CARES Act funds that had already been allocated by the City to KUCB and the Museum of the Aleutians. The application was approved and the City received the funds September 1st.

Per the Rasmuson Foundation funding formula the City will be required to pass through \$20,000 to KUCB and \$30,000 to the Museum of the Aleutians.

As the FY21 Rolling Stock purchases began to be made, Staff realized that the estimated amounts budgeted for these two vehicles were insufficient. Both vendors have agreed to hold their costs while these additional funds are requested. No alterations to the types of vehicles and specified accessories have been made.

ALTERNATIVES: Return the grant to the Rasmuson Foundation.

Alternatives to funding this request include delaying the two vehicle purchases and submitting updated CMMP nominations for the FY22 budget cycle; however, waiting another year will likely come with increased costs.

<u>FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS</u>: There is no net financial impact to the City; this is a pass-through of grant funds.

The amounts requested from the unrestricted revenue of the two proprietary funds will be added to the existing appropriations.

LEGAL: N/A

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of this Budget Amendment.

Staff recommends fully funding this Budget Amendment Request. The increased level of staffing in the Water Division, combined with COVID-19 distancing measures necessitate the purchase of the pickup truck. The Vactor truck currently in use by the Wastewater Utility is outdated and internal systems are failing, and this truck is vital to maintaining the waste water collection system.

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to schedule Ordinance 2020-15 for second reading and public hearing on October 13, 2020.

<u>CITY MANAGER COMMENTS</u>: I support staff's recommendation.

ATTACHMENTS:

- Municipal Arts & Culture Matching Grant Program Application
- Municipal Arts & Culture Matching Grant Program Description
- Signed Grant Agreement
- FY21 Rolling Stock Replacement Plan

Municipal Arts & Culture Matching Grant Program Application

The *Municipal Arts & Culture Matching Grant Program* is a partnership between Rasmuson Foundation and municipalities designed to increase municipal allocation of Alaska's CARES Act "Direct Municipal Relief" funds to arts and culture organizations. Rasmuson Foundation will match municipal allocation of municipal relief funds. Assuring grantee eligibility and compliance with federal guidelines released by the US Treasury on April 22, 2020 are the responsibility of the municipality. See Program Description for more information.

HOW TO APPLY: Municipalities apply for Rasmuson Foundation matching funds on this form and email to grants@rasmuson.org. Type "Municipal Arts & Culture" in the Subject line.

Applicant Municipality: City of Unalaska	
Address to send check (or preferred method of payment):	PO Box 610
	Unalaska, AK 99685
Municipal Representative: Bil Homka	Title: Planning Director
phone: 907-581-3100	bhomka@ci.unalaska.ak.us

Certification: I certify that the applicant municipality has made an allocation of municipal direct relief (CARES Act) funds to the beneficiaries listed below, and that I am authorized to submit to Rasmuson Foundation this application for funds to match the allocations, and that upon receipt of Rasmuson Foundation Funds, the total award will be distributed to the named beneficiaries.

Signature:

Ire: FOLT

A	В	C	D	Ε
Name of Beneficiary	Municipal	Rasmuson	Rasmuson	Total
	Allocation	Match 1:1*	Match 1:2*	Match
Museum of the Aleutians	40,000	\$20,000	\$10,000	\$30,000
KUCB - Unalaska Community Broadcasting	71,820	\$20,000	0	\$20,000
List additional beneficiaries on separate				
page and insert total here:				
TOTALS	\$110,820	\$40,000	\$10,000	\$50,000

* Column C: Match 1:1 up to and including \$20,000 of municipal allocation per beneficiary;

Column D: Match 1:2 for allocations in excess of \$20,000 to that beneficiary.

Column E : Total C + D - may not exceed \$50,000. See Program Description.

For use by Rasmuson Foundation:	
Total Matching Funds Approved:	
Program Officer Signature	Date
	Council Packet Page Number 2

Municipal Arts & Culture Matching Grant Program A partnership between Municipal Governments and Rasmuson Foundation

Program Description. The *Municipal Arts and Culture Matching Grant Program* is a partnership between Rasmuson Foundation and Alaska municipalities in cooperation with the Alaska Municipal League. It is designed to fund arts and culture organizations whose local revenue sources are disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Municipal allocations of Direct Municipal Relief (a category of CARES Act funds) to local arts and culture organizations are matched by Rasmuson Foundation.

Program Need. Government mandates in response to the COVID-19 pandemic have caused cancellation of performances, festivals and traditional fundraising activities that local arts and culture organizations depend on for revenue. Additionally, loss of personal income has resulted in less revenue from memberships and donations. Through allocation of Cares Act funds, municipal governments can help sustain arts and culture infrastructure.

Eligibility. The matching grant program is intended to support arts and cultural organizations whose revenue sources have been negatively impacted by the covid-19 pandemic. Municipalities may set their own criteria for allocation of Direct Municipal Relief funds, however, to receive *Municipal Arts & Culture Matching funds*, beneficiaries should be able to demonstrate real and projected revenue decline due to COVID-19 mandates. It is the responsibility of the municipality to ensure compliance with US Treasury guidelines for use of CARES Act funds.

Additionally, beneficiaries must:

- have been a viable nonprofit entity within the municipality on March 1, 2020; and
- have a mission to advance, support, educate or celebrate arts and culture.

Examples of qualifying entities include arts and culture camps, arts councils, dance organizations, theatre and performing arts organizations; symphonies, choral groups and other music entities; language and literary arts organizations; museums and arts-focused festivals and workshops.

Municipal Guidelines. Rasmuson Foundation will match a municipality's allocation of CARES Act funds to arts and culture organizations. The match ratio is 1:1 up to \$20,000 to any entity and 1:2 for allocated municipal funds in excess of \$20,000 to that entity.

Example: Municipality allocates \$40,000 of Direct Municipal Relief funds to the local theatre organization. Rasmuson Foundation will match \$20,000 @ 1:1 and remaining \$20,000 @ 1:2 (\$20,000 + \$10,000 = \$30,000). The theatre organization will receive a \$70,000 *Municipal Arts and Culture Matching Grant* (\$40,000 municipal + \$30,000 Rasmuson Foundation).

Rasmuson Foundation limits the match to \$50,000 per municipality and \$250,000 statewide.

The municipal allocation of CARES Act funds may not replace or supplant historical or budgeted municipal support.

Municipal Arts & Culture Matching Grant Program A partnership between Municipal Governments and Rasmuson Foundation

How to Apply. A municipality may administer the *Municipal Arts and Culture Matching Grant Program* directly or delegate it to a local organization tasked with administering municipal CARES Act funds. After making its allocation determinations, an authorized representative of the municipality applies to Rasmuson Foundation using the designated form. Rasmuson Foundation distributes funds to the municipality. The municipal award and the Rasmuson match may be distributed separately or as one award to arts and culture organizations within their community.

Use of Funds. *Municipal Arts and Culture Matching Grant* funds may be used for any legitimate operating or program expense incurred by the organization from March 1 through December 15, 2020 in accordance with CARES Act funding guidelines. Entities that have received funds through another CARES Act program such as PPP or EIDL are eligible for funding through the Direct Municipal Relief providing the use of funds does not duplicate or supplant those other funds.

Reporting. The municipality may require benefitted entities to report the use or expenditure of *Municipal Arts & Culture Matching* funds in accordance with CARES Act funding guidelines. The municipality shall verify to Rasmuson Foundation distribution program funds to organizations within 30 days of receipt of Rasmuson funds.



301 W. Northern Lights Blvd. Suite 601 Anchorage, AK 99503

907.297.2700 tel 907.297.2770 fax 877.366.2700 toll-free in Alaska info@rasmuson.org email www.rasmuson.org

BOARD of DIRECTORS

Edward B. Rasmuson Chairman

Laura Emerson

Adam Gibbons

Jay Gibbons

Lile R. Gibbons

Rebecca Brice Henderson

Curtis McQueen

Jason Metrokin

Mike Navarre

Kris Norosz

Cathryn Rasmuson

Judy Rasmuson

Marilyn Romano

Natasha von Imhof

PRESIDENT Diane Kaplan August 20, 2020

Ms. Erin Reinders City Manager City of Unalaska P.O. Box 610 Unalaska, AK 99685-0610

Dear Ms. Reinders:

It is my great pleasure to inform you that City of Unalaska has been awarded a \$50,000 grant to match your investment of CARES Act Funding to support local arts and culture organizations.

Please have two officials from your organization acknowledge receipt of this grant, agreement, and the \$50,000 payment with its terms by signing the attached grant agreement and returning it by September 30, 2020. Please refer to the grant number 14908 in all correspondence regarding this award.

If you have any questions, please contact Jeff Baird by email at jbaird@rasmuson.org, or by phone at (907) 334-0511, or toll-free in Alaska (877) 366-2700.

Congratulations on your award.

Best regards,

Diane Kaplan President

Enclosures



FOUNDATION	GRANT AGREEMENT
Grantee:	City of Unalaska
Total Award Amount:	\$50,000.00
Project Title:	Arts and culture CARES Act matching grant program
Date Awarded:	July 28, 2020
Grant Number.	14908
Grant Type:	COVID-19 Relief Fund
Award Detail and Conditions:	\$50,000 outright grant to match your investment of CARES Act Funding to support local arts and culture organizations.
Program Staff:	Jeff Baird

By signing this document, the grantee agrees to accept all conditions of this grant award and to comply with the requirements of the Rasmuson Foundation. Please provide signatures from two officials who are authorized to sign contracts on behalf of the organization, i.e., the Executive Director and Chair of the Board of Directors; the Mayor and City Manager; IRA Council President

and Tribal Administrator; or Chancellor and Dean or Director.

By:	
CITY OF UNALASKA	
Typed or printed Legal Name of Organization	N 1
GSC	91820
Signature	Date
ERIN REINDERS, LITY MANAGER	
Typed or Printed Name and Title	91820
Signature	Date
Uncert 11. Tulakone Mayor	
Typed or Printed Name and Title U^U	

Please sign this Agreement and return it to the Foundation by email to <u>grants@rasmuson.org</u> by the date indicated in the award letter. Retain a copy for your records.

Rasmuson Foundation Grant Award and Conditions

Grant Number

The Grant Number for this award is 14908. Please refer to this number in all correspondence related to this award.

Challenge or Contingencies

If a grant has a challenge component of contingency(ies), these must be met before that portion of the grant is requested for payment. The form titled Certification of Meeting Grant Conditions is to be used to explain how the conditions were met. Contingencies and challenges must be met by the grant end date.

Expenditure of Funds

This grant is made based upon a specific proposal that contains a project budget. It is expected that the entire amount of this grant will be applied to the budget and not used for any other purposes. Should it become advantageous to the grantee to slightly modify the project and/or make any changes to the project budget or timeframe, permission to do so must be requested per this Grant Agreement (see Budget Reallocation or Project Revision). Approval by the Foundation in writing must be received before making any revisions or incurring any expenses. If at the end of the grant period, a reallocation of unspent funds or an extension has not been requested, the balance of the grant funds must be returned to the Foundation.

Grant Duration

As agreed during the grant proposal review process, the project has the following begin and end dates:

Project begin date: July 28, 2020 Project end date: July 31, 2021

Reporting Requirements

For grants greater than \$25,000:

The Foundation expects to be kept fully informed of progress on this project. To this end, each grantee is required to submit progress reports annually, and a final report at the end of the project.

Your **reports are due** on the following schedule:

Report Type	Reporting Period	Due Date
Final Report	07/28/2020 - 07/31/2021	08/31/2021

The Foundation forms titled Tier 2 Grant Progress Report, and Tier 2 Financial Report are to be submitted every year with or without a grant Payment Request until the end of the project. The Foundation form titled Tier 2 Grant Final Report is to be submitted no later than 30 days after the project end. If all Rasmuson funds are expended, but the project is not complete, the organization will continue to send progress reports until the project is complete.

City of Unalaska RF grant number 14908

<u>Extension</u>

Extensions may be granted by the Foundation upon request of the grantee at the sole discretion of the Foundation. An extension assumes that the grant award will be fully expended for the purpose described in the Grant Agreement, but more time is needed to complete the project. To extend the end date of the grant award, send a letter clearly stating the following:

- Describe why the project will not be completed during the grant period.
- Identify the proposed new end-date for the project.
- Outline plans to complete the project and a timeline of activities to be undertaken during the extension period.

Budget Reallocation or Project Revision

Grant awards are made based upon the project budget and description as presented in the application. Grant funds may only be used for the specific purpose as stated in the Grant Agreement. Grant award reallocation or revision may be requested if the revision is within the scope of the award. Requests to substantially revise the scope of an award for activities not originally proposed, or inconsistent with the award's intent, are not permitted. If a reallocation is necessary to complete the project intent, it must be approved before funds are spent. The Foundation will not retroactively "back-fund," so these expenses must not yet have been incurred.

Budget revisions and grant extensions are not granted automatically. They are reviewed for both financial and programmatic propriety.

To request a budget reallocation or project revision, submit a Reallocation Request Form, with an attached narrative detailing how reallocated funds will enhance the project.

Unspent Funds

It is the policy of the Foundation that unspent funds are returned with the final report. A request to use unspent grant funds may be submitted if there is a balance of funds after all components of the project plan have been accomplished. Requests to use unspent grant funds for project expenses not initially proposed, yet consistent with the award intent, may be permitted, but only if approval is received in advance. Budget revisions may not include pre-award expenses or expenses incurred before approval.

To request the use of unspent funds, submit a Reallocation Request Form, with an attached narrative detailing how reallocated funds will enhance the project.

Certification of IRS Status

By signing this document, the grantee certifies that it is a tax-exempt agency under Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code and is classified as not a private foundation under Section 509 (a) (1) or 509 (a) (2) of the Code or, in selected cases, a unit of government, or an officially recognized tribal organization if the project has a broad community impact.

If the organization is required to file form 990 or any version thereof, the grantee certifies that these have been filed for the last three tax years (the most recent tax year may be on an unexpired extension).

Any change in IRS tax-exempt status must be promptly reported to the Foundation.

Change in Key Personnel

Please notify your Program Officer in writing if the officials who sign this document leave office or position and provide the contact information for the replacements.

Any change in key personnel must be reported to the Foundation.

Termination of Award

Failure to fulfill the terms of this agreement may result in termination of the grant. If the grant is terminated, the Foundation may ask for the return of grant funds. Also, the organization may be ineligible to apply for future funding from the Rasmuson Foundation.

<u>Forms</u>

All forms mentioned in this document are available on the Foundation's web site at <u>www.rasmuson.org</u> under "resources/forms/reporting and payment request forms." Please use the most current version of the forms from the website, as they may have changed. If you do not have access to the Internet, please contact us for the forms.

If you have questions, please call or email:

Program Officer:	Jeff Baird
Phone:	(907) 334-0511, or toll-free in Alaska (877) 366-2700
Email:	jbaird@rasmuson.org

City of Unalaska RF grant number 14908

FY21 Rolling Stock Replacement Plan Summary

By Department

Vehicle #	Dept	Primary Driver	Description	Year	Life Cycle	Replace Date	Replace With	Description of New Vehicle	Transfer Old Vehicle To	F	Y21 \$\$\$	Estimate or Quote	Actual	Shortage	10%	Total Request
PW4212	DPW	Roads	4x4, F350 Pickup	2003	15	2018	New	4x4, F150 Crew Cab	Surplus Sale	\$	40,000	Estimate				
PW0688	DPW	Vehicle Maint	4x4, F150 Pickup	2003	15	2018	DNR	DNR	Surplus Sale	\$	-	n/a				
PW7449	DPW	Admin	4x4, F150 Pickup	2000	15	2015	New	4x4, F150 Dbl Cab w/ Canopy	Surplus Sale	\$	45,000	Estimate				
CH7414	City Hall	Floater	4x4, Explorer	2003	15	2018	CH3710	Blue Ranger is CH Floater	Surplus Sale			n/a				
VT2	DPU	Wastewater	Volvo Vactor Truck	1998	20	2018	New	Mack Vactor Truck	DPU - Landfill	\$	380,000	Estimate	\$435,296	\$55,296	\$5,530	\$60,826
SD5275	DPU	Wastewater	4x4, F350, Flat Bed	2004	15	2019	New	4x4, F350 Flatbed	Surplus Sale	\$	50,000	Estimate				
New	DPU	Water	New to Fleet	-	-	-	New	4x4, F250 Ext w/Utility Box	n/a	\$	45,000	Estimate	\$51,632	\$6,632	\$663	\$7,295
E5629	DPU	Elec Line Crew	GMC 1-Ton w/Util Box	2008	15	2023	New	4x4, F350 Gas w/Util Box & Winch	Surplus Sale	\$	65,000	Estimate				
UPD9826	UPD	Chief	4x4, Explorer	2012	7	2019	New	4x4 Interceptor	UPD - ACO	\$	65,000	Estimate				
UPD0232	UPD	ACO	4x4, Explorer	1999	15	2014	UPD9826	4x4 Explorer (UPD Chief)	Surplus Sale			n/a				
Unknown	DPW	Facility Maint	Genie Man Lift	1992	20	2012	New	Genie Man-Lift 30' Reach	Surplus Sale	\$	14,000	Estimate				
New	DPW	Facility Maint	New to Fleet	2019	15	2034	New	Kubota	n/a	\$	12,500	Estimate				
								TOTAL		\$	716,500					\$68,121

By Fund

GENERAL FUND	\$	176,500
ELECTRIC FUND	 \$	65,000
WATER FUND	\$	45,000
WASTEWATER FUND	\$	430,000
SOLID WASTE FUND	\$	
PORTS / HARBOR FUND	\$	

TOTAL

\$ 716,500

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL

To: Mayor and City Council Members
From: Frank Kelty, Fisheries Consultant
Through: Erin Reinders, City Manager
Date: October 9, 2020
Re: City Council Letter of Support to the North Pacific Fishery Management Council (NPFMC) at the December 2020 NPFMC meeting for the Unalaska Native Fishermen's Association (UNFA) for and analysis of a community cod allocation for Unalaska

SUMMARY: This has been an issue that UNFA has been working on for 2-3 years, driven by declining Pacific Cod allocations and the tremendous increase in 58'< fixed gear fleet. These factors have decreased the length of seasons and reduced catch by the local Unalaska fleet, which is heavily dependent on the Pacific Cod fishery. UNFA's memorandum covers their concerns very well.

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: The Unalaska City Council on September 24, 2019 passed Resolution 2019-55 which supported the development of the Bering Sea Aleutian Island Pacific Cod Limited Access Privilege Program (LAPP) for the trawl catcher vessel sector, >60' pot catcher vessels. The resolution also included in the preamble, support for the <60' fixed gear vessels for a community development quota bases on the unused portion of the Pacific Cod Jig allocation.

BACKGROUND: The Unalaska Native Fishermen Association has raised small boat concerns to the NPFMC for many years and has asked for assistance in addressing the impacts to the local small boat fleet based in Unalaska. In Resolution 2019-55 Council supported an allocation based on the unused portion of the jig Pacific Cod allocation.

The request they are asking for at the December 2020 NPFMC meeting is support for and analysis to be included as part of the Limited Access Privilege Program (LAPP) that is moving forward for the Trawl Catcher Vessel sector. This is important due to the fact that the Magnuson-Stevens Conservation and Management Act (MSA) requires that entities such as Fishing Communities, Regional Fishing Associations and Community Fishing Associations have to be attached to a LAPP program and the only one underway in Alaska is the Trawl Catcher Vessel Pacific Cod LAPP request.

<u>DISCUSSION</u>: Council was supportive of UNFA's request in 2019. The situation for the local small boat fleet is getting worse with a continued decline in the Pacific Cod allocation, and a continued over-capitalized fleet. I believe it would be prudent to support an analysis request to the NPFMC.

<u>ALTERNATIVES</u>: The Council could support UNFA's request to the NPFMC, amend it, or choose to take no action.

<u>FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS</u>: I believe supporting UNFA's request by letter or public testimony has no financial implications to the City of Unalaska.

LEGAL: N/A

<u>CONSULTANT RECOMMENDATION</u>: I recommend providing a letter of support and to provide public testimony for an analysis of a community quota allocation for Unalaska to be included in the LAPP request moving forward for the Trawl Catcher Vessel fleet.

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to support UNFA request for a letter of support and public testimony to the NPFMC meeting at the December 2020 meeting.

ATTACHMENTS:

- 1. Unalaska Native Fishermen's Association Memo and Overview of the impacts to the Unalaska small boat request
- 2. UNFA: Securing Unalaska's Small Boat Future
- 3. NPFMC BSAI Pacific Cod Trawl and Pot CV LAPP Scoping Paper, October 11, 2019
- 4. Unalaska City Council Resolution 2019-55
- 5. Unalaska City Council Meeting Minutes, September 24, 2019

Native Fishermen's Association PO Box 591, Unalaska, Ak 99685

September 16, 2020

Unataska City Council PO Box 610 Unalaska, AK 99685

UNFASubmitted via email

.....

Unalas

Dear Mayor Tutiakoff and Unalaska City Council Members,

The Unalaska Native Fishermen's Association (UNFA) is currently working within the North Pacific Fishery Management Council (NPFMC) process to preserve small boat cod fishing opportunity in our community and region. We are asking for the City Council's support in our efforts (outlined in detail in the attached overview).

Specifically, we are asking the NPFMC to include analysis of a community cod allocation as a community protection provision in the developing BSAI Trawl CV management program. The NPFMC will be discussing this at their December meeting. We are writing to ask the Unalaska City Council to support analysis of a community allocation as part of the larger BSAI Trawl CV management program. The City Council has been supportive of UNFA's efforts to date, and we greatly appreciate the continued support. We have provided you with an overview of the issue and proposed path forward. Please feel free to contact me with any questions or comments.

I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely,

Dustan Dickerson Vice President

Securing Unalaska's Small Boat Future



The Issue: Loss of Small Boat Access in Bering Sea Cod Fisheries

The Unalaska Native Fishermen's Association (UNFA) has always worked to create and preserve small boat fishing opportunity for current and future generations of Unalaska's community-based fleet. Our work includes spearheading the creation of the jig sector allocation, and pioneering the creation of the Under 60 sector. In both cases, UNFA worked within the North Pacific Fishery Management Council (NPFMC) process to ensure entry-level and small boat opportunity in Bering Sea Pacific cod fisheries.

In the past decade, Unalaska's small boat fleet has suffered a dramatic loss of fishing opportunity. The benefits of UNFA's previous efforts have shifted away from Bering Sea communities. The changing nature of the Under 60 sector in particular threatens the survival of Unalaska's small boat fleet, and diminishes past NPFMC actions intended to protect community access and participation in Bering Sea Pacific cod fisheries.

The Under 60 Sector Today

When the Under 60 sector was created in the late 1990s, the sector was made up of primarily local, small boats. In 2003, the Under 60 sector was comprised of seven vessels. In 2018, 26 vessels participated in the sector, the highest number of vessels to date.¹ Many of these vessels are not from the region.

In addition to increasing numbers of nonlocal boats, the rise of 'Super 8' vessels within the sector has led to growing disparities and unfair competition within the sector that has detrimental effects on our local vessels and communities. Local boats are being outpaced and outcompeted by Super 8s that are larger and more powerful due to 'non-traditional' efficiency improvements in power, capacity, and vessel width (see Figure 1). Changes in vessel capacity and power are contributing to an increasingly shorter fishing season. In 2008, the Federal BSAI cod season for the Under 60 sector lasted more than 100 days. In 2018, the bulk of the sector allocation was harvested in the first 11 days of the season. For local small boats highly dependent on cod, the season has become too short to make a living. The rise of the Super 8s within the Under 60 sector have come at the expense of Unalaska's small boat fleet, and demonstrates the need to again work within the NPFMC process to ensure opportunity, stability, and protection for Unalaska's small boat fleet.

A Path Forward at NPFMC

UNFA has raised small boat concerns to the NPFMC, and asked for assistance in addressing the inequities and impacts on our small boat fleet. The Council has consistently indicated that the most appropriate time to address these small boat issues is when other management changes to Bering Sea cod fisheries are under consideration.

In 2019, the NPFMC initiated discussion on the potential rationalization of the BSAI Trawl CV Sector.² This action will impact the Under 60 sector, in part because the Under 60 sector is dependent on rollovers from the

¹ See NPFMC 2019. D2 Discussion Paper: Bering Sea/Aleutian Islands Pacific Cod Limited Access Privilege Program Scoping Paper for the Trawl Catcher Vessel Sector and Pot Catcher Vessels ≥ 60 feet. p. 66

² The Council also initiated discussion on the potential rationalization of the Over 60 Pot Catcher Vessels Sector, but that action is not moving forward at this time.

Trawl CV sector. (In the last five years, the Under 60 sector has received between 5,000-7,500 mt. in rollovers from other sectors.)³ The rationalization of the Trawl CV sector may affect rollovers to the Under 60 sector and potentially exacerbate adverse impacts already felt by local vessels in the Under 60 sector. It is within the Council's purview to develop measures it deems necessary to protect other fisheries from the adverse impacts of management changes within the Trawl CV sector. There is a clear and urgent need to enhance and preserve Unalaska's small boat access in Pacific cod fisheries given the changing nature of the Under 60 sector and potential management changes in the Trawl CV sector.

Community Cod Allocation

UNFA has considered a number of options to address the challenges and impacts on our community fleet. We feel strongly that a community allocation is the best tool to preserve local participation in Bering Sea Pacific cod fisheries for the long-term. A community allocation



Figure 1. A local boat sits beside a Super 8. Both vessels belong to the Under 60 vessel class size and compete in a season that has shrunk from 100 days to 11 days in the last decade.

provides the security for our small boats that was intended through the Under 60 sector allocation created 20 years ago. (The 1.4% allocation to the Under 60 sector in 1999 was essentially a community set-aside meant for the people of this region to supplement our season).

For the past several months UNFA has been meeting with Council members and other participants and stakeholders, including Akutan fishermen, to discuss the potential for including a community allocation as a provision in the larger BSAI Trawl CV management program.

Key goals of a community allocation include:

- 1) protect small boat fishing opportunity and fleet diversity in BSAI cod fisheries
- 2) maintain local, community-based entry opportunity
- 3) minimize economic barriers for new participants from Bering Sea fishing communities

The Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (MSA) authorizes the creation of new entities in Limited Access Privilege Programs (LAPPs). These entities - including Fishing Communities (FCs), Regional Fishing Associations (RFAs), and Community Fishing Associations (CFAs) - represent a way to anchor fishing privileges in communities to help maintain their long-term access to federal fisheries. These entities were added to the MSA in 2007 to provide assistance to fishing communities and community-based associations, especially in instances where small-scale and rural fishing communities exist and may be impacted. A community allocation represents a reasonable option for the Council to analyze as a community provision within the BSAI Trawl CV program.

How would it work? The entity that would hold and distribute the community allocation to small boat fishermen would be a Community Fishing Association (CFA). The CFA would be a non-profit entity established

³ NPFMC 2019. D2 Discussion Paper: Bering Sea/Aleutian Islands Pacific Cod Limited Access Privilege Program Scoping Paper for the Trawl Catcher Vessel Sector and Pot Catcher Vessels \geq 60 feet. p. 66.

under MSA provisions described above, and would be required to comply with the provisions of that section. The CFA would determine how to distribute the allocation according to criteria consistent with the CFA's goals and objectives, which will be approved by the Council and set in federal regulation. Annual reporting to the Council would be required.

The intent of a CFA is to ensure that small boat fishing opportunity in rural Bering Sea fishing communities is protected under a new management plan and that community concerns, including sustained community participation, small-scale fishing opportunity, and entry opportunities are addressed in the initial program design. An initial allocation of Pacific cod quota to a CFA would be anchored to the region and would not be available for purchase by individuals or corporations.

Key elements of a CFA that require careful attention and community input include identifying and refining: community eligibility requirements,⁴ options to fund a community allocation, CFA governance and administration (i.e. board composition and functions), quota leasing and distribution processes, including lease rates and eligibility, and reporting requirements. UNFA has developed a draft framework that provides more detail on how a CFA might be function and welcomes input as we move forward.

Next Steps: Securing Unalaska's Small Boat Future

For more than a century, Unalaska's small boat fleet has depended on viable access to Bering Sea Pacific cod fisheries for economic livelihood and cultural survival. As always, UNFA's intent today is to provide stability and opportunity for Unalaska's small boat fleet. Preserving local cod fishing opportunity is preserving our cultural heritage. The rationalization of the BSAI Trawl CV sector is on the agenda for the December NPFMC meeting in Anchorage, and represents an important opportunity to advance our efforts. We appreciate your support in helping to preserve access for our region's future small boat fishermen.

For questions or comments please contact: Dustan Dickerson Vice President Unalaska Native Fishermen's Association Email: <u>codfish1408@yahoo.com</u> Phone: (907) 359-3117

⁴ We envision a CFA serving the needs and interests of Bering Sea communities located within the management area and historically dependent on access to Pacific cod. These criteria would allow small boat fishermen from Unalaska and Akutan to lease quota from the CFA.

				e keve		
Home	Meetings	About	Membership	Fisheries	Current Issues	And a second sec
Bycatch (Controls P	ublications				

BSAI Pacific Cod Trawl and Pot CV LAPP Scoping Paper

You are here: Home » Newsletters » BSAI Pacific Cod Trawl and Pot CV LAPP Scoping Paper

October 11, 2019

At this meeting, the Council adopted a revised purpose and need statement and provided alternatives, elements, and options for a proposed BSAI Pacific cod trawl catcher vessel (CV) cooperative style-limited access privilege program (LAPP), which are summarized below. The Council did not move forward with development of a pot CV \geq 60' LAPP at this time. Instead, the Council encouraged the pot sector participants to work together to provide a more inclusive LAPP for all sector participants.



For the trawl CV LAPP, the Council is currently considering

two different cooperative approaches: 1) two cooperatives, one for AFA vessels and one for non-AFA vessels (Element 1, Option 1), or 2) voluntary harvester cooperatives in association with a licensed processor (Element 1, Option 2).

Based on the Council's motion, any LLP license assigned to a vessel that authorized that vessel's legal landings of targeted trawl catcher vessel BSAI Pacific cod during the qualifying years is eligible to receive harvest shares (Element 2.1).

To determine harvest allocations, the Council included three different year combinations based on targeted BSAI Pacific cod harvest (Element 2.2, Options 1-3) and a fourth option that would blend both catch history and sideboard history for AFA BSAI Pacific cod sideboarded vessels only (Element 2.2, Option 4). The Council

included an option to allocate only A season and B season harvest quota, leaving C season to remain as a limited access fishery to any vessel with an eligible groundfish LLP license and appropriate endorsements (Element 2.5).

With regards to prohibited species catch (PSC), the Council would continue to utilize the current harvest specifications process to determine the amount of halibut and crab PSC that would be apportioned to the trawl catcher vessel cooperatives (Element 3, Option 1). For example, halibut PSC is currently assigned to the trawl limited access sector and is further divided by fishery with 391 mt designated for use in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery for the 2019 fishing year. This halibut PSC limit is shared by the BSAI Pacific cod trawl catcher vessel sector and AFA catcher processor sector. The Council included a suboption to establish a trawl CV Pacific cod halibut PSC apportionment based on historic use between trawl catcher vessel sector and the AFA catcher processor sector (Element 3, Option 1, Suboption). The Council also included an option to reduce halibut and crab PSC apportionment to BSAI trawl catcher vessel Pacific cod sector by 10% to 25% (Element 3, Option 2).

The Council also included options to limit spillover effects from the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP on GOA fisheries. These options include sideboard limits for AFA LLPs and CVs (Element 4, Option 1) and non-AFA LLP licenses (Element 4, Option 3) based on their GOA catch history during the BSAI Pacific cod qualifying period and restricting transfers of BSAI Pacific cod history on their respective LLP license for AFA GOA sideboard exempt trawl catcher vessels as a condition of continuing to benefit from their GOA sideboard exemption (Element 4, Option 2). The Council did include a provision to exempt non-AFA catcher vessels from GOA sideboards if their qualifying BSAI Pacific cod history was less than a yet to be determined threshold amount (Element 4, Option 3, suboption).

Included in the Council's elements and options were provisions addressing processors. These include allowing all processors with an eligible federal processor permit to process BSAI Pacific cod (subject to eligibility requirements under the April 2019 Council action to limit catcher processors acting as motherships) (Element 5.1); a limit on targeted BSAI Pacific cod that can be delivered by trawl CVs (Element 5.2), and allocating harvest shares to onshore and offshore processors for use in a trawl catcher vessel cooperative (Element 5.3). The percent of shares allocated to eligible processors ranges from 5% to 30%.

The Council included provisions to promote sustained participation of Aleutian Islands (AI) processors and communities (Element 6). Option 1 requires the cooperative(s) to reserve a set-aside ranging from 10% to 25% of the BSAI trawl catcher vessel A season harvest amount for delivery to a shoreplant in the AI management region. Option 2 would issue annual harvest quota, the lesser of 5,000 mt or 5.5% of the total BSAI trawl catcher vessel Pacific cod quota, to the plant operator if the community of Adak or Atka files a notice of intent to process.

The Council also included transferability provisions. Specifically, Element 7 notes that catch histories are attached to the LLP license and are non-severable from the LLP license. Transfer of an LLP license eligible for this program results in the transfer of any program eligibility and catch history/harvest shares associated with the LLP (Element 7.1). Allocations based on processing history will be issued as separate permits and use and transfer restrictions on these processor cooperative shares, if selected, will determined at later date (Element 7.2).
With regards to ownership and use caps, the Council included options for a use cap for harvester-issued (Element 8.1) and processor-issued cooperative shares (Element 8.3), vessel use caps (Element 8.2), and processing cap (Element 8.4). Ownership and use cap percentages will be determined after further analysis. The Council included options to grandfather persons over the harvester-issued and processor-issued use caps and the processing cap.

Finally, the Council included elements to address cooperative provisions (Element 9), share duration (Element 10), monitoring (Element 11), reporting and program review (Element 12), cost recovery (Element 13), and gear conversion to fish BSAI Pacific cod trawl catcher vessel quota with pot gear (Element 14).

Staff contact is Jon McCracken.

Tagged With: BSAI Pcod, October 2019

UPCOMING MEETINGS

Wednesda	ay, October 7					
Advisory P	anel Meeting					
Thursday,	October 8					
Advisory P	anel Meeting					
Friday, Oc	tober 9					
» 4:00pm Advisory Panel Meetin						
8:00am	Council - B Reports, S					
Monday, C	October 12					
12:00am	October Council Meeti					
Tuesday, 0	October 13					
October Co	ouncil Meeting					
Wednesda	ay, October 14					
October Co	ouncil Meeting					

View Calendar \rightarrow

RECENT UPDATES

- Current (or next) Council Meeting
- Future Council Meetings
- Halibut/Sablefish IFQ Program

CITY OF UNALASKA UNALASKA, ALASKA

RESOLUTION 2019-55

A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL SUPPORTING THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE BERING SEA ALEUTIAN ISLAND PACIFIC COD LIMITED ACCESS PRIVILEGE PROGRAM (LAPP) FOR THE TRAWL CATCHER VESSEL SECTOR AND ≥ 60' POT CATCHER VESSELS

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska benefits from the rich fishery resources of the Bering Sea and Aleutian Islands; and

WHEREAS, for the past 24 years, Unalaska's Port of Dutch Harbor has been the nation's number one commercial fishing port in terms of quantity of the catch, and second during that time frame in the value of the catch; and

WHEREAS, commercial fishing in the Bering Sea and Aleutian Islands is Unalaska's only industry, and is the economic engine that drives this area; and

WHEREAS, the commercial fishing industry of Unalaska has been negatively impacted by a reduction in the total allowable catch of Pacific Cod, which has been reduced 30% over the past three years, and at the same time, there are more harvesters participating in this unrationalized fishery; and

WHEREAS, the Pacific Cod fishery is the second most important and valuable groundfish species processed in Unalaska, after the Bering Sea Pollock fishery; and

WHEREAS, the continued race for fish in these two Pacific Cod sectors results in compressed fishing seasons, negative economic impacts, decreased ability to maximize the value of the fishery and discourages fishing practices that minimize bycatch; and

WHEREAS, without the development of a cooperative program for these fishing sectors, we will continue to see negative impacts on harvesters, processors, support sector businesses and the communities of our region; and

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska will request that the North Pacific Fishery Management Council consider, during LAPP development, an Unalaska Community Pacific Cod Allocation from the unused portion of the Jig allocation, for the Unalaska based \leq 60' fixed gear vessels; and

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska believes that a community based Pacific Cod allocation will result in continued participation of the local \leq 60' fleet in the Pacific Cod fishery, on which they depend for their continued economic viability.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council supports the development of a Pacific Cod cooperative LAPP that will stop the race for fish, resulting to improved product utilization, reduced bycatch, improved safety, and will be benefit all Pacific Cod harvesters, processors, support sector businesses and the communities of our region.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council supports consideration by the North Pacific Fishery Management Council, during LAPP development, of an Unalaska Community Pacific Cod allocation from the unused portion of the Jig allocation for the Unalaska based ≤ 60 ' fixed gear vessels.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on September 24, 2019.

Frank Ke Mayor	lty		2	
mayor	1. S. W. W. S. S.	15%		
	SF. UN	13m		
and the second	SALON	ANO	1,	
10:0	** 1 1294 11 77 5 559	(T1)7	P	
1	Staff	Ц Ца	2	
1. 0.		2		

ATTEST:

Roxanna F. Winters Acting City Clerk

Bering Sea/ Aleutian Islands Pacific Cod Limited Access Privilege Program Scoping Paper for the Trawl Catcher Vessel Sector and Pot Catcher Vessels ≥ 60 feet

September 2019¹



¹ Prepared by: Jon McCracken (NPFMC), Darrell Brannan (Brannan & Associates), Stephanie Warpinski (NMFS), Sarah Marrinan (NPFMC), Alicia Miller (NMFS), and Joe Krieger (NMFS)

Table of Contents

1	Introduction	
	1.1 Staff Tasking for the BSAI Trawl CV Sector.	3
	1.2 Staff Tasking for the BSAI Pot CV ≥ 60 Feet Sector	
	1.3 Brief Summary of Federal BSAI Pacific Cod Management	
	1.3.1 BSAI Pacific Cod Harvest Specifications and Sector Allocations	
	1.3.2 License Limitation Program (LLP) Management	
2	MSA Elements of a LAPP	
	2.1 Required Elements of a LAPP for BSAI Pacific Cod	
	2.2 Discretionary Provisions of LAPPs for BSAI Pacific Cod	12
3	Examples of Cooperative Programs	14
	3.1 American Fisheries Act	14
	3.2 Amendment 80	15
	3.3 BSAI Crab Rationalization Program	16
	3.4 Central GOA Rockfish Program	16
	3.5 Pacific Cod Freezer Conservation Cooperative (Voluntary Cooperative)	
	3.6 Tabular Summary of Example Cooperative Programs	20
4	BSAI Trawl CV Sector LAPP	23
	4.1 Program Objectives	
	4.2 Cooperative Structure	
	4.2.1 Voluntary Cooperative	24
	4.2.2 Cooperative Structure Defined in Regulation	
	4.3 Allocation Decisions	26
	4.3.1 Harvest and Participation Data	
	4.3.2 Historical Dependence	
	4.3.3 Stacking LLP Licenses	
	4.3.4 Pacific Cod Transfers with AFA Cooperatives 4.4 Seasonal Allocations	32
	4.4 Seasonal Allocations 4.5 Processors and Communities Considerations	
	4.5 1 Port/Region Activity	
	4.5.2 Processor and Community Considerations	
	4.5.3 Al Pacific Cod Shoreside Sustainability	
	4.6 Ownership and Use Caps	
	4.7 Sideboard Limits	44
	4.7.1 AFA Sideboards	44
	4.7.2 Non-AFA CV Sideboards	
	4.7.3 BSAI Yellowfin Sole	
	4.8 Impacts to Captains and Crew	
	4.8.1 Captains and Crew Effects Due to LAPP Implementation	
	4.8.2 Examples of Captain and Crew Provisions in Other Programs	
	4.8.3 Captain and Crew Considerations for the BSAI Pacific Cod Trawl CV Sector	
	4.9 Bycatch/PSC Management.	
	4.9.1 Halibut PSC	
	4.9.2 Crab PSC	
	4.9.3 PSC Apportionment Issues	
	4.10Management and Enforcement.	
	4.10.1 Cost Recovery	
	4.10.2 Observer Coverage	
	4.10.3 Cooperative Reporting Requirements	
	4.10.4 Enforcement	
	4.10.5 Economic Data Reports	
5	LAPP for BSAI Pot CV ≥ 60 ft Sector	
5	5.1 Background.	
	5.2 Fishery Participation	
	5.3 Sideboard Limits	
6	Impacts of Proposed LAPPs on other Sectors	
7	Conclusions and Next Steps	
8	Bibliography	

1 Introduction

The North Pacific Fishery Management Council (Council) has tasked staff with several papers related to Pacific cod management in the Bering Sea and Aleutian Islands (BSAI).² This paper is intended to address two of those information requests. The two proposed actions (as more thoroughly described in the next two sections) consider the development of separate Limited Access Privilege Programs (LAPPs) for the trawl catcher vessel (CV) sector and the pot CV sector for vessels greater than or equal to 60 feet in length in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery. While these management programs may develop separately if the Council continues to consider action for both sectors, the proposals for both sectors are included in this paper because much of the general information on LAPPs and cooperative formation would apply to both sectors. Participation information is provided for each fishery in separate chapters.

This scoping paper, in conjunction with stakeholder input, is intended to provide information that would allow the Council to develop alternatives and options to address its purpose and need statement. The scoping document begins with an explanation of the Council's request related to each sector and a brief description of Federal BSAI Pacific cod management. The key sections that follow include a discussion of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (MSA) Section 303A LAPP elements that must be included/considered in a LAPP that can be approved by the Council and Secretary of Commerce (SOC), a summary of elements and characteristics of other cooperative programs in the North Pacific for reference, and questions and context related to the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV and pot CV sectors specifically, that will be necessary in considering the elements of a LAPP.

1.1 Staff Tasking for the BSAI Trawl CV Sector

The Council tasked staff at its February 2019 meeting with developing a scoping paper that considers methods to rationalize the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV fishery.³ The Council requested a scoping document instead of a discussion paper because it felt a scoping document indicates that the issue is further along than the discussion paper stage. The Council also stated that a scoping paper signals that the Council has a greater intent to move forward on the issue. At the same time the Council approved development of the scoping document, it encouraged stake holders to begin a parallel process of working to develop approaches to rationalize the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV fishery that address their concerns.

Specifically, the Council requested that staff address the following issues so they could be incorporated into a comprehensive BSAI cod trawl CV management program:

- allocation of BSAI Pacific cod quota share to BSAI LLP licenses;
- establishing trawl CV cooperative(s) for Pacific cod;
- recognition of historical American Fisheries Act (AFA) cooperative-based cod harvest arrangements since the implementation of pollock cooperatives under the AFA;
- recognition of historical harvest of AFA cod exempt boats;
- recognition of historical harvest of non-AFA boats;
- protections for harvesters, processors, and communities;
- use caps, transfer requirements, and other administrative requirements that apply to quota programs;

³ <u>https://meetings.npfmc.org/CommentReview/DownloadFile?p=68547653-a558-4b6e-8318-</u> 70444670bca5.pdf&fileName=C4%20MOTION%20BSAI%20Pcod%20Trawl%20CV%20Scoping%20Document.p <u>df</u>

² See a Staff Tasking Action Memo from the June 2019 Council meeting for a list of these current BSAI Pacific cod actions.

- establishing sideboard limits to protect limited access Gulf of Alaska (GOA) and BSAI fisheries;
- consideration of management changes on CV crew; and
- implications for bycatch management, including halibut savings to benefit the health of halibut resource.

Council's Purpose and Need Statement

Over the last several years, total allowable catch for Pacific cod in the Bering Sea-Aleutian Island has steadily decreased. At the same time, the number of LLP licenses used by trawl CVs to participate in the BSAI non-CDQ trawl Pacific cod fishery has increased. The pace of the fishery has contributed to an increasingly compressed season, resulting in decreased ability to maximize the value of the fishery and negatively impacting all fishery participants (CVs, motherships, shoreside processors, and communities). This race for fish also discourages fishing practices that can minimize bycatch. The potential for continued re-entry of additional entrants could exacerbate these unfavorable conditions and threaten the sustained viability of the fishery. The Council is considering the development of management tools to improve the prosecution of the fishery, including the development of a cooperative-based program, with the intent of promoting safety and increasing the value of the fishery.

The Council also established a control date of February 7th, 2019 that may be used as reference for any future management action to address trawl catcher vessel participation in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery.

1.2 Staff Tasking for the BSAI Pot CV ≥ 60 Feet Sector

During its February 2019 meeting the Council also requested a discussion paper specific to the BSAI Pacific cod Pot CV sector using vessels greater than or equal to 60 feet.⁴ That request was more general and requested that staff initiate a discussion paper to consider some form of rationalization or cooperative management structure for the BSAI Pacific cod pot CV sector greater than or equal to 60 feet in length overall. Data presented for this fishery is provided in Section 5 of this paper. The information included provides context for how this proposed action could change the management of the Pacific cod trawl CV and pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sectors, and any downstream effects this may have on other sectors.

1.3 Brief Summary of Federal BSAI Pacific Cod Management

The following section includes a brief description of the management of the Pacific cod fishery in the BSAI, including an overview of the process of establishing catch limits and sector allocations, seasonal apportionments for non-CDQ sectors, and the Federal licensing requirements for participation.

1.3.1 BSAI Pacific Cod Harvest Specifications and Sector Allocations

The process for establishing Pacific cod catch limits and sector allocations is illustrated in Figure 1-1. Each year, the Council's BSAI groundfish plan team and Scientific and Statistical Committee (SSC) establish an overfishing level (OFL) and acceptable biological catch (ABC) for Pacific cod for the Bering Sea (BS) subarea of the BSAI, and a separate OFL and ABC for the Aleutian Islands (AI) subarea of the BSAI. Before the AI and BS Pacific cod total allowable catches (TACs) are established at a lower level, the Council and NMFS consider social and economic factors, and management uncertainty, as well as two factors that are particularly relevant to BSAI Pacific cod: 1) Pacific cod guideline harvest level (GHL)

⁴ <u>https://meetings.npfmc.org/CommentReview/DownloadFile?p=e5ee738f-fed5-4352-b43b-</u> 072a511fff8d.pdf&fileName=E%20COUNCIL%20MOTION%20on%20Pot%20CV%20Cod.pdf

fisheries that occur in the State waters of the BSAI, and 2) an overall 2 million mt limit on the maximum amount of TAC that can be specified for all BSAI groundfish.

Pacific cod TACs are specified at reduced levels that take into account the GHL fisheries⁵ so that the combined harvest limits from GHL fisheries and the TACs do not exceed the ABCs specified for the BS or AI. The State manages three GHL fisheries for Pacific cod⁶, two that occur within State waters in the BS and one that occurs within State waters in the AI. Under current State regulations in the BS, the Dutch Harbor Subarea (DHS) GHL fishery for pot gear in the BS is set at 8 percent of the BS ABC with an annual 1 percent increase in that GHL allocation if 90 percent of the GHL allocation is harvested, until it reaches 15 percent of the BS ABC. A second BS GHL fishery began in 2019 allocating approximately 45 mt (10,000 lbs.) to the jig sector in the DHS. In the AI, the GHL fishery was set at 27 percent of the 2018 ABC specified for AI Pacific cod, with annual "step-up" provisions that would increase the amount of the GHL fishery if it was harvested up to at least 90 percent in the previous year. The 2019 AI GHL was increased to 31 percent of the AI Pacific cod ABC. If the GHL fishery continues to be nearly fully harvested it can continue to increase annually by 4 percent up to a maximum of 39 percent of the AI ABC or to a maximum of 6,804 mt (15 million lbs.), whichever is less. Allowable gear in the AI GHL fisheries include trawl, longline, pot, and jig gear.

Once the individual AI and BS TACs are established, regulations at § 679.20(a)(7)(i) allocate 10.7 percent of the BS and AI Pacific cod TAC to the CDQ Program. The remaining portion of TAC, after deducting the 10.7 percent allocation for CDQ Program, is the initial total allowable catch (ITAC).

After subtraction of the CDQ allocation from each TAC, NMFS combines the remaining BS and AI ITACs into one BSAI non-CDQ TAC, which is available for harvest by nine non-CDQ fishery sectors. Regulations implemented under BSAI Amendment 85 at § 679.20(a)(7)(ii)(A) define the nine Pacific cod non-CDQ fishery sectors in the BSAI and specify the percentage allocated to each. The non-CDQ fishery sectors are defined by a combination of gear type (e.g., trawl, hook-and-line), operation type (i.e., catcher vessel or catcher/processor), and vessel size categories (e.g., vessels \geq to 60 ft in length overall). Through the annual harvest specifications process, NMFS allocates an amount of the combined BSAI non-CDQ TAC to each of these nine non-CDQ fishery sectors. The nine non-CDQ fishery sectors and the percentage of the combined BSAI non-CDQ TAC allocated to each sector are shown in Figure 1-1 below.

⁵ http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/FedAidPDFs/FMR18-18.pdf

⁶ http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=commercialbyareaaleutianislands.groundfish



Figure 1-1 BSAI Pacific cod specifications and sector allocations

Notes: SSC= Scientific and Statistical Committee, AI= Aleutian Islands, BS= Bering Sea, Pcod= Pacific cod, OFL= overfishing limit, ABC= acceptable biological catch, GHL= guideline harvest limit, DHS = Dutch Harbor Subarea, TAC= total allowable catch, ITAC= initial total allowable catch, CDQ= community development quota, HAL= hook-and-line, CV= catcher vessel, C/P= catcher processor, AFA= American Fisheries Act, Amend 80= Amendment 80

NMFS manages each of the non-CDQ fishery sectors to ensure harvest of Pacific cod does not exceed the overall annual allocation made to each of the non-CDQ fishery sectors. NMFS monitors harvests that occur while vessels are directed fishing for Pacific cod (specifically targeting and retaining Pacific cod above specific threshold levels) and harvests that occur while vessels are directed fishing in other fisheries and incidentally catching Pacific cod (e.g., the incidental catch of Pacific cod in the pollock directed fishery). NMFS allocates exclusive harvest privileges to the non-AFA trawl catcher/processor sector, or the Amendment 80 sector, that is prohibited from being exceeded. For the other eight non-CDQ fishery sectors, NMFS carefully tracks both directed and incidental catch of Pacific cod. NMFS takes appropriate management measures, such as closing directed fishing for a non-CDQ fishery sector, to ensure that total directed fishing and incidental fishing harvests do not exceed that sector's allocation.

An allocation to a non-CDQ fishery sector may be harvested in either the BS or the AI, subject to the non-CDQ Pacific cod TAC specified for the BS or the AI. If the non-CDQ Pacific cod TAC is or will be reached in either the BS or AI, NMFS will prohibit directed fishing for Pacific cod in that subarea for all non-CDQ fishery sectors. The other area will remain open to directed fishing for all sectors as long as Pacific cod TAC is available in that area and the sector has Pacific cod available from their BSAI allocation.

Allocations of Pacific cod to the CDQ Program and to the non-CDQ fishery sectors are further apportioned by seasons. Figure 1-2 demonstrates how those seasons vary by non-CDQ sector. Seasonal apportionments for the trawl CV sector and pot CV vessels ≥ 60 ft LOA are further discussed in Section 4.4 and Section 5.1, respectively.

The allocation of Pacific cod among the CDQ Program and the nine non-CDQ fishery sectors, as well as the seasonal apportionment of those allocations, create a large number of separate sector seasonal allocations. To help ensure the efficient allocation management, NMFS may rollover any unused portion of a seasonal apportionment from any non-CDQ fishery sector (except the jig sector) to that sector's next season during the current fishing year.





BSAI non-CDQ Pcod Season Establishment by Gear Type

Note: HAL= hook-and-line, CV= catcher vessel, C/P= catcher processor, AFA= American Fisheries Act

1.3.2 License Limitation Program (LLP) Management

As of January 1, 2000, a Federal LLP license has been required for vessels engaged in directed fishing for LLP groundfish species in the BSAI or Gulf of Alaska (GOA) in Federal fisheries.⁷ LLP licenses come with a combination of endorsements that specifies the type of participation the LLP license is authorized. In order to harvest Pacific cod in a BS or AI Federal fishery (including CDQ and non-CDQ) a vessel must hold a valid groundfish LLP license which includes the appropriate maximum length overall (MLOA) for the vessel using the license and the appropriate endorsements. More specifically, the LLP license specifies:

- An endorsement(s) for the sub-area(s) that vessel is authorized to fish (e.g., BS or AI or both)
- An endorsement for mode of operation (i.e. catcher vessel or catcher/processor). Vessels with a CV license may harvest, but not process fish onboard. Vessels with a C/P endorsed license

⁷ There are a few exceptions for the BSAI including vessels that do not exceed 32 ft LOA, vessels that are at least 32 ft LOA but that do not exceed 46 ft LOA that are registered with their CDQ group to harvest CDQ groundfish, vessels that do not exceed 60 ft LOA and are using jig gear (but no more than 5 jig machines, one line per machine, and 15 hooks per line), and certain vessels constructed for and used exclusively in the CDQ fisheries.

may harvest and process fish onboard. A vessel with a C/P LLP license may deliver unprocessed catch as well.

- An endorsement for trawl, non-trawl, or both types of fishing.
- If the vessel's LLP license has a trawl endorsement, that vessel is also automatically authorized for directed fishing for Pacific cod.
- If the LLP license is non-trawl, the license will also specify whether the vessel has a Pacific cod endorsement (authorizing directed fishing for Pacific cod) and with which gear (hook-and-line or pot gear).
- The LLP groundfish licenses also identify whether the LLP license is associated with the Amendment 80, AFA, and GOA Rockfish Program.
- LLP groundfish licenses also specify whether use of the license is sideboarded in other fisheries (this is discussed more extensively in Section 4.7)

These different types of endorsements create 14 different combinations of LLP licenses that authorize Pacific cod fishing in the BS or AI (Table 1-1). Among those 14 combinations of licenses, some include multiple endorsements. For example, one LLP license is endorsed for both AI trawl CV fishing (which includes the ability for directed fishing for Pacific cod), as well as being authorized as a HAL CV in the AI fishing for Pacific cod. Table 1-1 demonstrates the number of LLP licenses for each category as well as this overlap for license that hold multiple endorsements. This table shows that in 2018, there were a total of 114 LLP licenses with CV trawl endorsements for the BS. Of the 43 LLP licenses with CV trawl endorsement for the AI, 42 of them were also authorized to fish in the BS; demonstrating significant overlap. In addition to overlap in the AI, there is also significant overlap in the LLP licenses with CV trawl endorsement for the BS and those that are AFA derived (98 of the 114 licenses). An Amendment 80 flag is attached to some of the C/P endorsements, such as the AI and BS trawl C/P fisheries. Most of the LLP licenses that are endorsed for CV pot fishing for Pacific cod do not have other endorsements.

Sector	Sum of AI_C/P_PCOD_HAL2	Sum of BS_C/P_PCOD_HAL2	Sum of Al_C/P_PCOD_POT2	Sum of BS_C/P_PCOD_POT2	Sum of AI_CV_PCOD_HAL2	Sum of BS_CV_PCOD_HAL2	Sum of AI_CV_PCOD_POT2	Sum of BS_CV_PCOD_POT2	Sum of Al_TRAWL_C/P2	Sum of BS_TRAWL_C/P2	Sum of Al_TRAWL_CV2	Sum of BS_TRAWL_CV2	Sum of A802	Sum of AFA
AI_C/P_PCOD_HAL	34													
BS_C/P_PCOD_HAL	34	36												
AI_C/P_PCOD_POT	3	3	5											
BS_C/P_PCOD_POT	3	3	5	8										
AI_CV_PCOD_HAL	0	0	1	1	8									
BS_CV_PCOD_HAL	0	0	1	1	7	8								
AI_CV_PCOD_POT	0	0	0	0	0	0	3							
BS_CV_PCOD_POT	0	0	0	0	0	1	2	49						
AI_TRAWL_C/P	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	50					
BS_TRAWL_C/P	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	49	58				
AI_TRAWL_CV	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	43			
BS_TRAWL_CV	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	42	114		
A80	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	19	26	0	0	26	
AFA	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	27	42	98	0	128

Table 1-1	Number of LLP licenses issued in the BSAI by endorsement, 2018

Source: BSAI Pacific cod allocation review {LLPs (4-29-1)}

2 MSA Elements of a LAPP

When the Council considers development of a LAPP to harvest fish there are both required and discretionary program elements. Section 303A of the MSA defines the required program elements and also provides guidance on discretionary elements of a LAPP.

Any LAPP to harvest fish is considered a permit for the purposes of sections 307 (Prohibited Acts), 308 (Civil Penalties and Permit Sanctions), and 309 (Criminal Offenses). The LAPP permit may be revoked, limited, or modified at any time as allowed by the MSA. Those permits do not confer any right of compensation to the holder of a LAPP privilege. They do not create any right, title, or interest to any fish before the fish is harvested by the holder. A LAPP permit is considered a grant of permission to the holder of the LAPP to engage in activities permitted by the LAPP.

A LAPP permit may only be issued to a United States citizen, a permanent resident alien, or a corporation, partnership, or other entity established under the laws of the United States or any State as long as it meets the eligibility and participation requirements established in the program. Entities other than those described above are prohibited from acquiring a privilege to harvest fish through transfer. They are also prohibited from acquiring LAPP permits by realizing a security interest.

2.1 Required Elements of a LAPP for BSAI Pacific Cod

Section 303A(c) of the MSA defines the required elements of a Council developed LAPP. A summary of that section is provided in this section when it applies to the BSAI Pacific cod fishery to assist the Council in development of the trawl CV and pot $CV \ge 60$ ft LAPPs. Some items are excluded when they do not apply. For example, if a fishery is overfished or subject to a rebuilding plan, the LAPP must be structured to assist in the rebuilding plan. Because the BSAI Pacific cod fishery is not overfished or subject to a rebuilding plan, that required provision is not discussed in this section as a required element the Council must consider. The required elements that the Council must address are provided below.

- 1. If the Council or Secretary determine the fishery has over-capacity, the LAPP must contribute to reducing capacity in the fishery. Under the cooperative programs considered this would be achieved by allowing the cooperatives to determine how to rationally and efficiently harvest the BSAI Pacific cod available to its members.
- 2. A LAPP must promote fishing safety, fishery conservation and management, and social and economic benefits.
- 3. A LAPP must require that all fish harvested under the program be processed on vessels of the United States or on United States soil (including any territory of the United States). However, the Secretary may waive this requirement if he/she determines that the fishery has historically processed the fish outside of the United States; and the United States has a seafood safety equivalency agreement with the country where processing will occur. While the waiver is included in the MSA, it does not apply for the BSAI Pacific cod fishery.
- 4. The goals of the program must be specified. These are typically defined in the Council's Purpose and Need Statement that is developed for the program.
- 5. The program must include provisions for the regular monitoring and review by the Council and the Secretary of the operations of the program:
 - a. including determining progress in meeting the Program's goals,
 - b. meeting the goals of the MSA, and

- c. any necessary modification of the program to meet those goals, with a formal and detailed review 5 years after the implementation of the program and after the 5-year review the Council must review the Program no less frequently than once every 7 years.
- 6. The LAPP must include an effective system for enforcement, monitoring, and management of the program, including the use of observers or electronic monitoring systems.
- 7. The program must include an appeals process for administrative review of the Secretary's decisions regarding initial allocation of limited access privileges. When the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) Restricted Access Management (RAM) issues an initial administrative determination (IAD) on behalf of the Regional Administrator to determine the initial allocation, the potential LAPP permit holder would be able to file an appeal. To fulfill that requirement, NMFS adopted a rule (79 FR 7056, February 6, 2014) at 15 CFR part 906, which designates the National Appeals Office (NAO), a division within NMFS Office of Management and Budget, as adjudicator for appeals in future LAPPs established under section 303A of the MSA. NAO adjudicates IADs, agency actions that directly and adversely affect an appellant. Although not exclusively, NAO proceedings are for appeals of denials of permits or other limited access privileges.
- 8. The program must provide for the establishment by the Secretary, in consultation with appropriate Federal agencies, an information collection and review process to provide any additional information needed to determine whether any illegal acts of anti-competition, anti-trust, price collusion, or price fixing have occurred among regional fishery associations or persons receiving limited access privileges under the program.
- 9. Provide for the revocation by the Secretary of limited access privileges held by any person found to have violated the antitrust laws of the United States.
- 10. The Council must establish a policy and criteria for the transferability of LAPP privileges (through sale or lease), that is consistent with the policies adopted by the Council for the fishery and establish, in coordination with the Secretary, a process for monitoring of transfers (including sales and leases) of limited access privileges.
- 11. Implementation of a LAPP does not modify, impair, or supersede the operation of any of the antitrust laws. The term 'antitrust laws' as defined in subsection (a) of the first section of the Clayton Act, except that such term includes section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act to the extent that such section 5 applies to unfair methods of competition.
- 12. LAPPs must include the means to identify and assess the management, data collection and analysis, and enforcement programs costs that are directly related to and in support of the program. Up to 3 percent of the exvessel value of the quota share (QS) species allocated under the LAPP must be paid to NMFS by LAPP privilege holders to cover the costs of management, data collection and analysis, and enforcement activities.
- 13. A LAPP permit is a permit issued for a period of not more than 10 years that:
 - a. will be renewed before the end of that period, unless it has been revoked, limited, or modified;
 - b. will be revoked, limited, or modified if the holder is found by the Secretary, after notice and an opportunity for a hearing under section 554 of title 5, United States Code, to have failed to comply with any term of the plan identified in the plan as cause for revocation,

limitation, or modification of a permit, which may include conservation requirements established under the plan;

- c. may be revoked, limited, or modified if the holder is found by the Secretary, after notice and an opportunity for a hearing under section 554 of title 5, United States Code, to have committed an act prohibited by section 307 of the MSA; and
- d. may be acquired, or reacquired, by participants in the program under a mechanism established by the Council if it has been revoked, limited, or modified.

Allocation

Section 303A(c)(5) defines the allocation criteria under a LAPP. The Council is required to establish procedures to ensure fair and equitable initial allocations. In making those determinations the Council must consider:

- 1. current and historical harvests;
- 2. employment in the harvesting and processing sectors;
- 3. investments in, and dependence upon, the fishery; and
- 4. the current and historical participation of fishing communities;

The Council must also consider the basic cultural and social framework of the fishery. As part of that consideration it should focus on the development of policies to promote the sustained participation of small owner-operated fishing vessels and fishing communities that depend on the fisheries, including regional or port-specific landing or delivery requirements.

The Council may also include measures to assist entry-level and small vessel owner-operators, captains, crew, and fishing communities through set-asides of harvesting allocations, including providing privileges, which may include set-asides or allocations of harvesting privileges, or economic assistance in the purchase of limited access privileges

Excessive Consolidation

The Council must also consider excessive consolidation in the harvesting and processing sectors to ensure that LAPP permit holders do not acquire an excessive share in the program by:

- 1. establishing a maximum share, expressed as a percentage of the total limited access privileges, that a limited access privilege holder is permitted to hold, acquire, or use; and
- 2. establishing any other limitations or measures necessary to prevent an inequitable concentration of limited access privileges.

2.2 Discretionary Provisions of LAPPs for BSAI Pacific Cod

The Council may also consider LAPP provisions for fishing communities. Any fishing privileges that may be granted under a BSAI Pacific cod LAPP that are specific to Fishing Communities will require that the fishing community be eligible to participate in a LAPP to harvest fish under the Council's program by

a. being located within the management area of the Council;

- b. meeting criteria developed by the Council, approved by the Secretary, and published in the Federal Register;
- c. consisting of residents who conduct commercial or recreational fishing, processing, or fishery-dependent support businesses within the Council's management area; and
- d. developing and submitting a community sustainability plan to the Council and the Secretary that demonstrates how the plan will address the social and economic development needs of coastal communities, including those that have not historically had the resources to participate in the fishery, for approval based on criteria developed by the Council that have been approved by the Secretary and published in the Federal Register.

When developing participation criteria for eligible communities the Council must consider traditional fishing or processing practices in, and dependence on, the fishery, including:

- a. the cultural and social framework relevant to the fishery;
- b. economic barriers to access to fishery;
- c. the existence and severity of projected economic and social impacts associated with implementation of the LAPP on harvesters, captains, crew, processors, and other businesses substantially dependent upon the fishery in the region or sub-region;
- d. the expected effectiveness, operational transparency, and equitability of the community sustainability plan; and
- e. the potential for improving economic conditions in remote coastal communities lacking resources to participate in harvesting or processing activities in the fishery.

Failure to comply with the Program will result in the Secretary denying or revoking LAPP privileges for any person who fails to comply with the requirements of the community sustainability plan. Any limited access privileges denied or revoked under this section may be reallocated to other eligible members of the fishing community.

The Council could also allow for the implementation of Regional Fishery Associations (RFAs). These entities are defined at Section 303A(c)(4). RFAs are allowed to acquire and hold LAPP QS and permits but must not be eligible for an initial allocation of those harvest privileges. Additional information on RFAs is not provided at this time. If the Council wishes to pursue RFAs as part of a LAPP program, additional information would be provided in the future.

The Council may authorize LAPP permits to harvest fish to be held, acquired, used by, or issued under the system to persons who substantially participate in the fishery, including in a specific sector of such fishery, as specified by the Council. In other words, the Council could choose to designate QS for use by specific sectors. For example, AFA and non-AFA, Amendment 80 and non-Amendment 80, mothership and inshore AI and BS, etc.

The Council may also initiate a Limited Access Privilege Assisted Purchase Program as part of the LAPP. The program allows reserves up to 25 percent of any fees collected from a fishery under section 304(d)(2) to be used as an aid in financing the purchase of LAPP privileges in that fishery by fishermen who fish from small vessels and first-time purchase of LAPP privileges in that fishery by entry level fishermen. The Council would be required to recommend criteria that a fisherman must meet to qualify for funding under this provision.

When establishing a LAPP, the Council must consider, but is not required to implement, an auction system or other program to collect royalties for the initial, or any subsequent, distribution of allocations in a LAPP. If that type of program was implemented, revenues generated must be deposited in the Limited Access System Administration Fund.

A summary paper on the design and use of LAPPs was also developed by NMFS (Anderson & Holliday, 2007). The reader is referred to that paper for additional information on issues like shifts in market power, the theory of market-based management techniques, non-history-based allocation methods, etc.

3 Examples of Cooperative Programs

There are various types of LAPPs in use throughout the United States and the World. In part because of the increase in use of fishing cooperatives as a management tool, there is an ever-increasing number of academic papers devoted to fishing cooperatives. Deacon (2019) provides a somewhat detailed bibliography of recent and past works. A brief description of the cooperative programs in the North Pacific are presented in the following sections with a summary table (Table 3-2) following. Understanding the context for the development of these programs as well as the resulting design can help the Council in its consideration of new LAPPs for the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV and the sector of pot $CVs \ge 60$ ft.

3.1 American Fisheries Act

The AFA was developed by Congress and signed into law October 1998. The purpose of the AFA was to tighten U.S. ownership standards for U.S. fishing vessels 100 ft and greater and to address inshore versus offshore allocation disputes that were creating a race for fish within and between sectors. The AFA set allocations and provided for the formation of cooperatives.

The AFA specifies the allocation of the BS pollock TAC for three AFA sectors, after first deducting 10 percent of the BS pollock for the CDQ Program, and a variable amount as an incidental catch allowance for BS pollock taken in other fisheries. The BS pollock directed fishing allowance (DFA) is divided among the inshore sector (50 percent), C/P sector (40 percent), and mothership sector (10 percent). Catch history within each sector was assigned to harvesting vessels using years defined by Congress.

For the offshore sector, the AFA specifies eligible vessels by name. This includes 20 C/Ps that are eligible to participate in the C/P sector. Additionally, the Act lists seven CVs eligible to participate as harvesters in the C/P sector based on their historical participation in the C/P sector. A minimum of 8.5 percent of the C/P sector allocation is available for harvest only by these seven CVs. The AFA further specifies three motherships that are eligible to process the mothership allocation under the AFA and lists 19 CVs which are eligible to fish and deliver that sector's allocation.

For the inshore sector, the AFA does not list the eligible shoreside processors, stationary floating processors, and CVs by name; rather, it stipulates the landing/processing history necessary for eligibility. CVs qualified to harvest a portion of the inshore directed fishing allowance are required to deliver to a qualified inshore processor. Eight inshore processors met the AFA eligibility criteria to participate in the inshore sector, of which six are shoreside processors—UniSea Seafoods, Westward Seafoods, and Alyeska Seafoods in Unalaska/Dutch Harbor; Trident Seafoods in Akutan, Trident Seafoods in Sand Point, and Peter Pan Seafoods in King Cove. The Council is allowed to add qualified processors only if the BSAI TAC increases to at least 110 percent of the 1997 levels. Congress structured the AFA so that these processors could each be linked to a cooperative that CVs would join. The CVs in the cooperative are required to abide by the delivery requirements defined in the cooperative agreement, of which the processor is a member.

Section 210(e) of the AFA sets out excessive harvesting and processing limits for participants to prevent the excessive consolidation of participants and privileges in the AFA Program. This section also established that any entity in which 10 percent or more of the interest is owned or controlled by another individual or entity shall be considered to be the same entity as the other individual or entity. This is referred to as the "AFA 10 percent rule." The AFA also specified that no particular individual, corporation, or other entity may harvest, through a fishery cooperative or otherwise, a total of more than 17.5 percent of the BS pollock DFA. Excessive share processing caps were established by Council and NMFS at 30 percent of the sum of the Bering Sea pollock DFA. Every year, NMFS publishes this limit in the annual harvest specifications in terms of mt.

The AFA provides generic direction to the Council to develop "measures it deems necessary" to protect other fisheries from adverse impacts of the Act, including the formation of fishery cooperatives. The Council used this direction to establish sideboards to protect harvesters and processors of Bering Sea non-pollock groundfish and crab, as well as non-pollock groundfish and pollock harvested or processed in the GOA.

3.2 Amendment 80

In June of 2006, the Council adopted a LAPP facilitating the formation of harvesting cooperatives and allocating several BSAI non-pollock groundfish species to the non-AFA trawl C/P sector. This program, known as Amendment 80, was implemented in 2008.

Discarding had long been a management concern for this fleet. In the multi-species flatfish fisheries, the lower valued fish (less valuable species, smaller fish, and fish without roe) were discarded, and only the more valuable fish retained. The race for fish exacerbated economic discarding by providing incentives to discard the less valuable fish that used up processing time and limited freezer space. To address these discards, the Council required full retention of Pacific cod, and later, a groundfish retention standard that would mandate an 85 percent minimum retention rate.

To provide the fleet the tools to comply with the groundfish retention standards, the Council developed the Amendment 80. The Amendment 80 program allocates a portion of the TACs for Atka mackerel, Pacific ocean perch, and 3 flatfish species (yellowfin sole, rock sole, and flathead sole), along with an allocation of PSC quota for halibut and crab, to the Amendment 80 sector. In addition, the Amendment 80 fleet is specifically allocated 13.4 percent of the BSAI Pacific cod TAC, after CDQ apportionment. All of the allocations are managed as a hard cap. These allocations are issued annually as quota share to owners of Amendment 80 vessels (or LLP license holders if the vessel is 'lost'), based on the vessel's catch history from 1998-2004. To qualify, vessels must have been a non-AFA trawl C/P and have a valid LLP license with a BSAI C/P endorsement and have processed more than 150 mt of groundfish (other than pollock) during the period 1997 through 2002. A total of 28 vessels qualified. Because the program was for C/Ps there was no need to address linkages between harvester and processors for allocated species.

Amendment 80 quota can be fished within a cooperative (comprised of at least 3 separate entities with at least 30 percent of the Amendment 80 vessels) as aggregated cooperative quota. Amendment 80 quota holders who do not form a cooperative arrangement with others are placed in the limited access fishery (BSAI trawl limited access sector) and continue to compete with each other for catch and PSC.

The program establishes GOA groundfish sideboard limits for pollock, Pacific cod, Pacific ocean perch, northern rockfish, and pelagic shelf rockfish, as well as GOA halibut PSC. GOA sideboard restrictions are based on historic participation during 1998-2004. In addition, participation in the GOA flatfish fishery is prohibited for vessels with less than 10 weeks of history in the GOA flatfish fisheries. One vessel is exempt from the GOA halibut PSC sideboard limits, having fished 80 percent of its weeks in the GOA flatfish fisheries from 2000 through 2003.

3.3 BSAI Crab Rationalization Program

A voluntary three-pie cooperative program for crab fisheries of the BSAI was implemented in 2005 and 2006. The BSAI Crab Rationalization Program was designed to address conservation and management issues associated with the derby fishery which had negative impacts on bycatch, discard mortality, and safety. The program issued crab harvesting quota to LLP license holders and captains and crab processing quota shares to shoreside processors demonstrating historical participation. Of the harvest shares, 90 percent are issued as Class A shares that require delivery to a processor holding processor quota, and the other 10 percent as Class B shares that can be delivered to any processor. Three percent of the harvest share pool is allocated to vessel captains and who do not have regional delivery requirements or sharematching requirements. Harvesters may choose to form a cooperative to increase the efficiency associated with harvesting their shares. In addition to economic incentives the program includes regulatory incentives to encourage cooperative participation (e.g. vessel use caps do not apply if the quota share is harvested within a cooperative). Nearly all the crab quota share has been harvested within the cooperatives.

The Crab Rationalization Program also built in measures to protect communities, including a 10 percent direct allocation of the TAC of each stock to the CDQ Program and the ability for CDQ groups to invest in and use non-CDQ Crab Rationalization Program harvester and processor quota. The program also includes regional landing requirements and processing quota transferability restrictions (i.e. a "cooling-off" period and right of first refusal on the sale of processor quota) to encourage processing in communities with history.

Other aspects of the program included defining how quota may be transferred, use caps, required elements of the crab harvesting cooperatives, protections for GOA groundfish fisheries through sideboard limits on some crab participants, an arbitration system to facility price formation between harvesters and processors, monitoring requirements, economic data collection, a the establishment of a mandatory cost recovery fee to offset additional management and enforcement costs created by the program, and establishment of a loan program for crab fishing vessel captains and crew members.

It is important to note that the Crab Rationalization Program was developed and implemented under Congressional authority provided at Section 313(j) of the MSA. Language in that section of the MSA is specific to the BSAI crab fisheries and would not apply to the BSAI Pacific cod fishery. Therefore, the Council does not have the authority to develop a program that mirrors the Crab Rationalization Program without Congressional action. For example, the Council may not recommend issuing processing quotas for Pacific cod without being granted additional authority. For the Crab Rationalization Program, the MSA required that the Secretary approve all parts of the Council's program.

3.4 Central GOA Rockfish Program

In 2003, the U.S. Congress directed the Secretary of Commerce, in consultation with the Council, to establish a pilot program for management of the Pacific ocean perch, northern rockfish, and pelagic shelf rockfish fisheries in the Central GOA.⁸ In response to this directive the Council adopted a share-based management program, under which the TAC is apportioned as exclusive shares to cooperatives and an entry level limited access fishery. The Central GOA rockfish LAPP was first implemented as the Rockfish Pilot Program (from 2007 through 2011) and then as the Rockfish Program for the next 10 years (2011 through 2021).

⁸ Pelagic shelf rockfish included dusky rockfish, dark rockfish, yellowtail rockfish, and window rockfish. Yellowtail, dark, and widow rockfish make up a very small proportion of the biomass and starting in 2012 a separate TAC was set for dusky rockfish and that species was allocated as a primary species in the Rockfish Program.

The Rockfish Program has some similar characteristics to the proposed LAPP for the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector. For example, catch share history in the Rockfish Program is linked to the LLP license and can be transferred with the sale of the license, as is proposed under the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV action. Due to this parallel, the description of the program elements goes into more depth than for other LAPPs. Impacts of the program including results of the provisions specifically implemented to achieve programmatic objectives are further evaluated in the Central GOA Rockfish Program Review (NPFMC, 2017).

The Rockfish Program provides separate primary and secondary species allocations to the CV and C/P sectors. Both sectors were allocated each of the primary species. Secondary species were allocated to sectors based, primarily on their historic dependence on the fishery (Table 3-1).

Primary Species	Secondary Species
Dusky Rockfish	Pacific cod (CV)
Northern Rockfish	Rougheye Rockfish (C/P)
Pacific Ocean Perch	Sablefish (CV and C/P)
	Shortraker Rockfish (C/P)
	Thornyhead Rockfish (CV and C/P)

 Table 3-1
 Central GOA primary and secondary species allocated to the CV and C/P sectors

For the Rockfish Pilot Program, eligibility to receive quota of primary and secondary species was based on targeted legal qualifying landings made during the years 1996 through 2002. A person's primary species allocation was based on best 5 of 7 years of landings during the eligibility period in the Central GOA. The Rockfish Program quota qualification was based on targeted legal landings during the years 2000 through 2006 or fishing in the entry level fishery during 2007, 2008, or 2009. The allocation of QS was based on the best 5 of 7 years from 2000 through 2006, or the number of years fished during the qualifying period for entry level fishery participants that did not qualify for QS based on history from 2000 through 2006.

In order to encourage cooperative formation, the Rockfish Program relaxed cooperative formation requirements that were established under the Pilot Program. The minimum number of LLP licenses with affixed rockfish QS required to form a cooperative was eliminated. However, CQ could only be transferred to a cooperative with a minimum of two LLP licenses. There was no requirement that the LLP licenses are held by different persons. These changes were implemented to encourage cooperative formation by providing greater flexibility to transfer CQ to meet operational demands.

The Rockfish Program includes an entry level fishery to continue to allow access for vessels that were not issued harvesting privileges. During the Pilot Program this included a trawl component as well as a longline (hook-and-line, troll, hand line or jig gear) component. When the Pilot Program transitioned to the Rockfish Program, the trawl entry level fishery was eliminated. Participants using this gear type in the Pilot Program's entry level trawl fishery were issued harvesting privileges and transferred into catch share management whereby 2.5 percent of the allocation was issued to the licenses that participated in the entry level trawl fishery in 2007, 2008, 2009. The entry level longline fishery continues to exist under the Rockfish Program; however, the amount of primary species available to this sub-sector was reduced in the

transition from the Pilot Program, because this amount had not been fully utilized. The program built in a stair-step increase for this sub-sector's allocation if ≥ 90 percent of the allocation is harvested.

Under both the Pilot Program and Rockfish Program, halibut PSC limits are assigned to cooperatives based on the proportion of primary species QS attached to the LLP license. Halibut PSC limits for the Rockfish Program were reduced from historical usage levels to balance the need to provide adequate halibut PSC for use by rockfish cooperatives while recognizing LAPPs could reduce halibut PSC use. From 2000 through 2006 (prior to the Pilot Program being implemented), average halibut PSC mortality averaged 84.7 mt in the C/P sector, and 134.1 mt in the CV sector. The Rockfish Program created a 74.1 mt halibut PSC limit for the C/P sector and a 117.3 mt halibut PSC limit for the CV sector. Those amounts represent a 12.5 percent reduction from the amount of halibut mortality associated with each sector during the 2000 through 2006 qualifying period. The remaining 27.4 mt (16.8 mt from the CV sector use have been allocated is not available for use by any trawl or fixed gear fishery and remains "in the water" to contribute to the halibut biomass.

A Kodiak delivery requirement was included in the Rockfish Program to address concerns raised by processors that the Rockfish Program would provide harvesters an undue competitive advantage and that they could use that potential advantage to deliver outside of the traditional port of Kodiak. As a result, the Rockfish Program includes a requirement that all primary and secondary Rockfish Program species cooperative quota harvested by the CV sector must be delivered to a shorebased processor within the City of Kodiak. In addition to protecting traditional processors, the requirement is intended to protect the fishing community of Kodiak. While the Pilot Program also included a requirement that LLP license holders with quota fishing in the CV sector may only form a cooperative with other CVs and the processor to whom they historically delivered their catch from 1996 through 2000, this requirement was eliminated because the Council determined their program goals could be achieved without that provision.

The Rockfish Program includes other important features. Cooperatives must file a cooperative membership agreement with NMFS, containing a fishing plan, legal contractual obligations of members, and a monitoring program, and must annually report to the Council. Full retention of rockfish primary and secondary species is required to eliminate waste. Use caps for individual vessels (4 percent for CVs, 40 percent for C/Ps) and cooperatives (30 percent for catcher vessel, 60 percent for C/Ps) prevent excessive consolidation of the fleet. Shoreside processors are also subject to use caps (30 percent), unless grandfathered at a higher level based on processing history.

The Rockfish Program includes a series of CV and C/P sideboard restrictions to limit spillover impacts on other fisheries in the GOA. Sideboard limits were established for certain West Yakutat District and the Western GOA fisheries under the Pilot and Rockfish Programs. Rockfish Program sideboards apply to federally permitted vessels fishing in federal waters and waters adjacent to the Central GOA when the harvest of rockfish primary species by that vessel is deducted from the federal TAC. Sideboards limit both the LLP license with rockfish QS assigned to it, and the vessel used to make legal landings of rockfish QS.

Rockfish Program sideboards are in effect from July 1 through July 31. Sideboard measures are in effect only during the month of July when the rockfish fisheries were traditionally open and vessel operators had to choose between fishing in the Central GOA rockfish fisheries and other fisheries that were open to directed fishing.

CVs had small West Yakutat District sideboard limits for Pacific ocean perch and pelagic shelf rockfish under the Pilot program. The sideboard limit was modified to a ban on fishing those species in the West Yakutat District during July. The Central GOA Rockfish Program also prohibited CVs from directed fishing in any target fishery in the deep-water complex in the month of July (except for Central GOA Rockfish). This limitation prohibits CV from directed fishing in the Arrowtooth flounder, deep water

flatfish, and rex sole fisheries from July 1 through July 31. These restrictions were implemented to limit the ability of CVs in these fisheries because they had not historically harvested these species in July. As a result of this sideboard Central GOA Rockfish Program CVs are limited to fishing species in the shallow-water complex during the month of July.

C/P sideboard limits were designed to minimize potential adverse competition on non-Rockfish Program participants and potential conflicts among rockfish C/P cooperatives in the Western GOA and West Yakutat District rockfish fisheries, as well as GOA flatfish harvesters. Sideboard limits were not set for other rockfish species because those species were not traditionally harvested in July, so additional management measures were determined not to be needed. Because the Amendment 80 sideboard limits are set for all GOA species harvested by those vessels, the need for additional sideboard limits beyond the primary rockfish species and halibut PSC was mitigated. Therefore, sideboard limits are imposed for only dusky rockfish, Pacific ocean perch, and northern rockfish.

The Rockfish Program also established a sideboard limit on the amount of halibut PSC that could be used in July. The halibut PSC sideboard limits are based on historical halibut PSC usage during July. Halibut PSC sideboards were established for shallow-water species and the deep-water species complex. The percentage assigned as a sideboard limit was based on the annual average halibut PSC used by vessels with LLP licenses subject to the sideboard limit during July from 2000 through 2006 relative to the total available.

3.5 Pacific Cod Freezer Conservation Cooperative (Voluntary Cooperative)

Each year 48.7 percent of the BSAI non-CDQ Pacific cod TAC is allocated to the hook and line C/P sector (e.g. freezer longline sector) through the annual harvest specifications process. This sector chose to form a non-regulatory voluntary cooperative in order to harvest this allocation. The Freezer Longline Conservation Cooperative (FLCC) is established through private contractual arrangements that divide the hook and line C/P sector's Pacific cod and halibut PSC allocations among the member LLP license holders. Cooperative members each receive a share of the quota for harvest; shares are issued in proportion to historical fishing activity with the LLP license. Cooperative members are free to transfer their quota shares among themselves, and to stack shares on individual vessels.

NMFS implemented monitoring and enforcement provisions as a result of several pieces of legislation passed by Congress and subsequent changes to fishery management regulations, including 1) the 2005 Consolidated Appropriations Act (Pub. L. 108–447), which created a defined class of participants in the BSAI longline C/P subsector; 2) the final rule implementing Amendment 85 to the BSAI FMP (74 FR 56728, November 3, 2009), which allocated a specific quantity of Pacific cod resources in the BSAI to the defined class of longline C/P subsector participants; and 3) the Longline Catcher Processor Subsector Single Fishery Cooperative Act of 2010 (Pub. L. 111–335), which allows BSAI longline CP subsector participants to receive exclusive catch privileges. In combination, these changes created the opportunity for participants in the BSAI longline C/P subsector to form a voluntary fishing cooperative, the FLCC, whose members have a *de facto* catch share program because they effectively control fishing for the longline C/P subsector's allocation of Pacific cod in the BSAI.

Because this cooperative was established through private contractual arrangements and not through Federal regulations guided by the Council, this program is not subject to the MSA LAPP requirements. For instance, this cooperative structure does not include excessive share limits (use caps, vessel caps, or cooperative caps), it does not include community provisions, or requirements for cost recovery. Harvesting and management decisions are generally not public information but determined internally by the cooperative members. Depending on the cooperative structure the Council wishes to consider for the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV fishery, there may be some similarities between the voluntary FLCC and the AFA portion of the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector. Given the pre-established coordination between the AFA CV harvesters, there may be non-regulatory options for cooperative structure for this sub-sector. This is discussed further in Section 4.2.

3.6 Tabular Summary of Example Cooperative Programs

The cooperative programs described in Sections 3 are further summarized in Table 3-2. This table allows for a comparison of the program objectives and elements within the management structure of each program. While all LAPPs must comply with MSA LAPP requirements and additional laws, depending on the characteristics of the historical fishery and participation, as well as the problems that the LAPP structure was seeking to address, the Council has often had a different vision for the LAPPs it has recommended to the Secretary of Commerce. Table 3-2 and some of the program summaries were adapted from Fina (2011).

	Freezer Longline Conservation Cooperative	BSAI crab rationalization	AFA BSAI pollock	Amendment 80 Bering Sea non-pollock groundfish trawl fishery	Central GOA Rockfish Program
Type of allocation	Sector allocation of Pacific cod with Pacific cod LLP license endorsement (Amendment 77 in Dec 2004)	Individual fishing quotas with cooperative option	Cooperatives with limited access option	Cooperatives with limited access option	Cooperatives with entry level fishery
Year implemented	2006 limited participation; by the 2010 B season full participation.	2005-2006 season	1999 and 2000	2008	2007 pilot program & 2012 Rockfish Program
Catalyst for program	Derby fishery Short seasons Overcapitalization Safety	Derby fishery Short seasons Overcapitalization Safety	Allocation dispute between inshore and offshore sectors	Bycatch reduction and individual bycatch accountability	Derby fishery Short seasons Loss of product quality Conflicts with other fisheries (salmon)
Fishing location	BSAI	BSAI	BSAI	BSAI	Central GOA
Program development	Not a Council developed program. Sector developed a voluntary cooperative program	Council program under specific Congressional authority	Congressionally developed program with some Council developed components	Council developed program under MSA authority	Pilot: Congressional mandated program developed by the Council. RP developed by the Council under MSA.
Harvester initial allocation	Determined by members	97% to limited entry LLP license holders; 3% to captains (based on catch histories)	Vessel owners (based on catch histories)	Vessel owners (based on catch histories)	LLP holders (based on catch histories of the LLP license)
Processor component	N/A	Processor QS and price arbitration	Severable processor/ cooperative associations	N/A	Pilot: Non-severable processor/cooperati ve association based on landings history; RP Kodiak landing requirement.
Gear type	Longline	Pot	Trawl	Trawl	Trawl
Number of area/species allocations	N/A	9 allocations	2 allocations	10 allocations plus; 5 bycatch allocations	8 allocations plus; 1 bycatch allocation
Number of vessels in season prior to program implementation	38	167 BS <i>C. opilio;</i> 251 Bristol Bay red king crab; 20 Al golden king crab.	113 CVs 38 C/Ps	22	25 CVs 6 C/Ps
Number of vessels in most recent season	28	63 BS C. opilio; 55 Bristol Bay red king crab; 3 AI golden king crab.	81 CVs 15 CPs	20	26 CVs 4 C/Ps

 Table 3-2
 Summary of cooperative programs in the North Pacific

Summary of cooperative programs in the North Pacific continued

	Freezer Longline Conservation Cooperative	BSAI crab rationalization	AFA BSAI pollock	Amendment 80 Bering Sea non- pollock groundfish trawl fishery	Central GOA Rockfish Program		
Observers	100% and At-Sea scales or 200%	100% C/P 20% - 50% CVs (varies by fishery)	200% C/P 100% CVs	200%	200% C/Ps 100% CVs		
Cap on individual share holdings/ use	N/A	1% - 10% (varies by fishery)	17.5%	30% of aggregate quota	4% CVs 40% C/Ps		
Vessel use caps	N/A	None in cooperative; 2% - 20% of outside cooperative (varies by fishery)	17.5%	20% of aggregate quota	60% for C/Ps 8% for CVs		
Cooperative use cap	N/A	None	None	None	30% for CVs		
Processing cap	N/A	30% of processor shares by fishery	30%	N/A	30%		
Share classes	N/A	Operation type (CV/C/P) and owner share/crew share	Operation type (CV shoreside/C/P/ CV mothership)	None	Operation type (CV/C/P)		
Owner-on-board/ active participation requirements	N/A	Active participation requirement for crew shares	None	None	None		
Eligibility to acquire shares	N/A	Sea time requirement for all shares; active participation requirements for crew shares	None	None	None		
Community provisions	N/A	2-year port-specific landing requirement; regional landing requirements; community right of first refusal on processor quota	None	None	Kodiak delivery requirement for CVs		
Elements to improve entry opportunities	N/A	Crew share QS requires active participation for acquisition and retention; loan program	None	None	Set-aside Entry Level Longline		
Subject to Cost Recovery	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes		

4 BSAI Trawl CV Sector LAPP

This section highlights context and issues relevant to the Council's consideration of a BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector LAPP. Each sub-section first includes a bulleted list of outstanding decision points or topics of consideration, that the Council will need to consider in designing a LAPP for this fishery. Some of these decision points may translate into alternatives or options in the development of a LAPP; some may highlight areas that would benefit from additional public input. The sub-sections also include relevant context for understanding these decision points within the scope of a potential BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector LAPP, including statistics on recent participation.

The sections included address the bulleted elements and direction from the Council's February 2019 motion, as well as highlighting requirements and discretionary elements of a LAPP stated in MSA and summarized in Section 2.

4.1 Program Objectives

Topics of Council consideration:

 \rightarrow Any clarification/ expanded description of the issues with the status quo fisheries?

\rightarrow Any specific goals for this LAPP that could be used to measure the program's success?

MSA specifies the types of conditions where the creation of a LAPP may be warranted and dictates that the goals of the program must be specified (Section 2). Based on experience with past LAPPs, the more specific the Council can be in articulating its vision for the fishery through stated objectives, the more effective a review of a program can be in its MSA-required 5 and 7-year review cycle. Specific objectives allow for a better understanding of whether the proper information is being collected to evaluate those objectives and makes the review process less subjective. Moreover, clearly defined objectives allow future Councils to understand any unintended consequence that may arise from the management shift and if proposed amendments fit within the original stated objectives.

For instance, Table 3-2 summarizes the catalysts in the development of existing cooperative programs; not all of these LAPPs were developed for the same reasons. For example, despite the short seasons and derby-like conditions, overcapitalization was not a prominent factor in the creation of the Central GOA Rockfish Program in the way that it was for the BSAI Crab Rationalization Program. Although coordination among harvesters has increased in the Central GOA Rockfish Program, minimal consolidation occurred after the LAPP was developed (NPFMC, 2017).

The Council's purpose and need statement (Section 1.1) and previous public testimony has highlighted some of the conditions in the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector that have led to the present consideration of a change in management, including:

- a decline in Pacific cod TAC,
- an increase in the number of LLP licenses used by this sector and the risk of additional entrants,
- length of the fishery has compressed in recent years,
- inability to maximize the value of the fishery,
- high bycatch, and
- safety.

The Council and the public may consider whether this list comprehensively details the issues present in the current fishery. In addition to the issues discussed in the purpose and need, the Council may consider whether to include a more specific list of programmatic objectives.

4.2 Cooperative Structure

Topics of Council consideration:

- \rightarrow If a cooperative structure is used, would the cooperative formation be voluntary or prescribed in regulations?
- → Would the Council allow for/ encourage the formation of an AFA and non-AFA cooperative?
- → Would there be any restrictions on the number of cooperatives that may form (min or max)?
- → Would there be any restrictions on the percent of share history that may be required to form a cooperative?
- \rightarrow Would cooperative membership be mandatory in order to participate in this fishery?
- \rightarrow Would there be any mechanism for the transfer of quota between cooperatives?

The Council's February 2019 motion suggests that under the proposed program, Pacific cod catch history could be assigned to an LLP license based on the qualification criteria selected and that allocation could be harvested under a cooperative structure. The regulatory definition for "cooperative" is somewhat different for each program specified in Section 3; however, in essence, a cooperative is a group of quota holders who have chosen to pool their allocated or acquired harvesting privileges allowing them to cooperative. Typically, once a cooperative is formed, the harvesting privileges are issued directly to the cooperative based on member allocations. Cooperative arrangements are based on private contracts negotiated to sub-allocate harvesting privileges within the group and rely on civil litigations to uphold the terms of the contracts (National Research Council, 1999). Thus, under a cooperative structure, Pacific cod trawl CV catch history would be pooled within the cooperative, from a NMFS perspective, allowing its members to make internal decision about how that allocation is harvested by agreement among the members of the cooperative.

Cooperatives may form outside of regulatory action or within a structure defined in regulations. For instance, as described in Section 3.5, the FLCC did not form based on a specific Council action. This group is not technically considered a LAPP and therefore does not follow the same structure or requirements of LAPPs. Conversely, all other example cooperative programs from Section 3 were formed after Council action. Provided below is an expanded description of the voluntary cooperative approach and the Council defined cooperative approach.

In addition to the structural cooperative considerations in this section, Section 4.5 includes considerations of potential harvesting cooperative and processor linkages.

4.2.1 Voluntary Cooperative

As introduced in Section 3.5, the best example of a voluntary cooperative in the North Pacific is the FLCC. Each year 48.7 percent of the BSAI Pacific cod is allocated to the freezer longline C/P sector through the annual harvest specifications process. Since 2006, most of the holders of HAL C/P LLP licenses endorsed for BSAI Pacific cod have been members of the FLCC. Through private negotiations

and a federally funded buyback loan in 2007, midway through 2010 (B-season), the FLCC had 100 percent participation and began fishing as a voluntary cooperative under management contracts facilitated by the group. FLCC members each receive a share of the sector's allocation for harvest; shares are issued in proportion to historical fishing activity associated with each LLP. FLCC members are free to exchange their shares among themselves, and to stack shares on individual vessels. Compliance with the agreement is monitored by SeaState, Inc., and there are heavy financial penalties for non-compliance. Dissolution of the cooperative requires the agreement of an 85 percent supermajority of LLP license holders.

This example may be relevant to the AFA component of the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector in particular because AFA vessels within the trawl CV sector are already members of AFA cooperatives. This pre-established structure may help facilitate the formation of a voluntary cooperative for that component of the sector's Pacific cod allocation⁹. The voluntary cooperative structure could be designed around the AFA cooperatives or could be implemented as a single cooperative (or an inter-cooperative agreement) as developed for the pollock fishery. This structure would require that the trawl CV sector allocation be divided between AFA and non-AFA vessels/LLP licenses. That division of catch history would allow the AFA participants to assign their portion of the history to a voluntary cooperative.

Given their diversity in operations, owners and operators of non-AFA vessels/LLP licenses may have more difficulty in forming a voluntary cooperative. The non-AFA sector is comprised of a diverse group of vessel owners and LLP license holders that includes Amendment 80 firms, AFA firms, Central GOA Rockfish Program participants, and firms that are not members of any cooperative (see Section 4.7.2).

4.2.2 Cooperative Structure Defined in Regulation

Most of the cooperative programs that exist in the North Pacific had some level of Council guidance in their development and include some regulatory requirements. For instance, regulations may require an annual application detailing membership in order for NMFS to issue harvesting shares directly to the cooperative and ensure compliance with any cooperative use caps or min/ max requirements on membership. The Council can consider whether there will be regulatory restrictions on the number of cooperatives that may form (i.e. a minimum or maximum) or the percent of shareholders that must join in order to be eligible, or the Council may choose not to include participation requirements. The Council may also consider whether cooperative membership would be mandatory or if it would allow option *not* to join a cooperative.

4.2.2.1 Number of Cooperatives

The Council could recommend rules that would define the number of cooperatives that could be formed. One option would be to have a single cooperative that would be open to all LLP license holders that have Pacific cod catch history assigned to their LLP license based on the qualification criteria selected. This method may make transferability simpler, as the fleet would not have to deal inter-cooperative transfers. However, it could also be challenging for the whole sector's fleet to agree on terms under one cooperative, and if cooperative membership is required, it may create a situation where some members would have more bargaining power because of when they joined. Other options would be to allow more than one cooperative to form (either a determined number or with no limit). For example, there could be an AFA and non-AFA cooperative. The Council could also allow more than one non-AFA cooperative. Based on concerns expressed during the recent Pacific cod mothership action, the Council could also structure the cooperatives around CVs that deliver their catch to inshore processing plants or motherships (discussed more in Section 4.5).

⁹ AFA CVs can operator in an open access pollock fishery when changing cooperatives.

4.2.2.2 Percent of QS Holders that Must Join

Setting the percentage of eligible members that must agree to form a cooperative is an important issue in terms of agreement and bargaining power. The AFA requires that owners of 80 percent of eligible CVs must agree to join a cooperative before it can form. The 80 percent rule was implemented to help ensure that bargaining power within the cooperative was not given to too few members. Requiring too many potential members to join could increase the bargaining power of the last persons to join to meet the minimum required percentage. After the minimum is met, the bargaining power of additional entrants could be reduced and they could be forced to accept the terms agreed to by the other members, which may or may not place them at a disadvantage.

Not requiring all potential members to join a cooperative could mean that some individuals may elect to remain in an open access portion of the fishery. However, there would likely be substantial incentives for them to join a cooperative if the alternative is to compete with all vessels that can fish in the open access. This would include both persons who had Pacific cod catch history assigned to their LLP license but opted not to join cooperative and also those who hold a BSAI trawl license that did not have Pacific cod catch history (or had a very small amount) assigned to their LLP license. The competition for a potentially small amount of quota would create an incentive for all LLP license holders with catch history to join a cooperative.

4.3 Allocation Decisions

Topics of Council consideration:

- \rightarrow What criteria will be used to determine initial allocation?
 - Which years will be used to establish history?
 - Would participation include just targeted catch or targeted and incidental catch?
 - How to assign catch history to LLP licenses when more than one LLP license was assigned to the CV at the time the fish were harvested?
 - How to assign catch history in the event of internal AFA cooperative leasing?

This section provides context for a discussion of harvesting privilege allocations and highlights historical participation and other important nuances of participation for the Council to consider. Section 303A(c)(5) of MSA states the Council is required to establish procedures to ensure fair and equitable initial allocations, while specifically considering 1) current and historical harvests; 2) employment in the harvesting and processing sectors; 3) investments in, and dependence upon, the fishery; and 4) the current and historical participation of fishing communities..

4.3.1 Harvest and Participation Data

The Council's February 2019 motion did not indicate which dates an allocation decision may be based around, except for establishing a control date of February 7th, 2019. Thus, analysts have chosen to provide participation from the longest reliable time period; 2003 through 2018. The years back to 2003 were included because consistent data only reaches back to 2003, when the current Catch Accounting System (CAS) was implemented. Information through 2018 is included as the last year of complete fishing data¹⁰. The information provided does not signal the Council's intent to rely on these specific years for allocation decisions, which can be further honed with Council direction. In addition, only BSAI

¹⁰ Data through February 7, 2019 could be included based on the Council's control date but was not provided in this document.

Pacific cod catch that is deducted from the trawl CV sector allocation is included in the tables. That means that Pacific cod catches attributed to State of Alaska fisheries, CDQ fisheries, and other federal fisheries sectors are excluded. Also, all landed catch (including catch from the parallel fishery¹¹) is included. This means at-sea discards are excluded. However, as noted in Table 4-1, since the implementation of the improved retention/improved utilization (IR/IU) program in 1998, discards of Pacific cod in the BSAI have been very low for AFA trawl CVs, non-AFA trawl CVs, and pot CVs and will not substantially impact the potential allocations of history to LLP licenses.

Table 4-1	Annual percent of BSAI Pacific cod discarded for AFA trawl CVs, non-AFA trawl CVs, and pot
	CVs

CV group	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
AFA trawl CVs	0.6%	0.7%	0.3%	0.8%	1.3%	0.1%	0.6%	0.6%	0.2%	0.1%	0.2%	0.4%	0.0%	0.3%	0.4%	0.3%
Non-AFA CVs	1.1%	0.3%	0.3%	0.8%	1.1%	0.0%	1.7%	0.2%	0.3%	1.0%	0.6%	0.4%	1.0%	0.3%	4.5%	1.1%
Pot CVs	0.9%	0.3%	0.4%	0.5%	0.4%	1.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.0%	0.1%	0.1%	0.3%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.3%
Source: AKEIN su	ummary of	CAS dat	a (BSAI	PCOD	R D(7	-9-201	9))									

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data (BSAI PCOD R D(7-9-2019))

Catches with no LLP license associated with the harvest (the LLP license field was blank) are also excluded from subsequent participation tables. In most cases these were landings by vessels in the AI and some were made by vessels that had used an AI transferable endorsement. This raises the issue of how to treat catch that does not have an associated LLP license or is associated with an LLP license that does not have a trawl endorsement for the AI but is using a transferable AI endorsement. In the latter case, the Council will need to determine if the catch history for Pacific cod should be attached to the transferable AI endorsement. Assigning the catch to the LLP license could result in it being assigned a license that does not have a trawl endorsement for either AI or BS if the endorsement is transferred. In total, between 2003 and 2018, there were 39 vessels associated with landings where the LLP license field was blank (Table 4-2). Over 93 percent of the catch with no LLP license was reported in the AI. If only the 2010 through 2018 period is considered, 15 vessels were associated with catch where there was no LLP license number reported. Over 75 percent of that catch was from the AI.

Weight/Vessels	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2012	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total
						A	I							
Weight (mt)	6,073	2,060	506	1,561	712	550	738	828	225		*		1,190	14,682
Vessels	15	7	4	10	12	10	9	5	3		2		6	30
						BS	5							
Weight (mt)	140	*	*						*	*	*	*		1,037
Vessels	6	2	1						1	1	1	1		11
	Total													
Total Weight (mt)	6,213	*	*	1,561	712	550	738	828	*	*	409	*	1,190	15,718
Total Vessels	19	9	5	10	12	10	9	5	4	1	3	1	6	39

Table 4-2	Targeted Pacific cod catch reported with the LLP license field blank
-----------	--

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data (BSAI_TRW_LLP_PCODLANDINGS(5_16_2019))

4.3.2 **Historical Dependence**

Several tables are provided in this section to allow the Council to consider various allocation options and their potential impacts. Tables were generated to show AFA versus non-AFA catch, the number of AFA vessels that were replaced, AFA sideboard exempt and non-exempt catch, AI vs BS catch, and directed fishing versus incidental catch.

4.3.2.1 **AFA and Non-AFA**

The first grouping of catch data provided shows the targeted Pacific cod catch by LLP licenses associated with AFA and non-AFA vessels (Table 4-3). Annual data are presented. Data are not grouped by year combinations because the Council has not identified alternatives and options. Summing the annual catch data allows the reader to create combinations of years and calculate percentages that could be assigned to

¹¹ See Section 4.9.4 for further information on parallel fishery activity.

AFA and non-AFA LLP licenses. However, it is not possible from the data provided to determine the number of LLP licenses that may be assigned catch history if various combinations of years are used.

Table 4-3 shows that from 2003 through 2018 the non-AFA vessels harvested between approximately 5 percent and 25 percent of the BSAI targeted Pacific cod from the trawl CV sector allocation. Since 2010 these vessels have always harvested at least 15 percent of the sector's catch. From 2003 through 2018 a total of 18 LLP licenses were used on 20 non-AFA vessels. A total of 94 LLP licenses were used on AFA vessels over that period and the annual number used ranged from a low of 37 in 2010 to a high of 63 in 2003. Variation in the number of vessels and LLP licenses that were active in the fishery during a year is driven by many factors including prices, TACs, other fishing opportunities, and various management measures considered to limit participation in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery.

2003																
2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Tota
						Non-	٩FA									
3,173	1,661	1,547	1,568	1,714	3,755	3,776	4,219	7,695	7,066	6,832	6,136	7,874	7,000	6,642	6,868	77,52
9.4%	4.7%	5.1%	5.1%	6.0%	13.6%	15.0%	17.0%	22.2%	17.4%	17.5%	15.7%	24.8%	16.9%	17.9%	21.1%	14.6%
7	6	6	6	9	9	6	7	12	10	11	6	7	9	12	13	1
7	6	6	6	8	9	6	7	12	10	11	6	7	9	12	12	2
6	7	7	8	10	11	8	7	8	8	7	5	7	8	12	14	3
						AF	A									
30,577	33,424	28,834	29,312	26,724	23,785	21,390	20,540	26,928	33,467	32,142	32,985	23,825	34,307	30,445	25,651	454,33
90.6%	95.3%	94.9%	94.9%	94.0%	86.4%	85.0%	83.0%	77.8%	82.6%	82.5%	84.3%	75.2%	83.1%	82.1%	78.9%	85.4%
64	65	57	52	51	54	42	38	39	48	45	47	45	51	52	53	94
63	62	53	48	49	52	40	37	38	44	42	42	40	47	48	48	82
10	12	11	10	11	12	8	7	11	10	10	9	8	14	14	14	35
						Tot	al									
33,750	35,086	30,381	30,880	28,439	27,540	25,166	24,759	34,622	40,533	38,974	39,122	31,698	41,308	37,087	32,519	531,863
100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
71	71	63	58	60	63	48	45	51	58	56	53	52	60	64	66	10
70	68	59	54	57	61	46	44	50	54	53	48	47	56	60	60	10
10	13	12	11	12	14	10	8	13	11	12	10	11	17	17	19	4
	9.4% 7 7 6 30,577 90.6% 64 63 10 33,750 100% 71 70	9.4% 4.7% 7 6 7 6 6 7 30,577 33,424 90.6% 95.3% 64 65 63 62 10 12 33,750 35,086 100% 100% 71 71 70 68	9.4% 4.7% 5.1% 7 6 6 7 6 6 6 7 7 30,577 33,424 28,834 90.6% 95.3% 94.9% 64 65 57 63 62 53 10 12 111 33,750 35,086 30,381 100% 100% 100% 71 71 68 70 68 59	9.4% 4.7% 5.1% 5.1% 7 6 6 6 7 6 6 6 7 6 6 6 6 7 7 8 30,577 33,424 28,834 29,312 90.6% 95.3% 94.9% 94.9% 64 65 57 52 63 62 53 48 10 12 11 10 33,750 35,086 30,381 30,880 100% 100% 100% 100% 71 71 63 58 70 68 59 54	9.4% 4.7% 5.1% 5.1% 6.0% 7 6 6 6 9 7 6 6 6 8 6 7 7 8 10 30,577 33,424 28,834 29,312 26,724 90.6% 95.3% 94.9% 94.9% 94.0% 64 65 57 52 51 63 22 53 48 49 10 12 11 10 11 33,750 35,086 30,381 30,880 28,439 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 71 74 63 58 60 70 68 59 54 57	9.4% 4.7% 5.1% 5.1% 6.0% 13.6% 7 6 6 6 9 9 7 6 6 6 8 9 6 7 7 8 10 11 30,577 33,424 28,834 29,312 26,724 23,785 90.6% 95.3% 94.9% 94.9% 94.0% 86.4% 64 65 57 52 51 54 64 65 53 48 49 52 10 12 11 10 11 12 33,750 35,086 30,381 30,880 28,439 27,540 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 58 60 63 37 68 59 54 57 61 36	3,173 1,661 1,547 1,568 1,714 3,755 3,776 9.4% 4.7% 5.1% 5.1% 6.0% 13.6% 15.0% 7 6 6 6 9 9 6 6 7 7 8 10 11 8 6 7 7 8 10 11 8 9.0% 95.3% 94.9% 94.0% 86.4% 85.0% 6 5 57 52 51 54 42 63 62 53 48 49 52 42 63 62 53 48 49 52 42 63 62 53 48 49 52 42 63 62 53 48 49 52 42 63 50 30,381 30,880 28,439 57.54 51.66 100% 100% 100% 100%		3,173 1,661 1,574 1,568 1,714 3,755 3,776 4,219 7,695 9.4% 4.7% 5.1% 5.1% 6.0% 13.6% 15.0% 17.0% 22.2% 7 6 6 9 9 6 7 12 6 7 7 8 10 11 8 7 12 6 7 7 8 10 11 18 7 12 6 7 7 8 10 11 18 7 12 30,577 33,424 28,334 29,312 26,724 23,785 21,300 20,500 26,928 90.6% 95.3% 94.9% 94.0% 86.4% 85.0% 83.0% 77.8% 63 62 53 48 49 52 44 37 31.8% 10 12 11 10 11 12 8 7 111 <t< td=""><td>$\begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$</td><td>$\begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$</td><td>$\begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$</td><td>$\begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$</td><td>$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$</td><td>3.1731.6611.5471.5681.7143.7553.7764.2197.6957.6666.8326.1367.8747.0006.6429.4%4.7%5.1%5.1%6.0%13.6%15.0%17.0%22.2%17.4%17.5%15.7%24.8%16.9%17.9%7666996712101116791267781011167912101116791267781011187878781277810111878778121011167912677.8420.31226.72423.78521.30020.54026.92833.46732.45232.98534.30730.44590.6%95.3%94.9%94.9%86.4%85.0%83.0%77.8%82.6%82.5%84.3%75.2%83.1%82.1%63625752515442383948444244<t< td=""><td>3.1731.6611.5471.5681.7143.7553.7764.2197.6957.0666.8326.1367.8747.0006.6426.8689.4%4.7%5.1%5.1%6.0%13.6%15.0%17.0%22.2%17.4%17.5%15.7%24.8%16.9%17.9%21.1%766699671210116791213.3%677810118788757.683.4273.983.4673.1683.4673.2853.4673.2853.4673.4243.8553.430730.4452.56190.6%95.3%94.9%94.9%94.0%86.4%85.0%83.0%77.8%82.6%82.5%82.9%23.8253.430730.45225.65190.6%95.3%94.9%94.9%94.0%86.4%85.0%83.0%77.8%82.6%82.5%82.9%83.4%75.2%83.1%82.1%78.9%63625348495244339444242444444101112871110109814446410111287111010981444101112871110109814</td></t<></td></t<>	$ \begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3.1731.6611.5471.5681.7143.7553.7764.2197.6957.6666.8326.1367.8747.0006.6429.4%4.7%5.1%5.1%6.0%13.6%15.0%17.0%22.2%17.4%17.5%15.7%24.8%16.9%17.9%7666996712101116791267781011167912101116791267781011187878781277810111878778121011167912677.8420.31226.72423.78521.30020.54026.92833.46732.45232.98534.30730.44590.6%95.3%94.9%94.9%86.4%85.0%83.0%77.8%82.6%82.5%84.3%75.2%83.1%82.1%63625752515442383948444244 <t< td=""><td>3.1731.6611.5471.5681.7143.7553.7764.2197.6957.0666.8326.1367.8747.0006.6426.8689.4%4.7%5.1%5.1%6.0%13.6%15.0%17.0%22.2%17.4%17.5%15.7%24.8%16.9%17.9%21.1%766699671210116791213.3%677810118788757.683.4273.983.4673.1683.4673.2853.4673.2853.4673.4243.8553.430730.4452.56190.6%95.3%94.9%94.9%94.0%86.4%85.0%83.0%77.8%82.6%82.5%82.9%23.8253.430730.45225.65190.6%95.3%94.9%94.9%94.0%86.4%85.0%83.0%77.8%82.6%82.5%82.9%83.4%75.2%83.1%82.1%78.9%63625348495244339444242444444101112871110109814446410111287111010981444101112871110109814</td></t<>	3.1731.6611.5471.5681.7143.7553.7764.2197.6957.0666.8326.1367.8747.0006.6426.8689.4%4.7%5.1%5.1%6.0%13.6%15.0%17.0%22.2%17.4%17.5%15.7%24.8%16.9%17.9%21.1%766699671210116791213.3%677810118788757.683.4273.983.4673.1683.4673.2853.4673.2853.4673.4243.8553.430730.4452.56190.6%95.3%94.9%94.9%94.0%86.4%85.0%83.0%77.8%82.6%82.5%82.9%23.8253.430730.45225.65190.6%95.3%94.9%94.9%94.0%86.4%85.0%83.0%77.8%82.6%82.5%82.9%83.4%75.2%83.1%82.1%78.9%63625348495244339444242444444101112871110109814446410111287111010981444101112871110109814

Table 4-3	Targeted trawl CV sector BSAI Pacific cod landings 2003 through 2018
-----------	--

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data (BSAI_TRW_LLP_PCODLANDINGS(5_16_2019))

Although vessels were originally named in the AFA, the Coast Guard Act of 2010 provided the opportunity for the replacement, removal, and consolidation of fishing vessels eligible to participate in the BSAI AFA inshore pollock CV fishery. Some of those vessels reported targeted fishing for Pacific cod. When vessels are replaced, the LLP licenses associated with the vessels may be transferred to the replacement vessel or it could be transferred to a different vessel. If the Pacific cod catch history is associated with the LLP license used to harvest the Pacific cod, that catch history and any QS that may result will be assigned to the LLP license. Table 4-4 shows the vessels that were in an inshore cooperative but not actively fishing every year from 2005 through 2019. These vessels were replaced or are replacement vessels. Vessels with a star in the left-hand column indicates they were associated with BSAI Pacific cod history were transferred to active AFA vessels that may or may not have Pacific cod history of their own.

Pacific cod Vessel 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Years Δι 11 ALASKAN COMMAND 8 * ALASKAN DEFENDER 4 AMERICAN CHALLENGER 14 * ARCTIC RAM 7 * BERING DEFENDER 8 BLUE FOX 9 DEFENDER 4 DONA MARTITA 7 * EXODUS EXPLORER 5 GUN-MAR 11 HAZEL LORRAINE 8 * INTREPID EXPLORER 6 * MARGUN 13 MARGUN 2 MORNING STAR 14 MORNING STAR 13 MS AMY 10 NORDIC EXPLORER 8 NORTHERN DEFENDER 2 * NORTHERN RAM 6 PACIFIC KNIGHT 8 PACIFIC MONARCH 7 * PATRICIA L 5 * PEGGY JO 13 POSFIDON 10 PREDATOR 14 TRACY ANNE 9

Table 4-4AFA CV vessels that did not hold an AFA inshore permit (white cells) all years from 2005
through 2019

Source: https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/alaska/commercial-fishing/permits-and-licenses-issued-alaska

The AFA inshore inter-cooperative reports provide more detail on the transfer of AFA catch history. For example, using the 2018 report, it describes how over the course of 2018 three vessel consolidations occurred. The Peggy Jo was replaced by the Arctic Wind which is an existing AFA CV. The Arctic Wind now holds both its and the Peggy Jo's catch histories as well as the LLP license. The Peggy Jo is shown exiting the AFA sector that year in Table 4-4. The Leslie Lee, an existing AFA CV replaced the Predator and now holds both vessels' catch histories and the LLP license. The Predator did not report targeted Pacific cod landings. The American Challenger was replaced by the existing AFA vessel the Forum Star. Their catch histories were combined as well. The MarGun, a dual qualified mothership and inshore sector CV was declared a total loss and was replaced by a vessel named the MarGun that was not previously an AFA vessel and the LLP license with Pacific cod catch history was moved to the new vessel.

Another facet of AFA trawl CVs is that some AFA CVs were subject to BSAI Pacific cod sideboards while other AFA trawl CVs were exempt from these sideboard limits. A sideboard is a catch limitation designed to prevent the recipients of a LAPP from using the flexibility and exclusive privileges granted under the LAPP to expand into other fisheries at levels that exceed their historic participation. When developing Amendments 61/61/13/8 that implemented AFA, the Council recommended that certain AFA CVs that have relatively small pollock fishing histories and that showed significant economic dependence on BSAI Pacific cod be exempt from BSAI Pacific cod sideboards. For AFA CVs to receive an exemption from BSAI Pacific cod sideboards, they had to have made 30 or more legal landings of BSAI Pacific cod in the BSAI directed fishery for Pacific cod from 1995 to 1997, averaged annual BS pollock landings less than 1,700 mt from 1995 to 1997, and be less than 125 ft in length. In addition, the Council recommended that all AFA CVs with mothership (MS) endorsements be exempt from Pacific cod sideboard measures after March 1 of each year. Of the 112 permitted AFA CVs that were initially

permitted, 10 were exempt from the BSAI Pacific cod sideboard limits under the landings and vessel size criteria, as are the 19 vessels that are members of the MS sector, after March 1 of each fishing year (Northern Economics, Inc., 2017). The remaining 83 AFA CVs are subject to BSAI Pacific cod sideboard limits. Pacific cod harvest caught by exempt AFA CVs as a percentage of the Pacific cod harvest of all AFA CVs has ranged from a low of 30 percent in 2003 to a high of 36 percent in 2011, and overall shows a slight increasing trend (Northern Economics, Inc., 2017). Based on the 2019 LLP license file, there were nine active LLP licenses with an AFA CV BSAI Pacific cod exempt flag and 90 active LLP licenses with an AFA endorsement without a BSAI Pacific cod exempt flag.

Table 4-5 breaks out the target catch of BSAI Pacific cod by trawl CVs classes of vessel. As part of its motion the Council requested that this discussion paper provide information on historical harvest by AFA cod exempt vessels, AFA cod non-exempt vessels, and non-AFA vessels. The information provided is similar to Table 4-3 except it provides a breakout of the AFA sector by whether vessels were Pacific cod exempt.

Table 4-5	Trawl CV sector targeted Pacific cod catch by non-AFA, AFA BSAI Pacific cod exempt, and BSAI
	Pacific cod non-exempt vessels

Trawl CVs	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total
								ſ	Metric Tor	IS							
Non-AFA	3,173	1,661	1,547	1,568	1,714	3,755	3,776	4,219	7,695	7,066	6,832	6,136	7,874	7,000	6,642	6,868	77,526
AFA non-BSAI Pacific cod exempt	23,561	24,179	20,676	21,429	20,272	18,452	14,372	13,349	17,005	22,025	22,260	23,641	15,008	24,128	23,087	21,219	324,666
AFA Pacific cod exempt	7,016	9,245	8,157	7,882	6,452	5,333	7,018	7,191	9,923	11,442	9,882	9,344	8,816	10,180	7,358	4,432	129,672
Grand Total	33,750	35,086	30,381	30,880	28,439	27,540	25,166	24,759	34,622	40,533	38,974	39,122	31,698	41,308	37,087	32,519	531,863
								1	Percentag	e							
Non-AFA	9.4%	4.7%	5.1%	5.1%	6.0%	13.6%	15.0%	17.0%	22.2%	17.4%	17.5%	15.7%	24.8%	16.9%	17.9%	21.1%	14.6%
AFA BSAI Pacific cod non-exempt	69.8%	68.9%	68.1%	69.4%	71.3%	67.0%	57.1%	53.9%	49.1%	54.3%	57.1%	60.4%	47.3%	58.4%	62.3%	65.3%	61.0%
AFA Pacific cod exempt	20.8%	26.4%	26.9%	25.5%	22.7%	19.4%	27.9%	29.0%	28.7%	28.2%	25.4%	23.9%	27.8%	24.6%	19.8%	13.6%	24.4%
Grand Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data (BSAI_TRW_LLP_PCODLANDINGS(5_16_2019))

The AFA BSAI Pacific cod exempt vessels averaged over 14 percent of the sectors target Pacific cod catch. Annually, they harvested between 13 percent and 29 percent of the total. The smallest percentage was in the most recent year data are provided (2018). This is likely a result of the increased fishing effort by other sectors to harvest a declining TAC.

4.3.2.2 Targeted and Incidental Pacific Cod

Pacific cod allocations under a LAPP could be based on either historical targeted landings of Pacific cod or total landings of Pacific cod. Table 4-6 shows the annual amount of BSAI Pacific cod reported in the CAS data as being caught in the Pacific cod target fishery or other target fisheries and the total amount of Pacific cod harvested that is deducted from the BSAI trawl CV sector allocation. From 2003-2018, incidental catch of Pacific cod ranged from about 7 percent to about 15 percent of the total Pacific cod catch, with an average of 11 percent. The incidental catch of Pacific cod average was 4.2 mt, with a range of 3 mt to over 6 mt annually. Section 4.1.6.3 provides a brief discussion of issues associated with management of incidental catch of Pacific cod.

	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total
Pacific Cod																	
Landed Catch (mt)	33,750	35,086	30,381	30,880	28,439	27,540	25,166	24,759	34,622	40,533	38,974	39,122	31,698	41,308	37,087	32,519	531,863
Landed Catch (%)	90.8%	90.7%	86.6%	89.1%	91.0%	89.5%	87.3%	89.7%	87.1%	86.3%	89.4%	92.5%	84.3%	91.8%	86.8%	89.1%	88.9%
LLP Licenses	71	71	63	58	60	63	48	45	51	58	56	53	52	60	64	66	109
Vessels	70	68	59	54	57	61	46	44	50	54	53	48	47	56	60	60	102
Processing Plants	10	13	12	11	12	14	10	8	13	11	12	10	11	17	17	19	41
							Othe	r Species									
Landed Catch (mt)	3,439	3,610	4,705	3,791	2,806	3,226	3,663	2,853	5,124	6,453	4,635	3,151	5,898	3,710	5,656	3,967	66,687
Landed Catch (%)	9.2%	9.3%	13.4%	10.9%	9.0%	10.5%	12.7%	10.3%	12.9%	13.7%	10.6%	7.5%	15.7%	8.2%	13.2%	10.9%	11.1%
LLP Licenses	95	94	95	90	94	93	93	94	92	95	93	96	96	99	97	98	115
Vessels	91	92	91	87	91	90	90	91	89	92	88	90	89	92	91	89	107
Processing Plants	12	14	12	13	11	13	11	12	11	11	11	11	16	18	16	19	38
								Total									
Landed Catch (mt)	37,189	38,695	35,086	34,670	31,244	30,766	28,830	27,612	39,746	46,987	43,609	42,273	37,596	45,017	42,742	36,486	598,550
Landed Catch (%)	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
LLP Licenses	112	109	109	106	110	109	107	103	107	109	107	104	105	107	107	109	130
Vessels	107	105	104	101	105	104	102	99	104	104	101	98	98	100	101	99	124
Processing Plants	17	19	18	16	16	20	15	13	17	16	16	15	20	22	21	23	50

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data (BSAI_TRW_LLP_PCODLANDINGS(5_16_2019))

If the Council considers basing the LAPP allocation on targeted Pacific cod catch, the targeted Pacific cod catch history would be assigned to LLP licenses. Trawl vessels that hold a valid LLP license to use trawl gear in the BSAI could still harvest Pacific cod as incidental catch in other fisheries, but they would not be allowed to harvest Pacific cod in the directed fishery. Table 4-6 shows that 21 of the 130 total LLP licenses used to harvest Pacific cod from 2003 through 2018 were only associated with incidental catches of Pacific cod from the BSAI. These 21 LLP license holders with no targeted Pacific cod catch would not qualify for quota if the allocation was based on targeted Pacific cod landings. These LLP license holders may or may not be allowed to harvest Pacific cod assigned to a cooperative. That would be a policy decision and would require those LLP license holders to be members of the cooperative when they are fishing that cooperative's quota. This is necessary to allow NMFS to accurately account for each cooperative's harvest.

LLP license holders with no quota may be allowed to harvest Pacific cod assigned to LLP licenses that do not join a cooperative, if the program includes a limited access component that is comprised of all quota that is not assigned to a cooperative. Those fish could then be harvested by any LLP license holder that has a BS and/or AI trawl endorsement on their LLP license. However, allowing a limited access fishery complicates management and may create a smaller fishery with an intense race to harvest the quota, if it is ever opened to directed fishing. The potential to compete with non-qualified LLP license holders would create an incentive for anyone with more than a minimal amount of quota assigned to their LLP license to join a cooperative.

4.3.2.3 BS and AI

The LAPP could be structured to treat the BS and AI areas as a single allocation or issue separate quota for each area that must be harvested (and perhaps delivered) within the area the quota is designated. Because the trawl CV sector allocation may be harvested in either the BS or the AI under the status quo, the Council may wish to continue to allow that flexibility under a LAPP. In that case a cooperative's quota may be harvested in either the BS or AI if both Pacific cod fisheries are open to directed fishing. If the non-CDQ Pacific cod TAC is or will be reached in either the BS or AI, NMFS will prohibit directed fishing for Pacific cod in that subarea for all non-CDQ fishery sectors. Any unfished cooperative quota would need to be fished in the area that remains open to Pacific cod directed fishing.

	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total
							A	1									
Landed Catch (mt)	11,128	11,378	7,466	8,210	12,895	13,945	14,319	12,188	7,535	6,739	5,120	4,554	*	5,573	2,539	4,064	130,390
Landed Catch (%)	33.0%	32.4%	24.6%	26.6%	45.3%	50.6%	56.9%	49.2%	21.8%	16.6%	13.1%	11.6%	*	13.5%	6.8%	12.5%	24.5%
LLP Licenses	17	14	12	15	21	21	17	19	14	14	7	6	4	9	5	10	32
Vessels	17	14	12	15	21	21	17	19	14	14	7	6	4	9	5	9	39
Processing Plants	7	6	5	5	9	9	6	5	4	6	3	3	2	3	3	5	26
							В	S									
Landed Catch (mt)	22,622	23,707	22,915	22,670	15,544	13,595	10,847	12,570	27,088	33,795	33,854	34,568	*	35,734	34,548	28,454	401,473
Landed Catch (%)	67.0%	67.6%	75.4%	73.4%	54.7%	49.4%	43.1%	50.8%	78.2%	83.4%	86.9%	88.4%	*	86.5%	93.2%	87.5%	75.5%
LLP Licenses	64	62	59	54	51	49	34	30	48	53	52	51	52	56	62	63	107
Vessels	62	59	55	50	49	47	32	29	47	50	50	46	47	52	58	58	101
Processing Plants	9	9	10	10	9	11	7	5	11	9	10	9	11	17	17	18	33
							То	tal									
Total Landed Catch (mt)	33,750	35,086	30,381	30,880	28,439	27,540	25,166	24,759	34,622	40,533	38,974	39,122	31,698	41,308	37,087	32,519	531,863
Total Landed Catch (%)	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
Total LLP Licenses	71	71	63	58	60	63	48	45	51	58	56	53	52	60	64	66	109
Total Vessels	70	68	59	54	57	61	46	44	50	54	53	48	47	56	60	60	102
Total Processing Plants	10	13	12	11	12	14	10	8	13	11	12	10	11	17	17	19	41

Table 4-7 Trawl CV sector harvests of targeted BSAI Pacific cod in the BS and AI, 2003 through 2018

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data (BSAI_TRW_LLP_PCODLANDINGS(5_16_2019))

4.3.3 Stacking LLP Licenses

Because more than one LLP license may be assigned to a vessel, the Council should define options for assigning catch history to LLP licenses when more than one LLP license was assigned to the CV at the time the fish were harvested. There are a variety of reasons a vessel may be assigned to more than one

LLP license. For example, the two LLP licenses have a different suite of endorsements that provide the vessel operator greater flexibility in how the vessel is used. This section describes three different methods the Council could consider when assigning catch history to an LLP license when there were more than one on the vessel.

First, if only one of the LLP licenses is endorsed for the area fished or gear used to make the catch, all the catch is assigned to that LLP license. That would be appropriate since it is the only LLP license on that vessels that allowed for the legal harvest of the fish.

Second, if two valid LLP licenses were used to make the harvest in the area the owner of the vessel used to make the landings may choose which LLP license to assign the catch history. This option gives more power to the vessel owner versus the LLP license holder if the ownership of the LLP license changes or the LLP license holder was not the owner of the vessel when the landings were made. To illustrate these issues two examples are provided. In the first case a person owns a vessel and has two LLP licenses on the vessel owner sells one of the LLP licenses to another firm. When the catch history is assigned to the LLP license the vessel owner could assign all of the catch history to the LLP license it still owns. The buyer of the LLP license would not receive any catch history associated with the LLP license when it was held by previous owner. In the second case, a person does not own the LLP license but uses it on their vessel to operate in the Pacific cod trawl fishery. If they had two licenses and both had a BS endorsement (they used the leased LLP license to fish in the AI) the vessel owner could apply all their BS Pacific cod catch to the LLP license it owns and only the AI catch would be applied to the LLP license they leased.

The third option would be to divide the catch history equally between the qualified stacked LLP licenses. In this case neither the vessel owner nor the LLP license holder would have the authority to determine how the history is divided. NMFS would assign the history equally to each LLP license. If there were two LLP licenses, each would receive half of the qualifying catch history. This method would be easiest for NMFS to implement, because it could be done using only catch data without applications from the vessel owners.

While the stacking of LLP licenses and the distribution of catch history does not apply in most cases, it is an important decision to the individuals and firms that are subject to the decision. Table 4-8 provides a summary of the catch and participation by number of LLP licenses associated with the catch.

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total
1 LLP license												
Pacific cod (mt)	27,685	25,223	25,527	34,598	39,371	37,703	38,061	27,175	37,781	33,871	31,333	358,328
Pacific cod (%)	98.6%	97.4%	99.8%	99.9%	96.5%	96.7%	97.3%	85.6%	90.6%	90.0%	93.0%	94.8%
2 LLP licenses												
Pacific cod (mt)	405	681	60	24	1,426	1,271	1,060	4,566	3,935	3,770	2,376	19,575
Pacific cod (%)	1.4%	2.6%	0.2%	0.1%	3.5%	3.3%	2.7%	14.4%	9.4%	10.0%	7.0%	5.2%
Vessels	2	2	1	1	3	2	5	5	4	4	6	10
LLP licenses	4	4	2	2	6	4	10	10	8	8	12	21
Total (mt)	28,090	25,904	25,587	34,622	40,797	38,974	39,122	31,741	41,716	37,641	33,709	377,904

Table 4-8	BSAI non-CDQ targeted trawl CV Pacific cod catch by number of LLP licenses associated with
	the catch.

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data

4.3.4 Pacific Cod Transfers with AFA Cooperatives

An issue that has been identified during preliminary discussions of the cooperative program is how to address Pacific cod transfers that have occurred within AFA cooperatives. AFA cooperatives are allowed to harvest up to a given amount of Pacific cod as defined by their sideboard limits which are based on members Pacific cod history used to determine the sideboards. Once in the cooperative, the cooperative

members may determine how to harvest the available Pacific cod. Those decisions have resulted in cooperative members leasing Pacific cod to facilitate the efficient harvest. Under a cooperative program where Pacific cod catch history is assigned to an LLP license those transfers have long term implications relative to who is assigned catch history under a new LAPP.

In determining how to address this issue, the Council should consider that limited quantitative information can be provided. Staff does not have access to cooperative contracts or individual contracts that provide information on the terms and conditions of transfers that have occurred. The data available only indicates how much catch was associated with an LLP license or a vessel. The data does not provide any information on how the cooperative determined how much Pacific cod the member would be allowed to harvest.

Double counting catch to credit both the person leasing the cooperative quota and the person harvesting the quota would likely be a contentious issue and staff does not have data to provide the additional information that is needed. The lack of quantitative information means that the cooperatives would either need to provide additional, comprehensive information to the analysts on the structure and use of transfers within the cooperative or the cooperative would need to address the issue internally after Pacific cod allocations are made.

If the AFA sector wanted to move forward with allowing catch history to be double counted, it could negatively impact persons that did not lease within the AFA sector and non-AFA sector participants. Both groups would have the same catch history, but the entire amount of catch history would be inflated, resulting in a decrease of their allocation. To resolve the issue for the non-AFA sector, the Council could consider splitting the BSAI Pacific cod sector allocation between the AFA/non-AFA sectors prior to adjusting AFA catch history. Depending on the structure of the split been the two sectors, this could protect the non-AFA vessels from lease compensation adjustments. AFA firms that had not leased Pacific cod could still be negatively impacted, if they are unable to negotiate an agreement to protect themselves.

4.4 Seasonal Allocations

Topics of Council consideration:

- \rightarrow Would seasonal allocations change/ be necessary under a LAPP?
- → Are there any expected Steller sea lion implications if it is a directed fishing allocation that could be harvested any time during the year? Most of the directed fishing is currently taken in the A season and the LAPP may spread out the A season harvest.

Allocations of Pacific cod to the CDQ Program and to the non-CDQ fishery sectors are apportioned by seasons. The trawl CV sector allocation is apportioned among three seasons that correspond to the early (A-season), middle (B-season), and late (C-season) portions of the year.

- A-season runs from January 20 April 1 and is allocated 74 percent of the sector allocation.
- B-season runs from April 1 June 10 and is allocated 11 percent of the sector allocation.
- C-season runs from June 10 November 1 and is allocated 15 percent of the sector allocation.

Tables provided throughout the document have included catch from all three seasons because the Council's purpose and need statement did not specify that the LAPP would be limited to only the A-season or the A-season and B-season. Further breakouts of the data could be provided if that is the intent of the Council.
This section focuses on the catch by season to show participation levels. Table 4-9 shows that about 88 percent of the BSAI Pacific cod catch in the non-CDQ Pacific cod trawl CV Pacific cod target fishery was taken in the A season from 2003 through 2018. On an annual basis the catch ranged from over 99 percent to about 80 percent. Indicating that the majority of the catch is always taken in the A season. The data also indicates that small amounts are taken in the C season, with an average of over 2 percent reported.

Table 4-9BSAI Pacific cod catch in the non-CDQ Pacific cod trawl CV Pacific cod target fishery by season,
2003 through 2018.

	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Tot
								A Season	n								
Pacific cod (mt)	32,202	32,050	27,564	27,965	24,685	24,696	22,621	25,466	31,865	33,865	33,512	35,097	28,532	36,953	34,805	27,637	479,51
Pacific cod (%)	80.58%	86.14%	89.15%	86.21%	84.68%	87.92%	87.33%	99.53%	92.03%	83.01%	85.98%	89.71%	89.89%	88.58%	92.47%	81.99%	87.57
Vessels	75	67	62	54	52	59	49	48	47	52	49	46	47	53	57	61	11
								B Season	1								
Pacific cod (mt)	5,375	2,516	3,058	С	4,364	3,358	С	С	1,962	6,318	4,146	3,687	1,415	3,044	2,745	С	55,42
Pacific cod (%)	13.45%	6.76%	9.89%	С	14.97%	11.95%	С	С	5.67%	15.49%	10.64%	9.42%	4.46%	7.30%	7.29%	С	10.12
Vessels	53	42	35	41	49	50	31	2	31	33	21	16	18	27	27	33	10
								C Season	۱								
Pacific cod (mt)	2,387	2,641	298	С	101	37	С	С	796	614	1,317	338	1,794	1,719	91	С	12,64
Pacific cod (%)	5.97%	7.10%	0.96%	С	0.35%	0.13%	С	С	2.30%	1.51%	3.38%	0.86%	5.65%	4.12%	0.24%	С	2.319
Vessels	15	16	3	2	4	6	1	1	4	7	3	3	4	4	8	2	3
								Annual Tot	al								
Pacific cod (mt)	39,963	37,207	30,920	32,440	29,150	28,090	25,904	25,587	34,622	40,797	38,974	39,122	31,741	41,716	37,641	33,709	547,58
Pacific cod (%)	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00
Vessels	86	78	64	57	64	65	54	48	50	55	53	48	48	56	61	65	12

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data

While there are modest amounts of Pacific cod taken in the B and C seasons, adjustments in the amounts allowed should take into consideration Steller sea lion protection measures. Table 5 to 50 CFR 679 define protection areas for Steller sea lions in the in the Pacific cod fishery. Likely any change to the season dates or percentages could trigger a consultation, but the level of change will likely determine if it is a formal or informal consultation.

4.5 Processors and Communities Considerations

Topics of Council consideration:

- → Should the Council include options to promote sustained participation of processors and/or communities participating in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery?
- \rightarrow If options are to promote sustained participation, what approach should be utilized?
- → What amount of BSAI Pacific cod is necessary for sustained participation of processors and communities?
- → If processor and/or community approaches are used to promote sustained participation, should options be included to prevent stranded BSAI Pacific?

As the Council begins developing alternatives and options for trawl CV sector LAPP, the Council is required to consider a variety of factors, including promotion of sustained participation for processors and communities among others. As noted in Section 2.2, the Council is required to establish procedures to ensure fair and equitable initial allocations, including consideration of

- (i) current and historical harvests
- (ii) employment in the harvesting and processing sectors
- (iii) investments in, and dependence, upon the fishery; and
- (iv) current and historical participation of fishing communities.

As stated in MSA (see Section 2.1), the Council must also consider the basic cultural and social framework of the fishery in allocating harvest privileges. As part of that consideration it should focus on the development of policies to promote the sustained participation of small owner-operated fishing vessels and fishing communities that depend on the fisheries, including regional or port-specific landing or delivery requirements.

In addition, the MSA at 303A(c)(5)(C) requires the Council, where necessary and appropriate, to include measures to assist entry level and small vessel owner-operators, captains, crew, and fishing communities through set asides of harvest allocation or economic assistance in the purchase of shares.

Based on these MSA requirements and guidance, this section begins a discussion of port and regional delivery activity, considers provisions that may protect historical processor and community relationships with the BSAI Pacific cod fishery, and examples specifically for the AI shoreside processor sustainability. Note that throughout this section the community activities discussed, and the provisions suggested to promote community engagement refers to the community's relationship with BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV processing. While communities may also have an association to this fishery through other avenues (e.g. homeporting trawl CV vessels, the home community of captain/ crew, vessel owners, business associates, support service communities, etc.), the community interactions discussed in this section are specific to the community benefits and impacts (e.g. tax revenue and economic activity) associated with the sustained landings and processing of BSAI Pacific cod.

4.5.1 Port/Region Activity

The ports that have received deliveries of trawl CV Pacific cod from the BSAI between 2005 through 2018 include:

- Adak
- Akutan
- Dutch Harbor/Unalaska

- King Cove
- Sand Point
- Anchorage

Figure 4-1 and Table 4-10 provide additional general information the number of ports and total number of deliveries of the targeted BSAI Pacific cod by the trawl CV sector from 2005 through 2018.

Figure 4-1 Total number of deliveries of targeted BSAI Pacific cod and total number of ports of delivery for the trawl CV sector from 2005 through 2018



Source: AKFIN, May 2019

Figure originates from Excel file Tables and Figures for BSAI cod Allocation Review June 2019

Table 4-10 Total number of deliveries of targeted BSAI Pacific cod and total number of ports of delivery for the trawl CV sector from 2005 through 2018

	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Number of ports	7	7	6	7	7	5	8	6	8	6	6	5	5	7
Total deliveries	505	539	611	644	478	498	625	667	592	600	529	603	502	522

Source: AKFIN, May 2019

Table originates from Excel file Tables and Figures for BSAI cod Allocation Review June 2019

This paper does not provide data on individual ports or regions receiving Pacific cod landings due to confidentiality concerns. Most of the ports receiving BSAI Pacific cod only have one processor and providing data at that level is prohibited. If aggregations of data were provided by region, it could limit the Council's options to specific regions in the future. Once additional direction is provided by the Council, information can be aggregated to provide some information if the Council wishes to consider regional or port specific landings requirements to protect communities and processors.

4.5.2 Processor and Community Considerations

In considering whether allocations of BSAI Pacific cod to the trawl CV sector give adequate consideration to current and historical participation of fishing communities and processing sectors, the following sections provide a brief overview of different approaches the Council could consider to provide for processor and community program participation that are dependent on the BSAI Pacific cod fishery. These concepts are not mutually exclusive. For instance, the Council may include more concrete connections, such as a cooperative/ processor linkage or direct allocation of some of the harvester privileges to processors. The Council may also consider connections such as regional or port specific landing requirements to address community interests.

The Council is also directed to consider procedures to prevent excessive geographic consolidation in the harvesting and processing sectors as part of its efforts to consider the cultural and social framework of the fishery. Overall, these provisions are intended to ensure the Council considers historic community interests in the fisheries, but not to a level that leads to excessive geographic consolidation. In additional to the potential for processing share caps (see Section 4.6), regionalization or port of landings requirements could be ways to ensure diversity in processing continues.

4.5.2.1 Cooperative/ Processor Linkages

One approach that could be utilized to promote sustained participation for historical processors is a cooperative/ processor association. For example, in the Central GOA Rockfish Program, the CV cooperative may only form if a "rockfish processor" is an "associate" of the rockfish cooperative and is designated on the application for cooperative quota. In the Central GOA Rockfish Program, a processor is any shoreside processor with a Federal processor permit that receives groundfish harvested under the authority of a rockfish cooperative quota permit. In order to receive rockfish cooperative quota, the shorebased processor must be located within the boundaries of the City of Kodiak. Depending on the goals for the trawl CV management program, the Council might consider a similar structure of cooperative/processor associations to provide protections for both processors and communities. This approach would likely be more applicable if the Council envisioned a unique processor linkage to each active shoreside and offshore processor. For example, under a single or two cooperative approach (AFA/non-AFA or inshore/offshore cooperatives), a cooperative/ processor linkage approach would likely not work since there are more than two shoreside and offshore processors active in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery.

4.5.2.2 Allocation of Harvest Shares to Processors

Another approach for promoting sustained participation of processors and impacts to those communities where shoreside processors are located is to allocate harvest shares to processors. Under this approach, the Council would select a fixed percentage of the trawl CV harvest share pool for allocation to harvesters

based on their qualifying harvest history, with the remainder allocated to processors based on their qualifying processing history. Under this approach, allocations of BSAI Pacific cod and PSC would be divided between the two groups at a prescribed percentage. The processor port of the harvest share pool would be allocated to eligible processors based on individual processing histories in the target BSAI Pacific cod fishery during qualifying years. Processors would be responsible for contracting out the harvest of their allocation.

4.5.2.3 Limiting Deliveries to C/Ps Acting as a Mothership

The Council took final action in April 2019 to limit the number of C/Ps that may take directed non-CDQ BSAI Pacific cod deliveries from trawl CVs. It is assumed those are the only C/Ps that would be allowed to take cooperative deliveries of Pacific cod under this action, without further direction by the Council. The Council could consider additional limitations on which trawl CVs could deliver to those C/Ps as part of the proposed LAPP. Limitations could be structured to ensure that the longer season under a cooperative structure could not be utilized to increase deliveries to C/Ps. Examples of provisions that could be considered are:

- allowing only CVs that have delivered to C/Ps acting as a mothership in the past to deliver cooperative quota to a qualified C/P, and
- limit the amount of cooperative quota that can be delivered to the C/P acting as a mothership to the amount of cooperative quota the CV brought into the cooperative.

The Council and industry could develop other options to consider, without reopening the action the Council just approved in April 2019. The goal would be to protect shorebased processors and communities from increasing proportions of the BS or AI Pacific cod landings being delivered to C/Ps acting as a mothership.

4.5.2.4 Regionalization

The Council may wish to consider requiring that a percentage of the trawl CV allocation be delivered to a specified geographic region. This approach could be an effective method for addressing ongoing challenges by providing stability for CVs harvesting AI Pacific cod, AI shoreplant operations, and AI fishing communities dependent on AI Pacific cod harvesting and shoreside processing activity.

This approach was taken in the Crab Rationalization Program where the regional delivery requirements for harvesting quota share and processing quota share were implemented to help preserve the historic geographic distribution of landings and resultant fishery revenues in fishery-dependent economies. Two regional designations (North- requiring landings north of 56° 20′ north latitude and South- requiring landings in any other area) were created in most Crab Rationalization Program fisheries, with a Western delivery requirement (requiring landings west of 174° W. longitude) for some quota in one of the crab fisheries. For example, to provide AI community protections, the Council could consider requiring a defined percentage of the sectors BSAI Pacific cod harvested quota be landed in a community adjacent to the AI waters west of 170° W. longitude.

A potential challenge with this approach is that a regional requirement could create a situation requiring delivery of Pacific cod to one processor, which could exceed the Council's authority granted under the MSA. For example, if Adak was the only operational shoreside processor in the AI region, then harvesters would be required to delivery their Pacific cod to that one shoreside processor which could be considered a harvester/processor linkage that could exceed the Council's authority. The Crab Rationalization program's Northern and Western regionalization requirements currently result in the delivery of crab to only one processor in each region; however, the authority for the Crab Rationalization Program and the regional delivery requirement were authorized by Congress.

4.5.2.5 Port of Landings Requirements

Port of landings requirements may be an effective tool for providing sustained participation for shoreside processors and their associated communities, but this approach may create a similar requirement that harvesters deliver Pacific cod to a specific processor if there is only one processor at the port. For example, since there is only one shoreside processor operating in Adak, a port specific delivery requirement to the port of Adak could be beyond the Council's authority granted under the MSA. A port of landings requirements may be effective and implementable in ports with multiple processors like Unalaska/Dutch Harbor. However, in many areas of the BSAI, a port of landing requirement may require additional authority from Congress to implement. In addition, trawl CVs that are required to deliver to a single shoreside processor could lose market power, which could be reflected in the ex-vessel value they receive for deliveries.

4.5.3 Al Pacific Cod Shoreside Sustainability

During the June 2019 meeting, the Council requested a discussion of trawl CV harvests and deliveries in the AI Pacific cod fishery and the set-aside provisions established in Amendment 113. Below is a summary of Amendment 113 and different approaches the Council could utilize to provide processor and community protections that are specific to AI shoreplants and communities.

4.5.3.1 Amendment 113

In October 2015, the Council recommended a management measure (Amendment 113) to provide stability to AI shoreplant operations and the communities dependent on shoreside processing activity. The amendment modified the management of the BSAI Pacific cod fishery to set aside a portion of the AI Pacific cod TAC for harvest by CVs directed fishing for AI Pacific cod and delivering their catch for processing to a shoreside processor located on land west of 170° W longitude in the AI ("AI shoreplant") The Secretary approved the Council's recommendation, which had an effective date of November 23, 2016. Under Amendment 113, the harvest set-aside applies only if specific notification and performance requirements are met, and only during the first few months of the fishing year. This harvest set-aside was intended to provide the opportunity for vessels delivering onshore, AI shoreplants, and the communities where AI shoreplants are located to receive benefits from a portion of the AI Pacific cod fishery. The notification and performance requirements preserve an opportunity for the complete harvest of the BSAI Pacific cod resource if the set-aside is not fully harvested or if AI shoreplants are unable to accept deliveries of Pacific cod in any given fishing season.

The first full year the AI Pacific cod set-aside could have applied was 2017, but neither the City of Adak nor the City of Atka provided NMFS with notice of intent to process AI Pacific cod by late 2016, as required by the regulations implementing Amendment 113. As a result, the AI Pacific cod set-aside did not apply in 2017. For 2018 and 2019, the City of Adak provided NMFS with timely notice and AI Pacific cod set aside was utilized. In 2018 and 2019, NMFS announced that the 5,000 mt AI set aside had not been fully landed by March 15th and therefore the AI set-aside would not apply for the remainder of the year. The amount of the 5,000 mt AI set-aside that was delivered to the AI shoreplant in 2018 and 2019 cannot be reported using Federal or State data due to confidentiality restrictions.¹²

On March 21, 2019, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia (Court) ruled that NMFS failed to demonstrate that the rule implementing Amendment 113 satisfied the requisite standards for such regulatory measures set forth by the MSA. Specifically, the Court found NMFS had not demonstrated the rule implementing Amendment 113 was reasonably calculated to promote conservation consistent with

¹² Golden Harvest Alaska Seafood, LLC in a public comment letter to the NPFMC in April 2018 noted that "landings from the Federal fishery were 4,010 mt; or about 80 percent of the AI CV Harvest Set Aside." http://comments.npfmc.org/CommentReview/DownloadFile?p=48236946-a5e9-42fa-977a-b723217e1a66.pdf&fileName=GHAS%20to%20NPFMC%20033018.pdf

National Standard 4, and that NMFS could not show consistency with National Standard 8 because in the Court's view the rule allocates fishery resources to two particular communities. The Court vacated the rule implementing Amendment 113 and remanded the rule to NFMS for reconsideration consistent with the Court's opinion. Therefore, at present Amendment 113 has no force or effect of law.

4.5.3.2 Al Pacific Cod Port-specific or Regional Landing Requirement

The Council could develop alternatives and options that include setting aside a portion of the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV allocation for a port-specific or regional landing requirement, if designed in such a way as to avoid exceeding the authority granted under the MSA. A port-specific or regional landing requirement would ensure that a predetermined percentage of the sector's QS would be delivered to defined AI shoreplants as allowed under the MSA.

One shortcoming of a port-specific landing requirement could be its rigidness given the potential for changes in the number of shoreside processors and their associated ports in the AI in the future. In contrast, a regional landing requirement to shoreside processors located on land west of 170° W. longitude would allow more flexibility for AI shoreside processors changes. For example, if in the future, Atka expands its existing processing capacity to include Pacific cod, a regional delivery requirement is broad enough to include Atka since the port is west of 170° W. longitude.

In utilizing a port-specific or regional landing set aside for the AI shoreside processors, there are likely several different elements that the Council should consider.

- The first element the Council should consider if it develops a regional landing requirement is the percentage or the amount of Pacific cod quota that a cooperative would be required to set aside for delivery to AI shoreside processors. As a reference point, Amendment 113 set aside an amount equal to the lessor of either the AI directed fishing allowance (DFA)¹³ or 5,000 mt.
- Another factor the Council should consider is whether the set aside is specific to a season or the entire fishing year. A specific A-season set aside delivery period could concentrate the set-aside during the winter Pacific cod fishery when the fish are aggregated which allows greater harvest efficiency by trawl vessels but forces trawl CVs to a narrow regulatory delivery window which could limit flexibility for both harvesters and processors. Extending the set aside for the entire fishing year could provide greater flexibility for both trawl CVs and AI shoreside processors to work cooperatively to maximize benefits while reducing costs for both harvesters and shoreside processors.
- A third decision the Council would need to consider in developing an AI set aside is whether a Pacific cod delivery requirement is specific to BS or AI Pacific cod TAC. Nearly all the Pacific cod delivered to AI shoreside processors in the past has been from the AI

The Council could also consider including options for a cooperative to deliver Pacific cod to non-AI shoreside processors in the event there are no AI shoreside processors at the beginning of the fishing season to process the AI set aside or insufficient shoreside processing capacity to process all the AI set aside. Since the AI currently has only one shoreside processor that can process large amounts of AI Pacific cod, an AI Pacific cod set aside requirement that does not have some ability to allow for a cooperative to deliver their Pacific cod to other processors in the event of no operational AI shoreside processors or limited operational capacity could result in all or some of the set aside to remain unharvested. One potential option would be to utilize the approach in Amendment 113 which required notification of the intent to process and a performance standard. The notification element required the City of Adak or the City of Atka to notify NMFS by November 1 of the intent to process non-CDQ

¹³ The AI subarea directed fishing allowance is the TAC minus the ICA and CDQ allowance.

directed AI Pacific cod in the upcoming year. If the cities had failed to notify NMFS of the intent to process AI Pacific cod, then the set aside would be suspended for the upcoming year and the cooperative could deliver BSAI Pacific cod to any processor. The performance standard for AI shoreplants required that the processor receive 1,000 mt or more of the set aside prior to February 28th otherwise the set aside would be suspended for the remainder of the year thus allowing a cooperative the flexibility to deliver their Pacific cod harvest to any processor. The Council's intent for including a notification process and a performance standard for AI shoreplants was to address the potential for unharvested AI Pacific cod while also providing for the sustained participation of AI shoreside processing activity and remote fishing communities in the AI.

Another approach for addressing the absence of a reliable shoreside processor for the AI Pacific cod set aside would be the development of a contractually defined exemption similar to the Western AI gold king crab (WAG) fishery (Amendment 37). In the WAG fishery, a portion of the harvesting quota is designated for delivery and processing west of 174° W. longitude. To address the potential lack of processing capacity for the portion of harvesting quota designated for delivery and processing west of 174° W. longitude, the Council developed, and NMFS implemented an exemption to the regional landing requirement. Eligible participants can submit an application to NMFS at any time during the crab fishery. Once the application is completed, NMFS exempts the WAG quota from the west regional delivery for the remainder of the crab fishing year. Signatories include identified quota shareholders, processor quota shareholders, and municipalities who are eligible to apply for an exemption. This approach provides the flexibility necessary for eligible contract signatories to request an exemption at any point during the crab fishing year. This same approach could be utilized to accommodate the potential situations where there is no operational AI shoreside processor if an AI set aside requirement is include in a trawl CV LAPP.

4.5.3.3 Allocation of Harvester Quota to Al Shoreplants

Another option is for the Council to assign annual harvester shares to the AI shoreplants. Under this approach, AI shoreplants could be allocated a set percentage of the non-CDQ BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector allocation. The Council would need to determine the appropriate percentage of the sector allocation to allocate to the shoreplant(s). Through an allocation of harvesting quota to processors:

- Harvesting quota would only be allocated during years when the AI shoreplant(s) notify NMFS that they will be operating.
- Harvesting quota could only be delivered to AI shoreplants that are issued QS, unless the AI shoreplants agree to CVs delivering the fish elsewhere.
- The shoreplants would likely lease the catch shares resulting from their harvesting quota to trawl CVs to harvest the catch shares.

One issue that would need to be addressed under this structure is how the harvesting quota would be divided up among shoreplants if a new shoreplant was built in the AI in addition to the existing shoreplant in Adak. In that case, the Council will need to develop an allocation formula that is not based on history, since the new shoreplants will not have had history in the fishery. This issue will likely be contentious and if more shoreplants enter the fishery it could lead to requests for ever increasing percentages of the BSAI trawl CV sector allocation being assigned to the AI shoreside processors.

4.5.3.4 An AI Regional Fishing Association

Another approach for promoting sustained participation for communities would be to develop a regional fishing association (RFA) whose board of directors includes representation from communities in the AI west of 170° longitude that have a processor that notifies NMFS they intend to process Pacific cod the following year. The MSA defines an RFA and the requirements for one to form in Section 303A(c)(4). To be eligible to participate in a LAPP to harvest fish, a regional fishery association must

- be located within the management area of the relevant Council;
- meet criteria developed by the relevant Council, approved by the Secretary, and published in the **Federal Register**;
- be a voluntary association with established by-laws and operating procedures;
- consist of participants in the fishery who hold QS that are designated for use in the specific area covered by the regional fishery association, including... processing or fishing communities;
- not be eligible to receive an initial allocation of a limited access privilege but may acquire such privileges after the initial allocation, and may hold the annual fishing privileges of any limited access privileges it holds or the annual fishing privileges that members contribute; and
- develop and submit a regional fishery association plan to the Council and the Secretary for approval based on criteria developed by the Council that have been approved by the Secretary and published in the Federal Register.

If members fail to comply with the plan the Secretary "shall" deny or revoke limited access privileges granted. This provides NMFS and the Council a continued oversight role in the process.

As stated in the MSA, an RFA is not eligible to be initially allocated harvesting privileges, thus if the Council pursues this option and established RFAs, it may allow this AI community organization to buy in to a Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP. Catch history could be acquired through purchases or donations from existing LLP license holders that are allocated harvesting privileges. Those harvesting shares could be held by the RFA which would determine internally determine who would harvest these shares and where they would be processed. Thus, this option provides more annually flexibility for adjustments based on the number of processors available. However, it also runs the risk of providing no regional benefits if the RFA cannot afford to acquire harvesting quota and may also lead to contagious decisions about who would be harvesting the allocation.

4.6 Ownership and Use Caps

Topics of Council consideration:

- \rightarrow How will the Council address the MSA requirement for excessive share caps?
 - At what percentage of the harvesting pool should an ownership cap be set?
 - How should partial holdings be evaluated (e.g. individually and collectively)?
 - Should those with higher levels of participation be "grandfathered in" at that allocation?
- → Should there be a vessel use cap, limiting the amount an individual vessel can harvest in a year?
 - If so, what level should the vessel cap be set?
- \rightarrow Should there be cooperative ownership/ use caps, limiting the amount of harvesting privileges a cooperative can hold overall or use in a year?
- → Should there be processing use caps, limiting the amount of harvesting privileges that can be processed at one plant?

→ Is the Council concerned about BSAI trawl CV fishing opportunities consolidating onto AFA vessels?

Along with the assignment of Pacific cod trawl CV catch history to LLP licenses, the proposed action could incentivize the stacking of LLP licenses on vessels, transfer of quota within the cooperative to more efficient vessels, and the consolidation of ownership to promote the efficient harvest of that Pacific cod catch history. Given this motivation for consolidation of harvesting privileges, all LAPPs must consider excessive share provisions as part of the program.

If it is appropriate to establish excessive share caps for the program, the Council must define how these caps are calculated and applied. An ownership cap is generally applied as a percentage of the total pool of quota that an individual may hold and/ or acquire. Many programs have "grandfather provisions" that allow participants that have been operating at higher rate of participation continue to operate at that level, while ownership caps bar them from acquiring additional harvesting privileges and further exceeding the caps.

In the sablefish and halibut IFQ Program, ownership caps are typically calculated by summing all of the QS units or IFQ pounds held by that person and their percentage of direct or indirect ownership in any entity that holds QS or IFQ. This method of determining when a cap is reached is often referred to as the "individual and collective" rule. The way the calculation works for individuals, for example, is that an individual who holds 100 pounds of IFQ and has a 5 percent interest in a company that holds 100 pounds of IFQ, the amount of IFQ that person would be considered to hold for use cap calculation is 100 pounds (their personal holdings) plus 5 pounds (5 percent of 100 pounds - their ownership interest in that company) for a total 105 pounds.

In the Crab Rationalization Program, NMFS accounted for both harvesting and processing shares, so the accounting method is somewhat different. For a corporation, partnership, or other non-individual entity that holds QS or IFQ and also holds PQS or IPQ, NMFS uses a 10 percent threshold rule. In this case, the use cap is equal to all of the QS or IFQ held by that person and all of the QS or IFQ held by any entity in which that non-individual has a 10 percent or greater direct or indirect ownership interest. For example, a corporation that holds 100 pounds of IFQ and has a 15 percent interest in a company that holds 100 pounds of IFQ, would be considered to hold 200 pounds of IFQ for use cap calculation. If that same non-individual held 9 percent of a company that holds 100 pounds of IFQ, none of that IFQ would count against the firm's cap.

To provide information for the proposed trawl CV Pacific cod LAPP, the targeted BSAI Pacific cod catch by LLP holder was aggregated for the years 2012 through 2018. The four addresses with the most and least catch (greater than zero) were averaged. The results are reported in Figure 4-2. The four addresses associated with LLP licenses that were reported to have been assigned the most catch averaged 8.6 percent of the sector's catch (or over 34 percent in total). The address associated with the fifth greatest catch was 3.8 percent. This provides some context on appropriate ownership caps depending on the Council's goals and objectives. For example, if the ownership cap was set at 4 percent and the four firms above the cap were grandfathered in at their historical level, about 20 firms could hold all of the QS.



Figure 4-2 Percentage (2012 through 2018) of targeted BSAI CV trawl Pacific cod associated with LLP licenses with the same mailing address

Note: The four smallest and largest amounts were averaged to protect confidential information.

In addition to the ownership caps described in this section, persons are currently limited to holding 10 groundfish LLP licenses unless they were grandfathered to hold more at the time of the initial allocation. A person that was grandfathered to hold more than 10 groundfish LLP licenses may not acquire a new LLP license unless the new LLP license would not result in the person holding more than ten LLP licenses after the transaction is complete. An LLP license may be transferred only once per calendar year.

The Council may also consider establishing a vessel use cap, a cooperative ownership and/ or use cap, and processor use caps. A vessel use cap restricts the pounds that can be consolidated and harvested on one vessel during the year. This is a measure the Council may consider if it wanted to limit the level of consolidation that could occur or as a provision to protect captain/crew employment. As demonstrated in Table 3-2, not all cooperative programs include this type of provision (they are included in AFA, Amendment 80 and the Rockfish Program, not applicable for vessels in the Crab Rationalization Program if they are part of cooperative). Further analysis would need to be done to evaluate the distribution of harvest across the trawl CV sector in order to understand what would define minimum number of vessels that would be required to fish within the cooperatives to harvest the entire allocation.

A cooperative ownership cap would restrict the amount of harvesting privileges that could be associated with a cooperative (the converse of a requirement that a certain percent of the total harvesting privileges would be needed to establish a cooperatives; as described in Section 4.2.2.2). A cooperative use cap would restrict the amount of harvesting privileges that could be fished by one cooperative. The Rockfish Program includes a CV cooperative use cap which limits both how much a CV cooperative may hold or use of primary rockfish species cooperative quota in that program.

Processing caps exist for the Crab Rationalization Program, AFA and the Rockfish Program. This type of cap would restrict how much of the harvesting privileges may be received or processed at a processor. For example, a rockfish processor may not receive or process an amount of sablefish harvested with CQ assigned to the CV sector greater than 30.0 percent of sablefish CQ issued to the catcher vessel sector during a calendar year (see Table 3-2 for the details for each program).

In addition to consolidation at the firm-level, the proposed action may incentivize consolidation of LLP licenses at the sector level (i.e. AFA versus non-AFA). As demonstrated in Table 3 and Table 1-1, the majority of BSAI Pacific cod harvested in the trawl CV sector is routinely harvested by AFA vessels. Without specific Council action, consolidation may result in non-AFA LLP licenses being purchased and stacked onto AFA vessels, along with AFA-derived LLP licenses. While the non-AFA LLP license with Pacific cod catch history could always be separated and transferred for use by a non-AFA vessel, this type of consolidation could diminish entry opportunities for non-AFA vessels to participate in this sector of fishing. The Council should determine whether this is a concern.

If there is a concern, future analysis could examine ways to prevent this type of consolidation. For example, the Council may consider separating the AFA and non-AFA Pacific cod trawl CV allocations while still developing a similar LAPP for both sub-sectors or the Council could consider prohibiting AFA vessels from using non-AFA trawl LLP licenses that have Pacific cod trawl CV catch history assigned.

4.7 Sideboard Limits

Topics of Council consideration:

- \rightarrow Should any new sideboard limits be established?
 - If so, would there be any exemptions?

→ Should existing BSAI Pacific cod sideboard limits be eliminated?

As explained in Section 4.3.2.1, sideboards have been established in some of the North Pacific LAPPs to prevent those receiving harvesting privileges from using the flexibility granted by this allocation to expand into other fisheries at levels that exceed their historic participation. The AFA program is the only BSAI groundfish LAPP that has established CV sideboard limits. The Central GOA Rockfish Program established CV sideboards for rockfish species in the Western GOA and West Yakutat District that apply during July. The Crab Rationalization Program also established groundfish sideboards for CVs. The CV sideboard limits that have been developed for previous LAPPs as well as the potential need for sideboard limits as part of the proposed Pacific cod programs are discussed in this section.

4.7.1 AFA Sideboards

The final rule implementing the AFA established several species sideboard limits for vessels that are authorized to harvest pollock in the Bering Sea. These sideboard limits were established to protect the interests of fishermen and processors who do not directly benefit from the AFA from those fishermen and processors who received exclusive harvesting and processing privileges under the AFA. Historically, some of these sideboard limits have been implemented through directed fishing closures in regulation when the size of the sideboard limit would not support a directed fishery while other sideboard limits that were open to directed fishing were implemented through the annual harvest specifications process.

Regulations to streamline and simplify NMFS's management of AFA groundfish sideboard limits were published under 84 FR 2723, which became effective on March 11, 2019. After passage of the AFA, NMFS was required to calculate numerous sideboard limits as part of the annual BSAI and GOA harvest specifications process and publish those limits in the **Federal Register**. Simultaneously, NMFS would prohibit directed fishing for the majority of the groundfish species subject to these sideboard limits because most sideboard limits are too small each year to support directed fishing. Rather than continue this annual process of calculating all sideboard limits and then closing most of the groundfish species with sideboard limits to directed fishing, the Council approved and the Secretary implemented a rule (referred to here as the "Small Sideboard action") to prohibit directed fishing by non-exempt AFA vessels for those groundfish species and species groups subject to sideboard limits that had not been opened to

directed fishing and that are not expected to be opened to directed fishing in the foreseeable future. As part of the rule NMFS ceased calculating and publishing the relevant sideboard limits in the BSAI and GOA groundfish harvest specifications.

4.7.1.1 AFA Sideboards in the BSAI

The analysis developed for the Small Sideboard action indicated that in the BSAI only the Pacific cod trawl gear CV sector allocation sideboard and the yellowfin sole sideboard fisheries would not be affected by the proposed action (Table 4-11) (NPFMC, 2018). If the Council implements a BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP, as suggested in the proposed action, the AFA sideboards for the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV fishery may no longer be necessary.

The BSAI yellowfin sole fishery is discussed in more detail in Section 4.7.3. All other BSAI non-pollock fisheries would continue to be closed to fishing by AFA CVs due to the implementation of the Small Sideboard action.

Table 4-11	AFA sideboard limits open for directed fishing along with their AFA CV BSAI sideboard ratios,
	2011-2017 average sideboard limits (mt), and 2017 sideboard limit (mt)

Target species and gear	Area/Season	Sideboard ratio ¹	2017 TAC ³ (mt)	2017 sideboard limit (mt)	Average sideboard limit (2011-2017) (mt)
	BSAI Jan 20 - Apr 1	0.8609	34,962	30,099	31,309
Pacific cod trawl gear CV	BSAI Apr 1 - Jun 10	0.8609	5,197	4,474	4,654
	BSAI Jun 10 - Nov 1	0.8609	7,087	6,101	6,346
Yellowfin sole ²	All	0.0647	154,000	no sideboard limit	no sideboard limit

Source: NMFS

¹Determined using a ratio of 1995 to 1997 AFA CV catch to 1995 to 1997 TAC

²The sideboard limit for BSAI yellow fin sole is suspended when the initial TAC is equal to or greater than 125,000 mt in order to allow AFA sectors the potential to expand their harvest in the yellow fin sole fishery in periods of diminished availability of pollock (§ 679.64(a)(1)(v) and § 679.64(b)(6)).

³Al Pacific ocean perch, and BSAI Atka mackerel, flathead sole, Pacific cod, and rock sole are multiplied by the remainder of the TAC of that species after the subtraction of the CDQ reserve under § 679.20(b)(1)(ii)(C).

4.7.1.2 AFA Sideboards in the GOA

Many of the GOA sideboard fisheries would continue to be closed to directed fishing in regulation as a result of the Small Sideboard's action. The fisheries in the GOA for which NMFS would continue to calculate sideboard limits are shown in Table 4-12. All remaining GOA directed fishing would be closed to GOA non-exempt AFA CVs by regulation. The 16 GOA exempt AFA CVs would continue to be allowed to fish in any GOA fishery that was open to directed fishing by CVs not subject to sideboard limits, unless the Council determines that it is necessary to place sideboard limits on these vessels as part of this Pacific cod action. The AFA action determined that it was not necessary because these were heavily dependent on the GOA and had limited amount of BSAI pollock history.

Target Species	Apportionments by season/gear	Area/component	Sideboard ratio ¹	2017 TACs (mt)	2017 sideboard limit (mt)	Average sideboard limit 2011-2017 (mt)
		Shumagin (610)	0.6047	2,232	1,350	2,537
	A Season Jan 20 - Mar 10	Chirikof (620)	0.1167	34,549	4,032	2,946
		Kodiak (630)	0.2028	11,014	2,234	1,730
		Shumagin (610)	0.6047	2,232	1,350	2,537
	B Season Mar 10 - May 31	Chirikof (620)	0.1167	39,420	4,600	3,505
		Kodiak (630)	0.2028	6,143	1,246	759
Pollock		Shumagin (610)	0.6047	19,569	11,834	8,398
FUIIUCK	C Season Aug 25 - Oct 1	Chirikof (620)	0.1167	12,341	1,440	1,256
		Kodiak (630)	0.2028	15,886	3,222	2,701
		Shumagin (610)	0.6047	19,569	11,834	7,492
	D Season Oct 1 - Nov 1	Chirikof (620)	0.1167	12,341	1,440	1,678
		Kodiak (630)	0.2028	15,886	3,222	2,565
	Annual	WYK (640)	0.3495	7,492	2,618	1,760
	Annual	SEO (650)	0.3495	9,920	3,467	3,333
	A Season Jan 1 - Jun 10	W	0.1331	15,242	2,029	1,926
Pacific cod	A Season Jan 1 - Jun 10	С	0.0692	19,881	1,376	1,637
Facilie cou	B Season Sept 1 - Dec 31	W	0.1331	10,161	1,352	1,283
	D Season Sept 1 - Dec ST	С	0.0692	13,254	917	1,091
Shallow-water flatfish	Annual	W	0.0156	13,250	207	187
	Annuar	С	0.0587	19,306	1,133	1,046
Deep-water flatfish	Annual	С	0.0647	3,454	223	202
Deep-water nation	Annuar	E	0.0128	5,582	71	68
Rexsole	Annual	С	0.0384	4,930	171	222
Arrowtooth flounder	Annual	С	0.028	75,000	2,100	1,920
Flathead sole	Annual	С	0.0213	15,400	328	296
Pacific ocean perch	Annual	С	0.0748	16,671	1,247	1,015
•	/ 1110/01	E	0.0466	4,568	213	167
Northern Rockfish	Annual	С	0.0277	3,354	93	93

Table 4-12AFA sideboard limits open for directed fishing along with their AFA CV GOA sideboard ratios,
2017 TACs, 2017 sideboard limits, and 2011-2017 average sideboard limits

Source: NMFS

¹Determined using a ratio of 1995 to 1997 AFA CV catch to 1995 to 1997 TAC

4.7.2 Non-AFA CV Sideboards

LLP licenses assigned to non-AFA vessels that have reported BSAI Pacific cod landings when operating as a CV are varied in their attributes. Some of the LLP licenses are owned by Amendment 80 firms while others are owned by persons not affiliated with any BSAI LAPP. A summary of those LLP licenses used by non-AFA vessels are presented in Table 4-13. The LLP holder name, LLP number, and ownership information are not reported. There is a total of 18 of those LLP licenses, only 15 have been used to harvest BSAI Pacific cod as a trawl CV since 2008. LLP licenses 8, 12, and 16 in Table 4-13 are the LLP licenses not used during that more recent period. One firm owns or controls 6 of the 18 LLP licenses.

To summarize, these LLP licenses may be used on vessels that range from under 60 ft LOA to almost 300 ft LOA. Six of the 18 LLP licenses do not have an endorsement to fish in either the Central GOA or Western GOA. None of the LLP licenses have an endorsement for the Eastern GOA. Because the GOA appears to be the most likely area to need sideboard protections, if the Council determines they are necessary at all, the 12 LLP licenses endorsed to fish in either the Central GOA or Western GOA are examined more closely.

- One LLP license is only endorsed to fish in the Western GOA (trawl only).
- Three LLP licenses are endorsed to only fish in the Central GOA (trawl only).
 - Two are C/P designated LLP licenses owned by the same company.
 - One is subject to Rockfish Program sideboards (apply during July, when rockfish were traditionally fished in the Central GOA, to certain rockfish species in the West Yakutat District and Western GOA).

- The other has BSAI yellowfin sole endorsement to deliver to a MS.
- The third is a CV endorsed LLP license that has >60 AI transferable endorsement.
- Eight LLP licenses are endorsed for both GOA areas
 - Three have CV Rockfish Program sideboard limitations (CV Rockfish Program sideboard limits apply during July to dusky rockfish and Pacific ocean perch in the West Yakutat District).
 - o One has a Crab Program GOA sideboard limit, except for pollock and Pacific cod
 - Two have not been used in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery since 2008.
 - One is a C/P that is subject to Rockfish Program sideboard limits
 - One is <60' LOA and has a Western GOA Pacific cod pot endorsement and a linked crab LLP license.

 Table 4-13
 LLP licenses used on non-AFA vessels to make BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV landings from 2003 through 2018

GF	Crab	LLP								YSOL		RP Sideboa	rd I	RP Quo	a		AI
LLP	LLP	Address	Туре	MLOA	AI	BS	CG	WG	PCOD	BSAI	Crab Sideboards	CV CI		CV C	P A80	<60	>60
1		1	CV	<110	Ν	Т	Ν	Т	Ν	Y	N	N N		N I	I N	N	Y
2	2C	2	CV	<110	N	Non-T; T	Non-T; T	Non-T; T	Ν	Ν	GOA-except plck & cod	N N		N I	I N	N	Ν
3		1	C/P	<150	Т	Т	N	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	N N		N I	I N	N	Ν
4		1	C/P	<200	Т	Т	Т	Ν	N	Y	Ν	N N		N I	I N	N	Ν
5		1	C/P	>200	Т	Т	Т	Т	N	Y	Ν	N Y		N I	I N	N	Ν
6		1	CV	<100	Ν	Т	N	N	N	Ν	N	N N		N I	I N	N	Y
7		3	CV	<110	Ν	Т	Т	Т	N	Ν	Ν	Y N		Y I	I N	N	Ν
8		4	CV	<60	Ν	Non-T; T	Non-T; T	Non-T; T	WG CV Pot	Ν	Ν	N N		N I	I N	Y	Ν
9		5	C/P	<200	Non-T; T	Non-T; T	N	N	N	Y	N	N N		N I	I N	N	Ν
10		1	C/P	<200	Non-T; T	N	N	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	N N		N I	I N	N	Ν
11	11C	6	CV	<60	Ν	Non-T; T	Non-T; T	Non-T; T	WG CV Pot	Ν	Ν	N N		N I	I N	N	Ν
12		7	CV	<100	Non-T; T	N	Non-T	Non-T; T	CV HAL (CG & AI)	Ν	Ν	N N		N I	I N	N	Ν
13		8	CV	<125	Ν	Т	Т	Т	N	Ν	N	Y N		Y I	I N	N	Y
14		9	CV	<110	Ν	Т	Т	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	N N		N I	I N	N	Y
15	15C	10	CV	<125	Ν	т	N	Ν	Ν	Y	GOA Sideboarded	N N		N I	I N	N	Ν
16		11	C/P	<125	Ν	Т	N	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	N N		N I	I Y	N	Ν
17		12	CV	<110	Ν	т	т	т	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y N		Y I	I N	N	Ν
18		1	C/P	>200	N	Т	т	Ν	N	N	Ν	N Y		N	γY	N	Ν

T = Trawl; Non-T = non-trawl

If the Council determines that sideboard limits are appropriate for the non-AFA trawl CVs in GOA fisheries, additional data will need to be collected on these LLP licenses in terms of their relative dependence on the BSAI versus GOA. In the BSAI they accounted for about 11 percent of the targeted Pacific cod catch by CVs.

The Crab Rationalization Program sideboard limits that are open to directed fishing in the GOA after the Small Sideboards action was implemented are listed in Table 4-14. Neither of the two non-AFA vessels subject to Crab Program sideboard limits have a Western GOA or Central GOA pot endorsement for Pacific cod and would be prohibited from participating in those fisheries.

Target species and gear	Area/Season	Area/component/gear	Sideboard ratio ¹	2017 TACs (mt)	2017 sideboard limit (mt)	Average sideboard limit (2011-2017) (mt)
		WG Pot CV	0.0997	15,242	1520	1,456
	A Season - Jan 1 - Jun 10	WG Pot C/P	0.0078	15,242	119	114
	A Season - Jan 1 - Jun 10	CG Pot CV	0.0474	19,881	942	1,117
Pacific cod ²		CGPot C/P	0.0136	19,881	270	320
Pacific cod-		WG Pot CV	0.0997	10,161	1013	970
	Dessen Cond Des 21	WG Pot C/P	0.0078	10,161	79	76
	B Season - Sep 1 - Dec 31	CG Pot CV	0.0474	13,254	628	745
		CGPot C/P	0.0136	13,254	180	214

Table 4-14 Crab Rationalization Program sideboards (non-AFA vessels) that open to directed fishing

Source: NMFS

¹Ratio of 1996-2000 non-AFA crab vessel catch to 1996-2000 total harvest.

² Prior to 2012, Pacific cod was apportioned only by as inshore and offshore, so sideboard limits were not included in this table for 2011.

4.7.3 BSAI Yellowfin Sole

AFA also includes CV sideboards for participation in the BSAI yellowfin sole (trawl limited access) fishery.¹⁴ An AFA CV sideboard ratio of 0.0647 is set for years in which the initial total allowable catch (ITAC) falls below a 125,000 mt threshold (Table 4-11). This prevents the AFA CV sector from exceeding a harvest level based on historical catch by this sector in years when the yellowfin sole TAC is relatively low. Since the Amendment 80 sector is secure in its allocation of yellowfin sole, this relaxation of the sideboard in years where the TAC is relatively high, is meant to facilitate a directed fishing opportunity for these AFA vessels, which is not in competition with the Amendment 80 allocation. The AFA CV sideboards apply to CVs delivering to motherships as well as any AFA CVs that were to deliver shoreside.

However, the BSAI yellowfin sole fishery has essentially operated as an offshore fishery; including C/Ps and CVs that deliver to motherships. CVs that participate in the fishery and deliver to motherships must have an endorsement on their LLP license to operate. BSAI Amendment 116 limited the number of LLP licenses with a yellowfin sole mothership endorsement to eight. Two of those LLP licenses are associated with AFA CVs and are subject to the AFA BSAI yellowfin sole sideboard limit regulations. The other six are not associated with AFA vessels.

Under the proposed Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP, the Council may choose to keep the AFA CV yellowfin sole sideboard limits in place as the reason for these sideboards have not changed. Again, this sideboard is only applied in years when the BSAI yellowfin sole TAC is less than 125,000 mt. Since 2008, the yellowfin sole ITAC has been higher than 125,000 mt, so yellowfin sole sideboard limits have not been applied for AFA vessels.

The Council may also consider if implementation of a Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP would necessitate yellowfin sole sideboards for the non-AFA sector. For instance, if the six non-AFA vessels that have a yellowfin sole mothership endorsement received Pacific cod harvesting privileges and leased them to their cooperative, perhaps they could use that opportunity to expand their effort in the yellowfin sole fishery. While the BSAI yellowfin sole fishery has essentially been an offshore fishery, if a shoreside or stationary floating processor market ever developed for yellowfin sole, it may open this fishery to additional non-AFA trawl CV vessels that may or may not have benefited from a Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP. CVs may deliver BSAI yellowfin sole to shorebased or stationary floating processors without being subject to the LLP yellowfin sole mothership endorsement requirement. Any CV with a trawl endorsed BS and/or AI LLP license may delivery yellowfin sole to a shorebased or stationary floating processor. If the Council is not concerned about future growth in shoreside or stationary floating

¹⁴ AFA also includes sideboards for AFA CP operating in the BSAI yellowfin sole fishery; however, these sideboards are less relevant to this discussion.

processor deliveries, and/or growth in non-AFA sector delivering to motherships since LLP mothership endorsements are necessary, then the Council may choose not to include yellowfin sole sideboard limits for the non-AFA trawl CVs at this time. Using a pattern similar to AFA sideboards, if the Council choses to set sideboard limits for non-AFA CVs under the proposed action, it might choose to only apply the sideboard limit when the ITAC is less than 125,000 mt.

4.8 Impacts to Captains and Crew

Topics of Council consideration:

- → Will the program include any regulatory provisions to mitigate negative impacts on captains and crew?
- \rightarrow Will the program include economic data collection on captains and crew?

This section considers potential impacts on captain and crew from the development of LAPPs in a general sense, highlights examples of tools that have been used to mitigate negative impacts in other LAPPs, and includes some preliminary discussion on captain and crew considerations for a BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV fishery LAPP. As the Council hones a set of alternatives and options, future analysis should more directly consider expected impacts for captains and crew of historical vessels within the nuances of the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV fishery.

4.8.1 Captains and Crew Effects Due to LAPP Implementation

The shift in management to a rationalized fishery can impact participating captains and crew in several ways. For captain and crew that remain in the fishery, the nature of the position can change, sometimes in positive ways. For instance, implementation of other Council-designed LAPPs, such as the halibut and sablefish IFQ Program and the BSAI Crab Rationalization Program, have resulted in longer fishing seasons that operate at a slower pace, with higher catches per vessel. This can produce benefits for captains and crew such as increased safety and more career stability including certainty in access and schedule, allowing crew to plan better.

Introduction of LAPP management can also change the basis of crew compensation. For crew that remain in the fishery this shift can been financially beneficial - depending on which metrics are examined. Analysis of the BSAI Crab Rationalization Program demonstrated substantially greater average/ median earnings for crew since implementation, but overall a lower percent of gross exvessel revenue has been directed toward crew compensation given the introduction of new administrative costs and quota leasing costs (NPFMC, 2012a).

The assignment of harvesting privileges through an IFQ- or cooperative- based LAPP can also motivate consolidation of harvesting privileges, particularly if a goal of the program is to address an overcapitalized fleet. While LAPP management can provide efficiency gains for the fleet overall, this shift in management can also create negative spillover impacts for captains and crew that were not assigned harvesting privileges and must now seek opportunity elsewhere. Moreover, limited access programs that assign harvesting privileges often increase the barriers to entry in a fishery and change the routes to upward mobility within the fishery.

4.8.2 Examples of Captain and Crew Provisions in Other Programs

MSA states that the Council may also include measures to assist entry-level and small vessel owneroperators, captains, crew, and fishing communities through set-asides of harvesting allocations, including providing privileges, which may include set-asides or allocations of harvesting privileges, or economic assistance in the purchase of limited access privileges. As stated, the measures to assist captains and crew are not prescribed in MSA and thus, LAPPs previously developed by the Council have used a variety of approaches and placed varying degrees of emphasis on mitigating captain and crew impacts. The level of regulatory involvement and types of measures considered depends primarily on the nature of the fishery pre-rationalization (for instance, is it more owner-operated operations or comprised of more large-scale businesses) and the Council and stakeholders' vision for the fishery moving forward.

As previously compared in Table 3-2 and expanded on below, the Council has relied on several types of regulatory mechanisms in past programs designed to address impacts on captains and crew. In addition to the cooperative programs highlighted in Section 3, the following section includes provisions used in the Halibut and Sablefish IFQ fishery as an example of a program with a greater variety of measures designed to mitigate negative captain and crew impacts. Not all the following mechanisms may be appropriate for a BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV fishery LAPP. The following are intended to highlight the breadth of regulatory measures that have been used in the past to mitigate negative impacts on captains and crew.

- Active participation requirements To ensure program benefits accrue to active participants, such as captains and crew rather than absentee owners, the Halibut and Sablefish IFQ fishery and Crab Rationalization Program both include requirements to demonstrate past and/ or current participation on board a vessel. Requirements vary; as one of the original objectives of the Halibut and Sablefish IFQ Program was to assure that these two fisheries are dominated by owner/operator operations (NFPMC/ NMFS, 2016), the requirements are relatively more restrictive in this program. The Halibut and Sablefish IFQ fishery requires CV quota holders to be onboard the vessel (with exceptions for initial issues and some leasing arrangements). For both programs, obtaining quota by transfer requires a demonstration of at least 150 days of past crew experience.
- **Crew shares** While the majority of harvesting quota in the Crab Rationalization Program was issued to LLP license holders based on the licenses' history, the Crab Rationalization Program also issued 3 percent of the initial allocation of harvesting quota to eligible captains in order to protect captains' historical interests in the program fisheries. These "C shares" have more restrictive requirements on demonstrating active participation and can be revoked if those requirements are not met.
- Vessel use caps Limits on how many pounds of quota a vessel can harvest in a year have been established for the Halibut and Sablefish IFQ fishery, Amendment 80, and the CGOA Rockfish Program (differentiated between CV limits and C/Ps limits). These restrictions limit the amount of total vessel consolidation that can occur. Without alternative opportunities, consolidation can lead to a decrease in the availability of captain and crew job, thus this type of provisions may prevent the displacement of some captain and crew in these fisheries.
- **Cooperative use caps** Limits on the amount of quota that a cooperative may hold, or harvest have also been in places for CV cooperatives in the CGOA Rockfish Program. These restrictions ensure there are multiple cooperative that form (at least 4) and also limits consolidation.
- Lending authority for loans through NMFS Fisheries Finance Program The Halibut and Sablefish IFQ fishery and Crab Rationalization Programs include low interest loan opportunity through a Federal Program. This program is designed assist eligible captains and crew in purchasing quota or cover the cost of construction or reconstruction of fishing vessels.
- **Tracking information on captains and crew** The CR and Amendment 80 programs include economic data collections (Economic Data Reports; EDRs) to assess the economic impacts of a program on captains and crew. For instance, in the Crab Rationalization Program the Council continues to be focused on high lease rates of annual harvesting privileges, the amount of the lease rate that is charged against crew compensation, and the percent of gross revenue that is attributed to crew compensation. The Council tracks information on lease rates and crew

compensation in the industry's annual EDRs, which has been presented in the Crab Economic SAFE report as well as receiving information on lease rates directly from cooperative representatives during the annual cooperative report. These data have also been used to show program impacts through Crab Rationalization Program and Amendment 80 program reviews.

Non-regulatory methods (cooperative-led action) can also promote captain and crew benefits. For instance, the industry involved in the Crab Rationalization Program has created a right of first offer program to help facilitate the transfer of owner quota (non-C share quota) to active participates through their cooperative contracts. In the Halibut and Sablefish IFQ fishery, some crew members have unionized to advocate for crew interests.

4.8.3 Captain and Crew Considerations for the BSAI Pacific Cod Trawl CV Sector

The expectation of any negative impacts on captains and crew generally depends on the amount of consolidation that occurs and the alternative opportunities available to these two stakeholder groups. Thus, for the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV fishery, future analysis can more thoroughly examine the likelihood of consolidation due to the proposed action as well as the diversification and opportunities for these vessels outside of the Pacific cod trawl CV fishery. For instance, if an AFA vessel is allocated Pacific cod trawl CV catch history in addition to their ability to access BSAI pollock, it may be that their catch history of Pacific cod is caught by a different vessel, but this frees that captain and crew to focus on pollock. In this scenario, although consolidation may happen the captain and crew may not be disadvantaged in the shift in Pacific cod management. Moreover, although the purpose and need statement (Section 1.1) mentioned an increase in the number of LLP licenses active in the Pacific cod fishery it is not clear the level of concern associated with current overcapitalization versus the risk of additional participation.

Any assessment of captain and crew impacts in the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector will be stunted by the lack of data on crew residency, employment, and earnings. This precludes any rigorous evaluation of the changes in crew employment and earning and additional dimension of community impacts due to the implementation of a proposed program without a retrospective data collection of the conditions prior to implementation. Economic data for captains and crew have been collected for the GOA Economic Data Reports (EDRs), which included some vessels/ captains/ crew that also participated in the BSAI. These data have been referenced in past social impact analyses for the BSAI (e.g. NPFMC, 2019a); however, this analysis noted the lack of complete information was a substantive obstacle to a comprehensive analysis of the human dimensions of the fishery and the community footprint of potential social impacts associated with the proposed management actions. The Council may consider whether a BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP would include requiring economic data reporting, and if so, whether this would include captain and crew data. One limitation with implementing a reporting requirement after a program is implemented is that it will not be possible to compare changes in the captain and crew data before and after implementation of the program.

Generally, the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV fishery is not considered an entry-level sector; however, the proposed action is likely to exacerbate the cost of entry. Under the status quo, participating in this fishery requires a trawl vessel capable of operating the in the BSAI and an LLP license with the endorsements for these sub areas and trawl fishing, most of which are AFA derived (see Table 1-1). Layering harvesting privileges onto an already valuable LLP license, will further drive up the cost of access. Moreover, many of the LLP license provide opportunities to participate in other groundfish fisheries and may inflate the cost to participate in these fisheries as well.

4.9 Bycatch/PSC Management

Topics of Council consideration:

- \rightarrow What amount of halibut and crab PSC should be apportioned to a trawl CV sector LAPP?
- → Will halibut and crab PSC be further apportioned to cooperatives under the proposed LAPP?

• If so, how should PSC be apportioned by cooperative?

50 CFR 679.21(b)(2) and (e)(5) authorizes NMFS, after consulting with the Council, to establish seasonal apportionments of halibut and crab PSC amounts for the BSAI trawl limited access fisheries in order to maximize the ability of the fleet to harvest the available groundfish TAC and to minimize bycatch. The factors to be considered are (1) seasonal distribution of prohibited species, (2) seasonal distribution of target groundfish species relative to prohibited species distribution, (3) PSC bycatch needs on a seasonal basis relevant to prohibited species biomass and expected catches of target groundfish species, (4) expected variations in bycatch rates throughout the year, (5) expected changes in directed groundfish fishing seasons, (6) expected start of fishing effort, and (7) economic effects of establishing seasonal prohibited species apportionments on segments of the target groundfish industry. Based on these criteria, the Council recommends and NMFS approves the seasonal PSC apportionments to maximize harvest among fisheries and seasons while minimizing bycatch of PSC.

The Council's February 2019 motion requested this paper include implications for bycatch management including halibut savings to benefit the health of the halibut resource. In general, there is the potential that development of BSAI Pacific cod LAPPs will reduce their halibut PSC. Participants with exclusive shares could have time to be more selective in targeting their allocation and thereby potentially reduce their halibut PSC. This reduction in halibut PSC usage and bycatch rates from LAPPs is apparent in the Amendment 80 Program and the Central GOA Rockfish Program. In the Amendment 80 program review (NPFMC, 2014), halibut PSC and bycatch rate in the Amendment 80 fisheries has declined since implementation of Amendment 80 program in 2008. In the Central GOA Rockfish Program and the Rockfish Program. Halibut rates before the Pilot Program ranged from 1.5 to 3.0 kg of halibut per metric ton of total groundfish basis species. After the Pilot Program was implemented the rates decreased to about 0.25 kg of halibut per metric ton of total groundfish basis species to implement fishing strategies to reduce halibut PSC rates. In addition to the inherent reductions in PSC that may be attainable through cooperative management, the Council can always consider building in alternatives that specifically target PSC reductions.

4.9.1 Halibut PSC

The annual halibut PSC limit for the BSAI is set at 3,515 mt. That limit is allocated to the following BSAI fishing sectors based on regulations at 50 CFR 679.21(b)(1).

- 315 mt (9.0 percent) as the PSQ reserve for use by the groundfish CDQ program,
- 1,745 mt (49.6 percent) for the Amendment 80 sector,
- 745 mt (21.2 percent) for the BSAI trawl limited access sector, and
- 710 mt (20.2 percent) for the BSAI non-trawl sector.

Halibut PSC assigned to the trawl limited access sector is further divided by fishery, with 391 mt (52.5 percent) of the sector allocation designated for use in the BSAI Pacific cod fishery (see Table 4-15). This limit is shared by the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector and the BSAI Pacific cod AFA trawl C/P sector.

BSAI trawl limited access fisheries	Halibut (mt)
Yellowfin sole	150
Rockfish (April 15-Dec 31)	4
Pacific cod	391
Pollock/Atka mackerel/other species	200

Table 4-15 Final 2019 halibut PSC allowance (mt) for the BSAI trawl limited access sector

Source: Annual specifications (2019)

At present, the halibut discard mortality rate (DMR) assigned to pelagic trawl gear is 100 percent of the halibut caught. CVs using non-pelagic trawl gear are assigned a DMR of 59 percent. The DMR estimation methodology underwent revisions in 2016 and the new methodology was first used to modify DMRs in 2017 on a two-year cycle (81 FR 87863, December 6, 2016). The DMR for CVs using non-pelagic trawl gear decreased to 59 percent from 60 percent in 2019 using the revised methodology to calculate halibut mortality. Revising the DMR setting methodology is intended to improve estimation accuracy, transparency, and transferability in the methodology used for calculating DMRs.

Beginning in January 2020, new regulations will allow halibut bycatch to be sorted on the deck of trawl C/Ps and motherships when operating in the non-pollock groundfish fisheries off Alaska. Vessels choosing to participate in this voluntary program will be required to meet new catch handling and monitoring requirements in order to ensure the accurate accounting of halibut sorted on deck and returned to sea. Haul specific DMRs will be estimated for each vessel that chooses to deck sort halibut using methods detailed in the halibut deck sorting proposed rule (50 CFR 679, April 16th, 2019).

The Council is also currently considering a halibut abundance based management (ABM) strategy to formulate annual halibut PSC limits in the BSAI that would fluctuate based on estimated halibut abundance. Under an ABM approach, halibut PSC would be set annually based on the results of one or more survey's conducted by NMFS and/or the International Pacific Halibut Commission (<u>BSAI Halibut Abundance-based Management of PSC Limits – North Pacific Fishery Management Council</u>). Depending on the direction the Council pursues on this action, the change in methodology could impact the way halibut PSC limits are calculated or applied under a BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP. The Council is scheduled to receive their initial review of the halibut ABM action at its October 2019 meeting.

4.9.2 Crab PSC

Red king crab (Zone 1), C. opilio (COBLZ), and C. bairdi (Zone 1 and Zone 2) PSC limits are established for the trawl limited access sector (see Table 4-16). Like for halibut, crab PSC limits are further divided by groundfish directed fishery. The yellowfin sole fishery is apportioned most of the crab PSC limit, followed by Pacific cod.

BSAI trawl limited access fisheries	Red king crab (Zone 1)	C. opilio (COBLZ)	C. bairdi (Zone 1)	C. bairdi (Zone 2)
Yellowfin sole	23,338	3,224,126	346,228	1,185,500
Rockfish (April 15-Dec 31)		5,326		1,000
Pacific cod	2,954	137,426	60,000	49,999
Pollock/Atka mackerel/other species	197	53,265	5,000	5,000

 Table 4-16
 Final 2019 crab PSC allowances (animals) for the BSAI trawl limited access sector

Source: Annual specification (2019)

4.9.3 PSC Apportionment Issues

Should the Council move forward with the development of a LAPP for Pacific cod trawl CVs, it could consider apportioning the cooperatives their own portion of halibut and crab PSC limits based on member Pacific cod allocations. Apportioning PSC along with a target species is typical in other Council-developed LAPPs. Having sector-level PSC rates could continue the incentives to race-for-fish, because shared PSC could become a constraining factor on the cooperatives' ability to catch their Pacific cod harvest privileges. With each cooperative getting their own allocation of halibut and crab PSC allowance, the cooperatives no longer would be concerned with the PSC of other vessels outside the cooperatives closing their cooperative fishery prematurely. Moreover, it may create more direct personal incentive to keep PSC rates low, as this would allow cooperatives the ability to continuing harvesting Pacific cod. However, apportioning transferable PSC allocations to the cooperative level would require these vessels to be the full coverage category in the Observer Program (see further discussion in Section 4.10.2).

There are two primary issues that need to be addressed based on previous Council direction in developing a LAPP. The first is the amount of PSC species that would be apportioned to the trawl CV sector for use in the LAPP. The second is defining how the available PSC would be apportioned to cooperatives.

Looking at the first issue, the Council would need to define how much crab and halibut PSC would be available for the Pacific cod trawl CV sector. Two approaches are considered. The first PSC allocation approach would be to allocate a portion of the BSAI trawl limited access PSC based on the amount of Pacific cod allocated to the trawl CV and AFA C/P sectors. Because the trawl CV sector is allocated 22.1 percent of the available Pacific cod and the AFA C/Ps are allocated 2.3 percent of the available Pacific cod, the trawl CV sector is allocated 90.57 percent of the combined trawl CV and AFA C/P sector allocation for Pacific cod and the AFA C/Ps are allocated the remaining 9.43 percent.

Thus for halibut PSC, if the 391 mt of halibut PSC allowance assigned to the trawl limited access sector for Pacific cod targets were divided, it would result in the trawl CV sector being apportioned about 354 mt of halibut PSC and the AFA C/P sector being apportioned 37 mt. A primary drawback of this approach is that it assumes the trawl CV sector and AFA C/P sector harvest the same proportion of Pacific cod in the Pacific cod target fishery. However, 2003 through 2018 about 60 percent of the Pacific cod harvested by AFA C/Ps was taken in the pollock target fishery. Midwater pollock target catches accrue to the pollock/Atka mackerel/other species halibut PSC or crab PSC limits and reaching those limits does not close directed fishing using pelagic trawl gear. Because the AFA C/Ps use more of their Pacific cod allocation as incidental catch in other target fisheries, that sector would be relatively better off with regards to the halibut PSC apportionment since they would receive more halibut PSC then they have historically used since 2008 in their Pacific cod target fishery (see Table 4-17). Halibut PSC allocations under this approach may be sufficient for the trawl CV sector to harvest their allocation of BSAI Pacific cod TACs, unexpectedly high catch rates of halibut PSC, this apportionment could be more constraining to the target catch of BSAI Pacific cod in the trawl CV sector in some years.

Another approach the Council could utilize is to base the apportionment of crab and halibut PSC on the relative amount of Pacific cod used in the Pacific cod *target* fishery. Under this approach, the AFA C/P sector accounted for 3 percent of the combined trawl CV and AFA C/P target BSAI Pacific cod catch from 2003 through 2018. The trawl CV sector accounted for 97 percent. The AFA C/P sector Pacific cod usage is even lower if some of the early years during the 2003 through 2018 period are excluded since some of the early years accounted for as much as 8 percent in a year (see Table 4-17). A 3 percent apportionment means that the AFA trawl C/Ps would be allocated less than 12 mt of halibut to support their Pacific cod fishery. A summary of the halibut PSC usage in the Pacific cod target fisheries are reported in Table 4-17.

	Reported	Halibut mor	tality (mt)	Percent	of Total
Year	Trawl CV	AFA C/P	Total	Trawl CV	AFA C/P
2004	443	12	455	97%	3%
2005	596	54	650	92%	8%
2006	586	34	620	95%	5%
2007	427	25	452	94%	6%
2008	291	2	293	99%	1%
2009	181	2	183	99%	1%
2010	255	1	256	100%	0%
2011	238	2	240	99%	1%
2012	429	0	429	100%	0%
2013	309	1	310	100%	0%
2014	281	8	289	97%	3%
2015	236	4	240	98%	2%
2016	294	10	304	97%	3%
2017	221	17	238	93%	7%
2018	205	10	215	95%	5%

 Table 4-17
 Reported halibut mortality (mt) in the non-CDQ BSAI Pacific cod target fishery by trawl limited access sector vessels

Source: AFA C/P - Pollock Conservation Cooperative Reports; Trawl CV - AKFIN, May 2019. Sector_PSC (4-16-19)

In recent years the crab PSC in the Pacific cod BSAI trawl limited access sector has been well below the sector's limits. As a result, it does not appear that minor changes in the apportionment of the trawl limited access sector crab PSC limit among the trawl CV sector and the AFA trawl C/Ps will have as great an impact compared to halibut. The recent crab PSC for the two trawl sectors in the BSAI Pacific cod sector are reported in Table 4-18 and Table 4-19.

Table 4-18	Reported crab PSC in the trawl CV non-CDQ BSAI Pacific cod target fishery
------------	---

Species	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Red King crab	467	2,963	22	25	1,249	475	437	2,109	316	2	587	60	585	361	200
C. bairdi	44,927	57,138	56,284	28,355	34,632	6,778	21,714	12,206	8,035	6,313	8,304	10,247	11,069	9,201	1,945
C. opilio PSC (COBLZ)	86	59	12	89	349	251	14	42	0	321	2,291	71	5	0	0
Other C. opilio 4,924 6,485 18,274 8,406 17,657 8,144 4,003 5,702 5,902 4,814 1,640 1,072 30 701												760			

Table 4-19 Reported crab PSC in the AFA trawl C/P non-CDQ BSAI Pacific cod target fishery

Species	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Red King crab	385	75	7	21	60	0	25	51	0	0	0	0	13	0	0
C. bairdi	1,218	919	2,803	1,360	324	79	5	380	0	80	1,016	30	0	148	148
C. opilio PSC (COBLZ)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Other C. opilio	89	116	996	681	0	0	0	0	0	0	207	0	15	0	0

Source: AKFIN, May 2019. Sector_PSC (4-16-19)

The second issue that needs to be addressed is how to apportion the available PSC to the LLP license holders and ultimately the cooperatives that form. The most common approach for allocating PSC to cooperatives is to allocate the PSC in proportion to the target species allocated to a cooperative. In this case it would be BSAI Pacific cod. For example, if an LLP license was allocated 2 percent of the BSAI Pacific cod available under the LAPP, the license would also be apportioned 2 percent of the available halibut and crab PSC available under the LAPP. This approach has been used in other LAPP programs

because it does not reward or penalize harvesters for past PSC usage rates in the Pacific cod fishery. Each LLP license holder would be assigned the same percentage of each PSC species apportioned to the program at the same percentage as their BSAI Pacific cod apportionment. Previous Councils had considered allocating PSC based on the amount of PSC that was used to harvest the target catch or some inverse relation to that amount, but determined that allocating PSC at the same rate as the directed fishery species better met their objectives of a simple approach that did not reward fishing behavior that is contrary to its goals.

4.9.4 Groundfish Bycatch

In developing a Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP, the Council may need to consider both groundfish bycatch in the Pacific cod fishery as well as Pacific cod bycatch in other groundfish fisheries. General tools to address groundfish bycatch related to a Pacific cod LAPP include sideboards discussed in Section 4.7, maximum retainable amounts (MRAs) of groundfish harvested incidentally to Pacific cod (or if needed, the MRAs of Pacific cod harvested incidentally to other groundfish fisheries), and if the Council allocates Pacific cod by target catch, by establishing an incidental catch amount (ICA) to account for the harvest of Pacific cod for other directed fisheries.

Based on the structure of the LAPP (e.g. if allocations are based on targeted Pacific cod catch) and the intrinsic Pacific cod bycatch rates in other BSAI trawl CV fisheries, NMFS would need to determine the appropriate ICA amount that would be deducted from the sector allocation before the cooperative allocations are distributed. The amount of the ICA will likely be determined on an annual basis and established as an amount of Pacific cod in metric tons, not as a percentage of the trawl CV sector allocation. Setting the ICA in metric tons annually provides inseason management the flexibility to adjust the ICA based on the changes in BSAI groundfish TACs and expected incidental catch rates in trawl CV fisheries.

With a BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP, an ICA may be necessary to account for Pacific cod caught outside the LAPP in the BSAI Pacific cod parallel fishery by trawl CVs that do not have an LLP or Federal Fisheries Permit (FFP) designated on the vessel. This has not been an issue because since 2010, 37 trawl CVs have participated in the BSAI Pacific cod parallel fishery from 2010 through 2019, all of which had an LLP with the appropriate endorsements during this period. The amount of targeted Pacific cod that was harvested from the parallel fishery that are not confidential ranged from 153 mt in 2011 to 1,009 mt in 2010. As a percent of total targeted BSAI Pacific cod harvested by all trawl CVs, the parallel fishery accounted for less than 0.5 percent in 2011 to 4.08 percent in 2010. If the Council moves forward with a trawl CV LAPP, catch by cooperative CVs participating in the BSAI Pacific cod parallel fishery would be accounted for via the cooperative's Pacific cod allocation. As for the harvest of BSAI Pacific cod from the parallel fishery by trawl CVs that do not have an LLP or FFP, likely the most appropriate accounting tool is an ICA, which will likely require some level of coordination with the State in order to fund the ICA appropriately.

This ICA could also account for the MRA amounts of Pacific cod caught in other target fisheries. Table 11 to 50 CFR 679 reports the MRA of Pacific cod as incidental catch in other BSAI directed fisheries (basis species). In all non-Pacific cod directed fisheries the MRA of Pacific cod is set at 20 percent of the basis species. If the Council were to consider modifying the MRA for Pacific cod in the future, the pollock, yellowfin sole, and Atka mackerel fisheries have the greatest amount of Pacific cod incidental catch. However, those fisheries also have relatively large TACs. The pollock TAC being about 7.25 times larger than the Pacific cod TAC. The yellowfin sole TAC in 2018 was about 82 percent of the Pacific cod TAC. The Atka mackerel TAC was about 38 percent of the BSAI Pacific cod TAC. If this issue is a concern it will require additional study after the Council develops alternatives and options.

The Council may also consider whether or not the MRA of other groundfish specific in the Pacific cod trawl CV fishery would be adjusted under a LAPP. There appears to be limited opportunities for qualified

trawl CVs utilizing the benefits of a cooperative program to strategically target incidental catch species. For most groundfish species, the additional flexibility to "top off" early in a fishing trip is not expected to affect most groundfish stocks. For some groundfish species though, the greater flexibility to "top off" for a species in combination with other factors like low OFL, ABC, and TAC relative to high total catch could increase the risk of exceeding the ABC and TAC. However, as noted in Table 11 to 50 CFR 679, the MRAs for these at-risk species in the BSAI are set extremely low to discourage "top off" fishing.

4.10 Management and Enforcement

Topics of Council consideration:

- → Will the Council require cooperative reporting requirements (what would those requirements be)?
- \rightarrow Will the Council require Economic Data Reporting (what information would be collected?)

MSA requires that LAPPs include an effective system for enforcement, monitoring, and management of the program, including the use of observers or electronic monitoring systems. This section describes some of these expectations and provides a placeholder for additional investigation that may be necessary for these topics as a program develops further.

4.10.1 Cost Recovery

Section 304(d)(2) of the MSA authorizes and requires NOAA Fisheries to recover the actual costs directly related to the management, data collection, and enforcement of any LAPP and the Western Alaska CDQ Program up to three percent of ex-vessel gross revenues of species allocated under the program. Recovering costs is a four-step annual process: 1) calculate the incremental costs incurred to manage and enforce the fishery, 2) calculate the total value of the fishery, 3) divide the total costs in step one by the total fishery value in step two to determine the fee percentage, and 4) apply the fee percentage to each permit holder. If the Council continues to develop a LAPP for the BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV sector it will also be necessary to consider the implementation of cost recovery.

4.10.2 Observer Coverage

Under current monitoring requirements, Pacific cod CVs in the BSAI are in the partial coverage category. Each year, the Annual Deployment Plan (ADP) describes the science-driven method for deployment of observers on vessels in the partial coverage category (50 CFR 679.51(a)) in the Pacific halibut and groundfish fisheries off Alaska. Since 2013, observer coverage rates in the partial coverage category have ranged from approximately 14.8 to 28 percent for trawl CVs and 4 to 16 percent for pot CVs (Table 1-1, NMFS, 2019).

After the implementation of the restructured Observer Program in 2013, NMFS allowed the owners of BSAI trawl CVs in the partial observer coverage category to volunteer on an annual basis for full observer coverage during all times that they participate in BSAI trawl fisheries. Individuals who made this choice were typically owners of AFA catcher vessels that participate in the BSAI limited access Pacific cod trawl fishery to better manage Pacific halibut PSC limits within their cooperatives. In 2016, NMFS published a regulatory amendment to implement this annual request in regulation (81 FR 67113, 30 September 2016).

Under the current Observer Program, CVs participating in LAPPs with transferable PSC allocations are in the full coverage category. Therefore, the proposed BSAI Pacific cod trawl CV LAPP would likely change Observer Program monitoring requirements for this fishery. Depending on the specific elements of a LAPP, a variety of monitoring tools are available including observer coverage and EM for catch

estimation and compliance monitoring. Monitoring requirements would be designed to balance data collection needs with impacts to vessel operations. If the Council continues to develop Pacific cod LAPPs in the BSAI, it will be important to also consider the implications for observer coverage.

4.10.3 Cooperative Reporting Requirements

The Council could include a cooperative reporting requirement where each cooperative could be required to provide an annual report to the Council on the cooperative's activity the previous year. Current cooperative reports include AFA, Amendment 80, Crab Rationalization, and the Central GOA Rockfish Program during the April Council meeting. In requiring these reports, the Council could track the effectiveness of the cooperatives in meeting the Council's intended goals of the cooperative program. Additionally, they are a tool for the cooperatives to provide feedback on the program to the Council. The types of information that could be required are:

- allocations and sub-allocations of Pacific cod,
- sideboard limits and usage,
- retained and discarded catch of Pacific cod,
- cooperative monitoring methods,
- penalties imposed by the cooperative on members, and
- PSC bycatch numbers or amounts.

If the Council includes a cooperative reporting requirement for the trawl CV or pot CV management programs, the Council should provide a clear explanation of the objective of the cooperative reporting requirement to address Paperwork Reduction Act requirements which requires Federal agencies (1) to seek public comment on proposed collections and (2) to submit proposed collections for review and approval by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB). OMB reviews agency information collection requires for approval and disapproval.

4.10.4 Enforcement

Although specifics of the proposed management options are not yet available to determine enforcement issues, the primary enforcement goal is to ensure timely and accurate reporting of catch. This is dependent on quota monitoring, which is best enforced dockside or through fishery data review. Additionally, FMP measures that create dependence on observer data for vessel-level management can contribute to added tensions between onboard observers and vessel operators and managers. As a result, observers may be placed under considerable pressure by vessel crew because of their roles collecting data and reporting violations.

The Enforcement Committee has provided law enforcement precepts intended as general guidance for the Council to consider when developing regulatory programs. Depending on the specific design of the regulatory program, the enforcement tools and strategies used could require a combination of enforcement methods. The enforcement precepts section pertaining to Catch Shares and LAPP's is applicable to the BSAI cod trawl CV LAPP, as well as enforcement precepts sections pertaining to Record Keeping and Reporting, Observers/Electronic Monitoring, Bycatch, PSC, and MRA management measures that will be utilized in the LAPP. Provided in Table 4-20 are the enforcement precept's considerations for just the catch shares/individual fishing quotas/limited access program section.

Advantages from an enforcement perspective	Disadvantages from an enforcement perspective
Industry performs primary management effort while the agency validates and enforces limits. Monitoring of fish landings is effective for verifying	Significant comparative analysis is required to cross- check landings against VMS, observer, and electronic monitoring data.
Observers record catch data, and quotas can be managed on a daily/vessel basis.	Failures of electronic systems (scales or video monitoring systems) require a vessel to cease fishing until repairs can be made.
	Heavy reliance on observer data to enforce allocated limits of target and prohibited species catch (PSC) may result in scale tampering and observer sample bias, interference, coercion, and harassment.
	Accompanying regulations, such as sideboards and ownership limitations, can be complex and difficult to enforce.
	May spread out fishing effort across time and space. Instead of specific fishing seasons to monitor, a fishery may last nearly year-round, over vast areas, and possibly require more enforcement assets for the extended season.
	Accompanying regulations such as ownership limitations are difficult and resource intensive to enforce.
	For some high value species, potential for illegal/unaccounted for landings at remote locations is increased.

Table 4-20	Enforcement Precepts for the catch shares/individual fishing quota/limited access program
------------	---

Source: Enforcement Considerations for NOAA Fisheries and North Pacific Fishery Management Council, December 2015

Enforcement Recommendations for LAPP Development:

- Consider the addition of dockside monitors with authority to conduct hold checks.
- Clearly identify prohibitions against fishing activity when monitoring measures fail.
- Regulations must be strong to protect observers and observer work environments, sample areas, and data.
- Effectiveness of enforcement depends on observers, technologies deployed, and monitoring of landings.
- Consider electronic monitoring technologies (VMS features, sensor, and video) at sea to detect and deter area fished quota violations. VMS is the established, vetted method for documenting vessel location for enforcement purposes.
- If at-sea quota debiting is desired, the use of certified scales, electronic reporting, observers, and video monitoring are necessary to ensure accuracy.
- Consider electronic reporting to provide near real time debiting of quota accounts. Timely quota monitoring benefits enforcement, fishermen, and fisheries managers.

4.10.5 Economic Data Reports

The Council has included EDR requirements as part of its more recent established or proposed catch share programs. EDRs are designed to gather various levels of ownership, revenue, cost, vessel operations, and employment information from vessel owners, vessel operators, processors, permit holders, and/ or leaseholders who participate in several of the catch share programs in the North Pacific fisheries. In general, the purpose of the EDR requirements is to gather information to improve the Council's ability to

analyze the economic effects of catch share or rationalization programs, to understand the economic performance of participants in these programs, and to help estimate impacts of future issues, problems, or proposed revisions to the programs covered by the EDRs.

Currently, the Council has four EDRs in place:

- 1) BSAI Crab EDR, implemented in 2005 (Crab EDR);
- 2) Trawl Catcher/Processor (CP) EDR implemented in 2007 for Amendment 80, and in 2015 for CPs operating in the GOA groundfish fisheries (A80 EDR);
- 3) BS Chinook salmon bycatch management program EDR for participants in the BS pollock fishery, implemented in 2012 (A91 EDR); and
- 4) GOA trawl EDRs for trawl catcher vessels operating in the GOA.¹⁵

While EDRs are not explicit requirements of MSA, a variety of Federal laws and Executive Orders require the preparation of a written analysis of the economic impacts of proposed fishery conservation and management actions developed by the Council (see NPFMC,2019c for greater specificity on the economic analysis requirements). These data can provide meaningful quantitative economic and sometimes social considerations relevant to fisheries management. The laws, E.O.s, and agency guidelines strongly support the collection of high-quality economic data and the most robust quantitative analysis possible given the data and analytical methods available and the scope and complexity of the particular issue. The Council and its advisory bodies have also supported and requested the use of this type of information in the past. For instance, EDR data has informed program reviews, discussion papers and NEPA analyses for fishery management amendments, and is central in annual EDR reporting documents (e.g. Economic SAFE reports).

Moreover, implementation of a data collection prior to implementation of a LAPP can provide relevant baseline information to assess the impacts of the catch share program on affected harvesters, processors, and communities. An adequate assessment of changes in the economic characteristics of a fisheries can be extremely difficult if baseline information prior to implementation is not available. As exemplified for the Crab EDR, these data may be difficult to retroactively collect.

As described in Section 4.10.3, Federal data collections necessitates meeting specific PRA requirements, consideration of stakeholder burden, and time for OMB approval. In order to generate a continuous data collection that will provide the greatest future utility, while balancing reporting burden, care must be put into establishing the most appropriate questionnaire form from the beginning. Thus, if the Council continues to move forward with the current LAPP proposal, it should not delay in considering whether it will include EDR requirements, and if so what type of information would be important to collect.

5 LAPP for BSAI Pot $CV \ge 60$ ft Sector

Much of the general information regarding catch share programs described earlier for the trawl CV sector could also apply to the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector. That information is not repeated in this section. Instead this

¹⁵ Based on Council direction, work is currently being done on two EDR-related actions. The first is an amendment package to make specific changes to the EDR Programs such as 1) removing requirements for 3rd party audits, 2) revise data aggregation requirements, and 3) consider revising or removing the GOA EDR requirements due to lack of LAPP implementation. The second action is a more holistic consideration of the EDR framework including the Council's previous intent for EDRs, any duplicity in collection, the need for and challenges of the inconsistencies between program EDRs and the utility of different levels of data aggregation.

section focuses on participation data for the sector and general issues associated with rationalization and cooperative formation that are specific to this sector.

Unlike the proposal for the trawl CV sector, the Council has not yet established a purpose and needs statement for the pot $CV_s \ge 60$ ft sector or described the conditions that would motivate a change in management. If the Council chooses to move forward in investigating LAPP development for this Pacific cod sector, it should clearly articulate the concerns with the current management regime and the goals/ objectives of a LAPP for the pot $CV_s \ge 60$ ft.

The number of participants in this fishery would make it difficult to form and maintain a non-regulatory voluntary cooperative. The freezer longline sector has successfully formed a voluntary cooperative, in part due to the relatively small number of participants in the BSAI and GOA Pacific cod fisheries all agreeing to the cooperative structure and bylaws. Because the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector has 50 LLP licenses, all of which were active at some point in the fishery since 2003, and over 30 firms holding those LLP licenses, reaching an agreement that all eligible firms would always abide by is unlikely. This assumption is based on experience in the GOA CV trawl fishery where voluntary cooperatives, with a fleet of approximately this size, work best when the fishery would not be opened to directed fishing without the cooperative structure limiting capacity in a one-day fishery. As a result, this section will focus on a Council developed cooperative structure and not a voluntary cooperative structure, since it would be difficult to reduce the number of eligible LLP licenses by a sufficient number to ensure development of a voluntary cooperative.

5.1 Background

A summary of the BSAI pot $CV \ge 60$ ft fishery was provided in the Pacific cod allocation review presented to the Council at its June 2019 meeting (NPFMC, 2019b). The pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector includes all vessels ≥ 60 ft operating as CVs using pot gear to harvest Pacific cod in the BSAI. As of January 1, 2003, pot $CVs \ge 60$ ft must have a Pacific cod pot CV endorsement on their LLP license to target BS or AI Pacific cod from the open access fishery with pot gear, unless it is harvested for personal use bait.

The 2019 LLP license dataset indicates there were a total of 49 LLP licenses with a Pacific cod pot CV endorsement for the BS (see Table 1-1). Two of those licenses also had an AI endorsement. One LLP license only had an AI Pacific cod pot endorsement. These are the 50 groundfish LLP licenses that may currently be used for directed fishing for BSAI Pacific cod in the open access pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector.

As illustrated in Figure 1-1, the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector is allocated 8.4 percent of the BSAI Pacific cod TAC. There are two BSAI Pacific cod seasons for the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector: A-season which is January 1 to June 10 and B-season which is September 1 to December 31. Typically, the sector has a short A-season closing at the end of January or beginning of February, while the B-season, tends to remain open throughout the season, but on few occasions has closed in October or November.

The sector typically does not harvest all their allocation (see Table 6-5). Since Amendment 85 was implemented (2008), which established the current sector allocations, participants have harvested 73 percent of the sector allocation on average. Unharvested BSAI Pacific cod was reallocated throughout the fishing year to other sectors and has ranged from no reallocation in 2011 to a high of 6,750 mt in 2015. Reallocations were not made from the sector in 2018. That was the first year since 2011 when no Pacific cod was reallocated from the sector. The sector used more of their initial allocation because of the lower TAC and strong Pacific cod prices that increased participation (see Table 5-2 and Table 6-4).

There are no PSC limits for halibut, crab, or salmon for the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector. Halibut mortality for the sector ranges from a low of less than one mt in most years to a high of slightly over three mt in 2011 (see Table 5-1). This sector had some of the highest crab PSC of all the sectors (see Table 5-1).

2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
2	1.65	1.71	0.21	2.23	0.09	1.20	3.29	2.15	0.61	0.43	0.47	0.70	0.62	0.17
408	2,994	3,652	22,733	20,358	1,437	1,069	7,866	1,834	22,430	19,061	19,875	309	8,716	242,567
25,294	92,528	211,226	430,990	839,641	267,264	198,074	114,981	43,355	62,215	108,234	148,669	48,736	133,249	154,486
1,000	7,377	7,120	229,603	51,793	6,520	17,333	258	1	0	0	0	0	1,396	25
44,602	76,200	189,097	556,794	235,668	61,927	261,829	41,494	7,363	4,744	29,101	35,710	1,334	27,631	2,579
	2 408 25,294 1,000	2 1.65 408 2,994 25,294 92,528 1,000 7,377	2 1.65 1.71 408 2,994 3,652 25,294 92,528 211,226 1,000 7,377 7,120	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 0.09 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 1,437 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 267,264 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793 6,520	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 0.09 1.20 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 1,437 1,069 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 267,264 198,074 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793 6,520 17,333	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 0.09 1.20 3.29 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 1,437 1,069 7,866 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 267,264 198,074 114,981 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793 6,520 17,333 258	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 0.09 1.20 3.29 2.15 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 1,437 1,069 7,866 1,834 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 267,264 198,074 114,981 43,355 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793 6,520 17,333 258 1	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 0.09 1.20 3.29 2.15 0.61 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 1,437 1,069 7,866 1,834 22,430 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 267,264 198,074 114,981 43,355 62,215 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793 6,520 17,333 258 1 0	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 0.09 1.20 3.29 2.15 0.61 0.43 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 1,437 1,069 7,866 1,834 22,430 19,061 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 267,264 198,074 114,981 43,355 62,215 108,234 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793 6,520 17,333 258 1 0 0	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 0.09 1.20 3.29 2.15 0.61 0.43 0.47 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 1,437 1,069 7,866 1,834 22,430 19,061 19,875 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 267,264 198,074 114,981 43,355 62,215 108,234 148,669 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793 6,520 17,333 258 1 0 0 0	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 0.09 1.20 3.29 2.15 0.61 0.43 0.47 0.70 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 1,437 1,069 7,866 1,834 22,430 19,061 19,875 309 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 267,264 198,074 114,981 43,355 62,215 108,234 148,669 48,736 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793 6,520 17,333 258 1 0 0 0 0	2 1.65 1.71 0.21 2.23 0.09 1.20 3.29 2.15 0.61 0.43 0.47 0.70 0.62 408 2,994 3,652 22,733 20,358 1,437 1,069 7,866 1,834 22,430 19,061 19,875 309 8,716 25,294 92,528 211,226 430,990 839,641 267,264 198,074 114,981 43,355 62,215 108,234 148,669 48,736 133,249 1,000 7,377 7,120 229,603 51,793 6,520 17,333 258 1 0 0 0 1,396

 Table 5-1
 Reported halibut and crab mortality in the trawl CV non-CDQ BSAI Pacific cod target fishery

Source: AKFIN, May 2019. Sector_PSC (4-16-19)

5.2 Fishery Participation

In the federal BSAI Pacific cod target fishery, the number of participating pot $CVs \ge 60$ ft has declined since implementation of Amendment 85. Overall, vessel counts in the federal BSAI Pacific cod target fishery has ranged from a low of 23 CVs in 2015 to a high of 54 CVs in 2003. The sector routinely harvests its entire A-season allocation by the end of January or early February thereby closing directed fishing early, while the B-season is a slower fishery which in the past has often resulted in a reallocation of a third of their initial allocation to other sectors. However, in 2018, the sector harvested its entire initial allocation for the first time over the 2005 through 2018 period (see Table 6-5). If the sector does not harvest its allocation in the future the Council may wish to consider potential contingency plans to address unharvested quota.

Table 5-2 provides a summary of the 2003 through 2018 federal open access BSAI Pacific cod pot CV \geq 60 ft fishery. As stated earlier, there are 50 LLP licenses that can participate in the fishery and all 50 reported some catch over the 2003 through 2018 period. In the most recent years, they delivered their catch to between seven and nine processors. Nearly all its sector allocation is harvested in the BS. The sector only targets Pacific cod and some sablefish IFQ, they do not catch Pacific cod as incidental catch in other groundfish fisheries.

	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total
								AI									
Weight (mt)				*	*											1,282	1,682
LLP Licenses				1	1											3	4
Vessels				4	2											3	8
Processing Plants				2	1											3	5
								BS									
Weight (mt)	14,448	10,568	11,522	*	*	11,227	6,476	11,589	16,404	12,721	12,436	11,136	10,408	11,028	13,725	13,952	191,603
LLP Licenses	36	39	37	40	42	41	26	30	36	33	33	33	25	27	36	34	49
Vessels	54	53	45	45	45	41	26	30	33	29	31	31	23	25	34	31	83
Processing Plants	10	11	10	14	10	10	9	8	9	7	8	8	8	9	8	8	26
								Total									
Weight (mt)	14,448	10,568	11,522	12,843	11,521	11,227	6,476	11,589	16,404	12,721	12,436	11,136	10,408	11,028	13,725	15,234	193,285
LLP Licenses	36	39	37	40	42	41	26	30	36	33	33	33	25	27	36	37	50
Vessels	54	53	45	49	46	41	26	30	33	29	31	31	23	25	34	34	88
Processing Plants	10	11	10	15	10	10	9	8	9	7	8	8	8	9	8	9	28

 Table 5-2
 BSAI Pacific cod catch in the Federal Open Access Pacific cod target fishery by CVs ≥60 ft using pot gear, 2003 through 2018

Note: * indicates data was hidden to protect confidential information.

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data (BSAI_POT_LLP_PCODLANDINGS(5_20_2019))

Like the trawl CV sector, if the Council moves forward with pot $CV \ge 60$ ft LAPP, catch by non-Federal pot $CVs \ge 60$ ft in the BSAI Pacific cod parallel fishery will likely need to be accounted for via an ICA. Since 2010, 16 pot $CVs \ge 60$ ft have participated in the BSAI Pacific cod parallel fishery from 2010 through 2019. Only one pot $CV\ge 60$ ft participated in the parallel fishery that did not have both an LLP and FFP. The remaining 15 pot $CV\ge 60$ ft had either an LLP or FFP or both. In last three years, four pot $CVs\ge 60$ ft participated in the parallel fishery and 765 mt, which accounted for between 2.8 percent and 5.6 percent of the total catch of BSAI Pacific cod for the sector.

Figure 5-1 shows the percentage of pot $CV \ge 60$ ft targeted Pacific cod catch, by LLP holder address during the 2010 through 2018 fishing years relative to the total catch of the same LLP holders. This information may be useful when considering development of alternatives for ownership and use caps. Catch was aggregated by LLP license holder's address as reported in the 2019 LLP License database. About 0.6 percent of the reported catch did not have an LLP license number listed and was excluded from the calculations. If the Council moves forward with a LAPP for the sector analysts would need to determine how to treat this associated catch. The four smallest and largest reported catches, by address, were averaged to protect confidential data. This was done because persons with knowledge of the fishery may be able to determine which firms are associated with the most or least catch.



Figure 5-1 Percentage of 2010 through 2018 pot CV ≥ 60 ft catch of target Pacific cod by LLP holder's address

Note: The four smallest and largest amounts were averaged to protect confidential information.

The reported addresses were associated with between one to five LLP licenses. In general, addresses associated with the most LLP licenses also reported higher catch levels. The addresses associated with the five largest catch histories all accounted for more than 5.5 percent of the sector's catch from 2010 through 2018. The top four averaged just over 10.5 percent of the sector's catch.

5.3 Sideboard Limits

All LLP licenses that have a Pacific cod pot endorsement also have an associated crab LLP license. Crab fisheries are managed under the Crab Rationalization program that established sideboard limits on certain qualified vessels in the GOA fisheries. Sideboard limits were established because the Council understood that rationalizing the BSAI crab fisheries could provide opportunities for fishermen to consolidate their quota and take greater advantage of other fisheries. Thus, the Council established GOA sideboard limits for vessels and LLP licenses that had Bering Sea snow crab history and generated crab quota shares, due to the timing and length of this fishery relative to the groundfish fisheries (NPFMC, 2012b).

GOA Pacific cod sideboard limits for non-AFA crab vessels were based on retained catch of Pacific cod by vessels subject to the limit, divided by the total retained catch of GOA Pacific cod by all groundfish vessels from 1996 through 2000. AFA vessels were already subject to sideboard limits under the AFA program. In contrast, GOA groundfish sideboard limits for non-AFA crab vessels are based on GOA groundfish landings by vessels subject to the sideboard, relative to groundfish landings by all vessels. In addition to the GOA groundfish sideboards for the non-AFA crab vessels, participation in the GOA

Pacific cod fishery is restricted. Vessels that qualified for Bering Sea snow crab quota share must have landed more than 50 mt of groundfish harvested from the GOA between January 1, 1996, and December 31, 2000, in order to qualify to participate in the GOA Pacific cod fishery. This restriction also applies to any vessel named on an LLP license that generated Bering Sea snow crab fishery quota share.

To protect non-AFA crab vessels that demonstrated dependence on the GOA Pacific cod fishery, an exemption from the Pacific cod sideboards was included in the crab rationalization program. The catch history of the exempt vessels was not included in the sideboard calculations. Since their historical catch was not included in the sideboard limits, catch by these vessels does not count towards the sideboard caps, nor are the exempt vessels required to stop fishing when the sideboard limit is reached if the directed fishery is open. Of the 227 non-AFA crab vessels that made a landing of Bering Sea snow crab during the 1996 to 2000 period, 82 vessels are allowed to target GOA Pacific cod, but are limited by GOA Pacific cod sideboards. Of those 82 non-AFA crab vessels restricted by GOA Pacific cod sideboard limits, 76 are CVs. LLP licenses that originated on a qualified non-AFA crab vessel are also subject to the GOA Pacific cod sideboard limits. The 50 LLP licenses in the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector are described below.

The LLP license data file reports the different types of crab sideboards applied to LLP licenses associated with ≥ 60 ft pot CV with a Pacific cod endorsement. The Crab Rationalization Program sideboard limits associated with the LLP licenses for the GOA are defined as follows:

- Crab Rationalization GOA Sideboarded; no GOA Pacific cod fishing: Subject to GOA groundfish directed fishery "sideboard" closures; may not engage in directed fishing for Pacific cod in the GOA.
- Crab Rationalization GOA Sideboarded: Subject to GOA groundfish directed fishery "sideboard" closures, including Pacific cod closures.
- Crab Rationalization GOA Sideboarded except Pacific cod: Subject to GOA groundfish directed fishery "sideboard" closures, not including Pacific cod closures.
- No Crab Rationalization Sideboard. Not subject to GOA sideboard limits.

Table 5-3	LLP licenses on pot CVs ≥ 60 ft by Pacific cod pot endorsement and Crab Rationalization
	sideboard limits.

	CR GOA	CR GOA Sideboarded -	CR GOA Sideboarded -	No CR	
Pcod Endorsements	Sideboarded	except Pcod	no GOA Pcod Fishing	Sideboard	Total
AI CV Pot				1	1
AI CV Pot; BS CV Pot				1	1
AI CV Pot; BS CV Pot; WG CV Pot	1				1
BS CV Pot	4			28	32
BS CV Pot; BS CV HAL; CG CV Pot	1				1
BS CV Pot; CG CV Pot	2				2
BS CV Pot; WG CV Pot	6	1	2	1	10
BS CV Pot; WG CV Pot; CG CV Pot		2			2
Total	14	3	2	31	50

Source: LLP license file for 2019

CR= Crab Rationalization

Table 5-3 shows that of the 50 pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector LLP licenses, 30 have no Crab Rationalization sideboard, but do not have a GOA pot CV endorsement to fish Pacific cod. These will not need further restrictions on the fishing Pacific cod in the GOA. Two additional LLP licenses are subject to sideboard limits and are not allowed to fish Pacific cod in the GOA. Fourteen LLP licenses are subject to GOA sideboards for Pacific cod. Imposing additional restrictions on these LLP licenses may not be necessary, if the Crab Rationalization sideboard limits are considered to be sufficient. The remaining four LLP licenses are not subject to Crab Rationalization sideboard limits for the GOA. All four have a Western GOA Pacific cod pot endorsement to fish Pacific cod and to two of those four are also endorsed to fish

Pacific cod in the Central GOA with pot gear. The four LLP licenses are held by persons whose reported addresses are in Alaska cities Kenai, Kodiak, Unalaska, and Anchorage.

As part of the GOA Pacific cod sector allocation in 2012, the Council recommended operational and gear specific non-AFA crab sideboards based on participation in the GOA Pacific cod from 1996 through 2000. The Council considered and rejected combining the GOA inshore and offshore non-AFA crab sideboards into a single Central GOA and a single Western GOA sideboard limit. The Council was concerned that combining the inshore and offshore sideboards into a single amount for both catcher processors and CVs sectors could result in one gear or operational type preempting the other in a race for the sideboards. The Council was also concerned that an aggregate sideboard limit could have a negative impact on non-sideboarded vessels since the sideboard limit could be greater than some sector specific allocations.

6 Impacts of Proposed LAPPs on other Sectors

At its June 2019 meeting the Council requested that information be provided in this document relative to the spillover impacts of a trawl CV LAPP and/or pot $CV \ge 60$ ft LAPP on other BSAI Pacific cod sectors. This section is provided to address that request. In particular, this section focuses on inseason rollovers of Pacific cod; the funders of rollovers, the receivers of rollovers, the how these redistributions of Pacific cod may affect other sectors under a new management regime. Additional spillover impacts on other sectors are also discussed relative to potential need for sideboards in Section 4.7.

The 2019 BSAI sector allocations of Pacific cod are provided in Table 6-1. This information is provided to show the relative sector allocations before any reallocation of Pacific cod occurs inseason. Sector allocations are established in regulation as a percentage of the total amount of Pacific cod available after deductions are made for the CDQ fishery (see Figure 1-1 for further illustration of this process).

Sector	BCAL Contor Apportionment (mt)	BSAISeason	allowance (mt)	
Sector	BSAI Sector Apportionment (mt)	Α	в	
H&L/pot < 60'	3,109	No seasor	nal allowance	
H&L CV≥ 60'	311	159	152	
H&L CP	75,705	38,610	37,095	
Pot CV ≥ 60'	13,058	6,660	6,398	
Pot CP	2,332	1,189	1,143	
Sector	BSAI Sector Apportionment (mt)	BSAI Se	ason allowance	(mt)
Sector	BSAI Sector Apportionment (m)	Α	в	С
Jig vessels	2,186	1,311	437	437
AFA trawl CP	3,591	2,693	898	0
Amendment 80	20,919	15,689	5,230	0
Trawl CV	34,500	25,530	3,795	5,17

Table 6-1	BSAI non-CDQ Pacific cod sector apportionment and BSAI non-CDQ Pacific cod seasonal
	allowance for 2019

Source: NMFS Final Specifications

Note: The sum of the seasonal apportionments may not equal the sector allocation due to rounding.

One concern expressed by stakeholders was the impact rationalization of the trawl CV and pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sectors, may have on inseason reallocations of Pacific cod to other sectors. Located on the NMFS website is a reallocation table that provides a detailed summary of the Pacific cod allocations and reallocations from 1995 through 2018 for each sector. Information in that table shows each reallocation that occurred by sector, including the amount each sector funded or received. There is some annual variation by year, but the primary users of rollovers are the <60 ft hook-and-line and pot CV sector vessels. The primary funders of the reallocation are the trawl CV sector, the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector, and the jig sector. The

detailed information in that appendix shows the total TAC (CDQ is not deducted), the initial sector allocation in metric tons and as a percentage of the non-CDQ TAC, and the sector allocation after reallocation of Pacific cod. Those data are summarized by sector in the series of tables that follows.

Table 6-2 shows the reallocation summary for the HAL/pot CV < 60 ft sector. The sector has received a reallocation of Pacific cod each year since 2004 and the reallocation to the sector has been at least 4,000 mt every year after 2010. In the five most recent years reported in the table, the reallocation amount had ranged from 5,000 mt to 7,500 mt.

		Initial Al	location	Afte	r Reallocatio	ons
Year	Total TAC		% of non-		Change	% of non-
		mt	CDQ TAC	mt	(mt)	CDQ TAC
1995	250,000	NA	NA	NA		NA
1996	270,000	NA	NA	NA		NA
1997	270,000	NA	NA	NA		NA
1998	210,000	NA	NA	NA		NA
1999	177,000	NA	NA	NA		NA
2000	193,000	1,268	0.7%	1,230	-38	0.7%
2001	188,000	1,235	0.7%	1,235	0	0.7%
2002	200,000	1,314	0.7%	1,314	0	0.7%
2003	207,500	1,363	0.7%	1,363	0	0.7%
2004	215,500	1,416	0.7%	2,961	1,545	1.5%
2005	206,000	1,354	0.7%	2,601	1,247	1.4%
2006	189,768	1,246	0.7%	3,242	1,996	1.9%
2007	170,720	1,121	0.7%	2,928	1,807	1.9%
2008	170,720	3,033	2.0%	5,210	2,177	3.4%
2009	176,540	3,137	2.0%	4,434	1,297	2.8%
2010	168,780	2,998	2.0%	5,509	2,511	3.7%
2011	227,950	4,055	2.0%	9,005	4,950	4.4%
2012	261,000	4,645	2.0%	8,880	4,235	3.8%
2013	260,000	4,627	2.0%	9,177	4,550	4.0%
2014	253,894	4,518	2.0%	12,018	7,500	5.3%
2015	249,422	4,438	2.0%	10,630	6,192	4.8%
2016	251,519	4,476	2.0%	10,674	6,198	4.8%
2017	239,399	4,259	2.0%	9,271	5,012	4.3%
2018	203,831	3,627	2.0%	8,748	5,121	4.8%

 Table 6-2
 HAL/pot CV <60 ft BSAI Pacific cod sector allocations</th>

Source: Summary of data as developed by NMFS Inseason Management

Table 6-3 shows that from 2003 through 2018, 66 unique CVs reported making Pacific cod landings in the HAL/pot CV <60 ft sector allocation. The number of vessels participating ranged from a low of seven in 2003 to a high of 26 in 2018. On average these vessels harvested 92 percent of the sector's final allocation (after reallocations). This information indicates these vessels are likely dependent on reallocation to the sector. The sector does not have seasonal allowances. Nevertheless, there appears to be a gradual shortening of the initial fishing period when the sector harvests its initial allocation. Prior to 2006, the sector did not have its first closure before April. Between 2006 and 2014, the sector's first closure occurred in March. Since 2014, the sector's first closure is early February. Once the sector has harvested its initial allocation, reallocations from other sectors can open the fishery as early as late April or early May. Another typically period of reallocations that can allow the sector to target BSAI Pacific cod is mid-August to early September. Typically, the fall reallocation is sufficient to allow the fishery to remain open for the remainder of the year.

Table 6-3 HAL/pot CV < 60 ft sector BSAI Pacific cod harvest and final sector allocation 2003 through 2018

	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total
Reported Harvest (mt)	1,371	2,560	2,119	3,294	3,132	4,297	4,040	5,159	7,563	8,304	8,456	10,293	9,304	10,301	9,880	7,735	97,807
Final Allocation (mt)	1,363	2,961	2,601	3,242	2,928	5,210	4,434	5,509	9,005	8,880	9,177	12,018	10,630	10,674	9,271	8,748	106,651
% harvested	101%	86%	81%	102%	107%	82%	91%	94%	84%	94%	92%	86%	88%	97%	107%	88%	92%
Vessels	7	11	12	16	16	15	15	14	15	19	21	15	21	21	22	26	66
Source: AKEIN sum	mary o	of CAS	data a	nd fina	l alloc:	ation fo	or secto	or									

Source: AKFIN summary of CAS data and final allocation for sector.

Table 6-4 shows the initial and final BSAI Pacific cod allocations for the trawl CV sector. Trawl CVs did not have their own allocation until 1997. The current allocation of 22.1 percent of the non-CDQ fishery has been in place since 2008. From 2008 through 2018 between 2,200 mt (2018) and 11,370 mt (2015) have been reallocated away from the sector. Over those 11 years the reallocations away from the sector averaged 5,235 mt. However, in the three most recent years the reallocation has been less than the average. Relatively strong Pacific cod prices and markets as well as a declining TAC may play a role in less Pacific cod being rolled over to other sectors.

Table 6-4 **Trawl CV BSAI Pacific cod sector allocations**

		Initial Al	location	Afte	r Reallocatio	ons
Year	Total TAC		% of non-		Change	% of non-
		mt	CDQ TAC	mt	(mt)	CDQ TAC
1995	250,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
1996	270,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
1997	270,000	63,450	26.2%	63,450	0	26.2%
1998	210,000	45,649	24.2%	45,649	0	24.2%
1999	177,000	38,475	24.2%	38,475	0	24.2%
2000	193,000	41,953	24.2%	41,953	0	24.2%
2001	188,000	40,867	24.2%	26,867	-14,000	16.0%
2002	200,000	43,475	24.2%	41,475	-2,000	23.2%
2003	207,500	45,105	24.2%	43,434	-1,671	23.4%
2004	215,500	46,844	24.2%	40,717	-6,127	21.2%
2005	206,000	44,779	24.2%	35,847	-8,932	19.5%
2006	189,768	41,251	24.2%	33,824	-7,427	20.0%
2007	170,720	37,110	24.2%	34,110	-3,000	22.4%
2008	170,720	33,692	22.1%	30,842	-2,850	20.2%
2009	176,540	34,841	22.1%	29,740	-5,101	18.9%
2010	168,780	33,309	22.1%	28,175	-5,134	18.7%
2011	227,950	44,987	22.1%	39,897	-5,090	19.6%
2012	261,000	51,509	22.1%	47,749	-3,760	20.5%
2013	260,000	51,312	22.1%	43,812	-7,500	18.9%
2014	253,894	50,107	22.1%	43,107	-7,000	19.0%
2015	249,422	49,224	22.1%	37,854	-11,370	17.0%
2016	251,519	49,638	22.1%	45,138	-4,500	20.1%
2017	239,399	47,246	22.1%	44,163	-3,083	20.7%
2018	203,831	40,227	22.1%	38,027	-2,200	20.9%

Source: Summary of data as developed by NMFS Inseason Management

Table 6-5 shows the initial and final BSAI Pacific cod allocations for the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector. The sector did not have their own allocation until 2004. The current allocation of 8.4 percent of the non-CDQ fishery has been in place since 2008. Reallocations away from the sector have ranged from 0 mt (2011 and 2018) to 6,750 mt (2015). The average annual amount of Pacific cod rolled over from the sector from 2008 through 2018 was 3,944 mt.

		Initial Allocation		After Reallocations		
Year	Total TAC		% of non-		Change	% of non-
		mt	CDQ TAC	mt	(mt)	CDQ TAC
1995	250,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
1996	270,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
1997	270,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
1998	210,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
1999	177,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
2000	193,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
2001	188,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
2002	200,000	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
2003	207,500	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
2004	215,500	15,174	7.8%	11,735	-3,439	6.1%
2005	206,000	14,502	7.8%	12,828	-1,674	7.0%
2006	189,768	13,354	7.8%	13,880	526	8.2%
2007	170,720	12,006	7.8%	12,129	123	8.0%
2008	170,720	12,737	8.4%	11,422	-1,315	7.5%
2009	176,540	13,173	8.4%	6,373	-6,800	4.0%
2010	168,780	12,591	8.4%	11,576	-1,015	7.7%
2011	227,950	17,030	8.4%	17,030	0	8.4%
2012	261,000	19,509	8.4%	13,209	-6,300	5.7%
2013	260,000	19,434	8.4%	13,434	-6,000	5.8%
2014	253,894	18,976	8.4%	14,476	-4,500	6.4%
2015	249,422	18,641	8.4%	11,891	-6,750	5.3%
2016	251,519	18,798	8.4%	12,098	-6,700	5.4%
2017	239,399	17,889	8.4%	13,889	-4,000	6.5%
2018	203,831	15,235	8.4%	15,235	0	8.4%

Table 6-5 Pot CV ≥60 ft BSAI Pacific cod sector allocations

Source: Summary of data as developed by NMFS Inseason Management

Figure 6-1 provides a summary of the total BSAI Pacific cod TAC and annual reallocations by sector and the total TAC. This figure shows that the primary suppliers of reallocations are the trawl CV, pot $CVs \ge 60$ ft, and the jig sector.

Moving to a cooperative structure for the trawl CV sector and the pot $CVs \ge 60$ ft sector would be expected to reduce the amount of reallocations from these sectors as well as to change the timing of those reallocations to later in the year. The amount of Pacific cod that may be rolled over from the trawl CV sector and the pot $CVs \ge 60$ ft sector in the future could decline since the cooperatives can be more deterministic in their effort in the Pacific cod fishery by cooperating to more efficiently harvest Pacific cod. Because effort can be coordinated under a LAPP, the cooperatives can match effort to the amount of Pacific cod available without exceeding their allocations. Under the current structure NMFS needs to estimate the amount of catch per day based on total effort in the fishery and close the fishery to directed fishing before the sector allocation is fully harvested. The cooperative structure would allow members of the cooperative to harvest more of their allocation through control of individual vessels as opposed to NMFS management of the sector.

Under a LAPP, if there is any Pacific cod available when the cooperatives finish their fishing, it would not be available until the cooperative fishing year ends (November 1 for trawl vessels since the pot B season runs through December 31) or when the cooperative checks out of the fishery. For the trawl sector, reallocations may not be made until November when weather conditions may be worse for smaller vessels trying to use any Pacific cod that is reallocations. For the pot sector roll overs may only occur if the

cooperatives check out of the fishery. Under the current management structure, the timing of reallocations is described in the BSAI Stranded Pacific cod Discussion Paper scheduled for review during the October 2019 Council meeting.



Figure 6-1 Summary of within year changes in BSAI Pacific cod allocations by sector, 2008 through 2018

Source: Summary of data as developed by NMFS Inseason Management

The structure of the LAPP will also impact future reallocations of Pacific cod. If the trawl CV sector is allocated harvesting quota to fund directed fishing and an ICA is established for the incidental catch of Pacific cod in other fisheries, it may increase the likelihood that few reallocations would result from the directed fishery allocation.

In terms of the program's structure, the Council will need to determine if cooperative quota may be harvested any time while the Pacific cod trawl fishery is open to directed fishing or if the current fishing seasons would still apply to directed fishing. This could mean that all of the harvesting quota could be harvested in any combination of the A, B, or C seasons for trawl vessels and the A and B seasons for pot vessels. It is anticipated that most of the catch would be taken during the A-season when Pacific cod are more aggregated and catch rates are high (this decision point is further discussed in Section 4.4).

Table 6-6 shows the average percentage of non-CDQ trawl CV Pacific cod that was harvested by fishery and season from 2010 through 2018. Information in the table shows that of the Pacific cod harvested in the Pacific cod target fishery (88.5 percent of the Pacific cod target total) the vast majority was harvested in the A season 78.5 percent (or 88.7 percent of the targeted catch). Of the remaining targeted Pacific cod catch, 8.4 percent was taken in the B-season (9.5 percent of the Pacific cod target total) and 1.6 percent was taken in the C season (1.8 percent of the Pacific cod target total).
		Seaso	n	
Reported Target	А	В	С	Total
Alaska Plaice - BSAI	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Arrowtooth Flounder	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Atka Mackerel	0.1%	0.0%	0.3%	0.4%
Flathead Sole	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Other Species	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
Pacific Cod	78.5%	8.4%	1.6%	88.5%
Pollock - bottom	1.2%	0.2%	0.3%	1.6%
Pollock - midwater	3.6%	0.5%	3.0%	7.0%
Rock Sole - BSAI	0.0%	0.2%	0.0%	0.2%
Rockfish	0.0%	0.0%	0.1%	0.1%
Yellowfin Sole - BSAI	0.6%	0.7%	0.7%	2.1%
Total	84.0%	10.0%	6.0%	100.0%

Table 6-6Percentage of Pacific cod harvested by trawl CV sector in reported target fishery and trawl CV
season, 2010 through 2018

Source: PSMFC summary of CAS data

As further discussed in Section 4.9.4 a trawl ICA could be established to fund other trawl CV fisheries throughout the year. The ICA could be used by vessels in a cooperative and those vessels that do not qualify or elect to not join a cooperative. The ICA would be set at a level that is expected to be needed to allow the trawl CV sector to harvest their other fisheries including the AFA cooperative allocations and the yellowfin sole fishery. Based on the information provided in Table 6-6, about 12 percent of the sector allocation of Pacific cod was used to support other target fisheries. If an ICA is established for the trawl CV fishery, additional discussion and analysis will be needed to determine if and when any unused ICA could be reallocated to other sectors.

7 Conclusions and Next Steps

After considering the information in the scoping paper and listening to public testimony, the Council could move forward with developing a LAPP for trawl CV sector and/or the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector. If the Council determines that it lacks sufficient information to proceed with the developing program elements and options, it could make a focused request for information it needs to be brought back at a future meeting, prior to proceeding with formal development of the regulatory package.

The February 2019 motion for the trawl CV sector included a purpose and need statement. The motion made at that meeting for the pot $CV \ge 60$ ft sector did not included a purpose and need statement, and thus will be needed if the Council moves forward with development of a LAPP for that sector. With a purpose and need statements developed, the Council could start crafting required and discretionary MSA provisions as components and options. Provisions described in the scoping paper include the LAPP program's cooperative structure, allocation decisions, processors and communities' considerations, ownership and use caps, sideboard limits, captain and crew considerations, bycatch/PSC management, and Inseason management and enforcement considerations. These types of components could apply to a pot $CV \ge 60$ ft LAPP as well but will likely need additional contextual evaluation.

To assist the Council in development of the components and options, sections of this document begin with some of the key elements the Council might consider in developing the trawl CV and pot $CV \ge 60$ ft LAPPs.

Moving forward, the LAPPs could be developed in conjunction with, or independent of each other. Developing the LAPPs together could result in some efficiencies but may result in slowing the development of one or both LAPPs. In addition, as noted in the scoping paper, each LAPP would likely be unique to the sector with little overlap between sectors. Combining the two programs in the analytical package would likely complicate an already challenging process. Developed independently, each LAPP could proceed on its own timeline and could allow the Council the flexibility to prioritize development of the LAPPs. Given the early stage of development for both of the programs, staff has not attempted to provide a timeline for development of the two programs. The pace at which the programs move forward will be highly dependent on whether the Council moves forward with the programs, how focused the alternatives and options are for each program, and the priority assigned to developing the programs relative to other issues and workload assigned to the responsible staff.

8 Bibliography

- Alaska Fisheries Science Center and Alaska Regional Office [NMFS]. 2019. North Pacific Observer Program 2018 Annual Report. AFSC Process Rep. 2019-04, 148p. Alaska Fish. Sci. Cent., NOAA, Natl. Mar. Fish. Serv., 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Seattle WA 98115.
- Anderson, L. G., & Holliday, M. C. (2007). The Design and Use of Limited Access Privilege Programs. Silver Spring: NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-F/SPO-86.
- Deacon, R. T. (2019). Managing Fisheries by Assigning Rights to Harvester Cooperatives. Santa Barbara: University of California Santa Barbara.
- Fina, M. (2011). Evolution of Catch Share Management: Lessons from Catch Share Management in the North Pacific. Fisheries, 164-177.
- National Research Council. (1999). Sharing the Fish: Toward a National Policy on Individual Fishing Quotas. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/6335.
- North Pacific Fishery Management Council [NPFMC]. (2012a). Cooperative measures to address active participation and crew issues. Discussion paper. October 2012. Anchorage, AK.
- NPFMC. (2012b). Revising Freezer Longline GOA Pacific Cod Sideboards. Anchorage, AK.
- NPFMC. (2014). Five-Year Review of the Effects of Amendment 80. Anchorage, AK.
- NPFMC. (2017). Central GOA Rockfish Program Review Including a Fishery Allocation Review. Anchorage, AK
- NPFMC. (2018). Elimination of AFA and Non-AFA Small Sideboards. Anchorage, AK.
- NPFMC. (2019a). Appendix 1 Final review draft Social Impact Assessment: Catcher/ processor mothership restrictions in the Bering Sea and Aleutian Islands and Gulf of Alaska when taking directed non-CDQ Pacific cod deliveries from trawl catcher vessels. Anchorage, AK.
- NPFMC. (2019b). BSAI Pacific cod Allocation Review. Anchorage, AK.
- NPFMC. 2019(c). Discussion paper: Alaska Region Economic Data Reporting Program. Anchorage, AK
- North Pacific Fishery Management Council/ National Marine Fisheries [NPFMC/ NMFS]. (2016). Twenty-year review of the Pacific halibut and sablefish individual fishing quota management program. December 2016. Anchorage, AK.
- Northern Economics, Inc. (2017). American Fisheries Act Program Review. Prepared for North Pacific Fishery Management Council. July 2017. Anchorage, AK.

Regular Meeting Tuesday, September 24, 2019 6:00 p.m.



Unalaska City Hall Council Chambers 43 Raven Way

> Council Members Dennis Robinson Alejandro Tungul Shari Coleman

Council Members James Fitch Roger Rowland David Gregory

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL

P. O. Box 610 • Unalaska, Alaska 99685 (907) 581-1251 • <u>www.ci.unalaska.ak.us</u>

Frank Kelty, Mayor

MINUTES

1. Call to order

Mayor Kelty called the Regular Meeting of the Unalaska City Council to order at 6:00 pm, in the Unalaska City council chambers.

2. Roll call

Present: Frank Kelty, Mayor Dennis Robinson, Vice Mayor Roger Rowland (Telephonic) James Fitch (Telephonic) David Gregory Shari Coleman

Absent: Alejandro Tungul (Excused)

3. Pledge of Allegiance

Council Member Gregory led the Pledge of Allegiance

4. Recognition of visitors - None

5. Adoption of agenda

Robinson made a motion to adopt the agenda; Gregory seconded No objection Motion passed by consensus

 Approve minutes of previous meeting: September 10, 2019 Coleman made a motion to adopt the agenda; Robinson seconded No objection Motion passed by consensus

7. **Reports:** City Manager City Manager reported and answered Council questions

Council Minutes 9/24/2019, pg. 1

8. Community Input & Announcements

- Planning Department
 - Unalaska 2030 Public Forum October 5, 2019 12:00 pm at the Grand Aleutian
 - Community Survey
- PCR
 - o Library Update
 - Upcoming Playground Projects
 - o Community Swim Meet
 - o Halloween Bash
- UCSD
 - o Soldotna Swim Meet Update
- AML email regarding policy statements and principles
- USAFV 10th Annual "Make A Difference" Suicide Prevention and Awareness Dinner Friday, September 27, 2019 6:00 pm-8:00pm
- Navy Vessel to arrive in Unalaska on September 25, 2019
- Municipal Election
 - Absentee and Early Voting
 - Election Day October 1, 2019

9. Public testimony on agenda items - None

10. Work session

Robinson made a motion to move into Work Session; Coleman seconded No objection Motion passed by consensus

a. Discussion regarding the FY2021-2025 CMMP Project Ranking Criteria

Bil Homka, Planning Director, presented FY2021-2025 CMMP Project Ranking Criteria results and answered Council questions

b. Discussion regarding Pacific Cod issues for the upcoming NPFMC meeting; see proposed Resolution 2019-55

Mayor Kelty led the discussion on the Pacific Cod issues

11. Regular agenda

Robinson made a motion to reconvene to regular session; Gregory seconded

No objection

Motion passed by consensus

- a. Unfinished Business
 - i. <u>Resolution 2019-51</u>: Identifying the City of Unalaska's State priorities for Fiscal year 2021

Coleman made a motion to adopt Resolution 219-51; Robinson seconded Roll Call vote: Robinson – yes; Gregory – yes; Fitch – yes; Coleman – yes; Rowland – yes Motion passed 5-0

- b. New Business
 - i. <u>Resolution 2019-55</u>: Supporting the development of the Bering Sea Aleutian Island Pacific Cod Limited Access Privilege Program (LAPP) for the trawl catcher vessel sector and ≥ 60' pot catcher vessels

Council Minutes 9/24/2019, pg. 2

Robinson made a motion to adopt Resolution 2019-55; Coleman seconded

Coleman made a motion to amend Resolution 2019-55 to strike paragraphs 8, 9 and 11; Rowland seconded

Roll Call Vote on amended motion: Robinson – no; Gregory – no; Fitch – yes; Coleman - yes; Rowland – yes Motion failed 3-2

Gregory made a motion to amend Resolution 2019-55 to correct the following typographical errors

- Paragraph 8 strike used and insert unused; strike ≥ and insert ≤;
- Paragraph 9 strike ≥ and insert ≤;

• Paragraph 11- strike *used* and insert *unused*; strike ≥ and insert ≤ Robinson seconded.

Roll Call Vote on amended motion: Rowland – yes; Robinson – yes; Gregory – yes; Fitch – yes; Coleman – yes Motion passed 5-0

Roll Call Vote on main motion as amended: Gregory – yes; Fitch – yes; Coleman – yes; Rowland – yes; Robinson – yes Motion passed 5-0

12. Council Directives to City Manager - None

13. Community Input & Announcements

- Recognition of visitors:
 - o Scott Goodman, Bering Fisheries Research Foundation
 - o Dr. Leah Zacher

14. Adjournment

Robinson made a motion to adjourn; Coleman seconded No objection Motion passed by consensus The meeting adjourned at 7:05 pm

ader

Marjie Veeder City Clerk



rfw

Council Minutes 9/24/2019, pg. 3

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL

To:Mayor and City Council MembersFrom:William Homka, Director, Planning DepartmentThrough:Erin Reinders, City ManagerDate:October 13, 2020Re:FY22 Budget Calendars

SUMMARY: Each year the City of Unalaska reviews a budget calendar as it prepares to proceed through the budgeting process. City Code requires the budget process and adoption to be complete by July 1 each year. This year's budget calendar focuses on the public meetings, such as Planning Commission and City Council work sessions and meetings.

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: The budget calendar is presented to City Council for comment annually. No formal action is required

BACKGROUND: There are several components to the City budget. Each require presentations and input from the public and Unalaska City Council. Past calendars incorporated public meeting dates and adoption deadlines alongside internal processes and departmental deadlines. That list of dates grows each year, and at this point has become a cumbersome calendar when presenting to City Council. Instead, staff is exploring a digital calendar using Microsoft Outlook to allow a more fluid and participatory calendar for our internal use. This supports multiple users and departments in connection with supervising the preparation of numerous budget preparation timelines under City Council's purview.

DISCUSSION: City Code requires the budget process and adoption to be complete by July 1 each year. Again, there are several components to the City budget. These include the Capital Major Maintenance Plan (CMMP), Rolling Stock, Operations, Personnel, Unalaska City Schools, and the Community Support Grant program. This year's budget calendar focuses on the public meetings, such as Planning Commission and City Council work sessions and meetings. These meetings pertain to one of the several components that serve different purposes, but are all interrelated and adopted as a single budget in June. Internal and departmental deadlines have all been removed from the calendar presented this evening for clarity purposes.

<u>ALTERNATIVES</u>: Council may request date changes to administratively move dates; however, this may complicate the preparation of the CMMP, School Budget, and Departmental Budgets.

<u>FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS</u>: The City will need to have a budget approved prior to the start of the fiscal year on July 1.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: None. No formal action is required.

<u>CITY MANAGER COMMENTS</u>: Thank you to our team for their coordinated efforts in streamlining this calendar, and aiming to get an effective internal calendar up and running.

ATTACHMENTS: City Council Budget Meeting Calendar

FY 2022 Budget and CMMP 2022 - 2031 October to December			
10/13/20	City Council	Discussion	Review & Comment on CMMP And Budget Schedule
10/15/20	Planning Commission	Discussion	CMMP Presentation to Planning Commission & Request for Project Ideas
10/27/20	City Council	Discussion	Review & Comment on CMMP Project Ranking Criteria
11/10/20	City Council	Directive	Decide CMMP Project Ranking Criteria & Weights
11/10/20	CM & City Council	Resolution	Establish Community Support Grant Due Dates, Dollar Target and/or Formula
11/19/20	Planning Commission	Discussion	Collect Planning Commission Project Ideas
FY 2022 Budget and CMMP 2022 - 2031 January to May			
1/21/21	Planning Commission	Discussion	DRAFT CMMP Presentation to Planning Commission
1/26/21	City Council	Discussion	Present to Council: Budget Goals and Revenue Projections (Finance Dir)
	Resolution	Adopt Budget Goals (Finance Dir/CM)	
2/9/21	City Council	Discussion	Review CMMP Nominations and Prioritize Projects (Planning Dir)
3/23/21	City Council	Discussion	DRAFT CMMP Presentation to Council
4/12/21	City Council	Discussion	Special Budget Presentation: School Budget Presentation; Community Support Grant Applicant Presentations
4/13/21	City Council	Discussion	Special Budget Presentation: Departmental Operating Budget Presentations; Present Final CMMP
4/27/21 City Council	/27/21 City Council Resolution Resolution	Follow Up Budget and CMMP Questions; Adopt Resolution for Final CMMP	
		Resolution	Adopt Resolution for School Funding Sum
		Resolution	Adopt Resolution for Community Grant Awards
5/11/21 City Council Ordinance Resolution		Ordinance	First Reading of FY22 Budget
		Resolution	Set Property Mill Rate
5/25/21	City Council	Ordinance	Public Hearing, 2nd Reading and Adoption of FY22 Budget Ordinance

Budget Meetings

CMMP Meetings

Planning Commission Meetings

CITY OF UNALASKA UNALASKA, ALASKA

RESOLUTION 2020-64

A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO AN AGREMENT RENEWING A 20 YEAR LEASE WITH TELALASKA FOR THE LEAR ROAD WATER TANK SITE

WHEREAS, the Unalaska City Council presently leases a portion of city owned real estate for use by TelAlaska for its tower located on Lear Road and shared with the water tank; and

WHEREAS, the existing contract expires at the end of 2020 and TelAlaska is seeking a new lease to use the same city owned real estate; and

WHEREAS, TelAlaska currently pays \$14,400 annually for the use of the real estate and the proposed rate remains the same, as it is within the most recent appraisal from Appraisal Company of Alaska LLC dated September 13, 2014.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council authorizes the City Manager to enter into a new lease for the site at \$14,400 per year for a period of 20 years, examining the payment terms every five years for any changes in the real estate appraised value.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 13, 2020.

Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. Mayor

ATTEST:

Marjie Veeder, CMC City Clerk

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL

То:	Mayor and City Council Members
From:	William Homka, Planning Director
Through:	Erin Reinders, City Manager
Date:	October 13, 2020
Re:	Resolution 2020-64: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement
	renewing a 20 Year Lease with TelAlaska for the Lear Road Water Tank Site

<u>SUMMARY</u>: TelAlaska currently has a cellular communications tower on a city owned parcel in the valley on which a water tower is also present. TelAlaska is seeking another long term lease of twenty years. City Council must authorize the City Manager to enter into leases with terms extending beyond five years. Staff recommends approval.

BACKGROUND: The existing lease for TelAlaska's use is for a portion of city owned real estate situated off Lear Road and on the same parcel as the Lear Road Water Tower. The existing lease spanned 10 years, beginning in 2010 and expiring this year.

DISCUSSION: Staff has drafted a 20 year lease renewal agreement with TelAlaska. The rate is within the range indicated as acceptable per a letter from the Appraisal Company of Alaska LLC dated September 13, 2014. The appraisal letter establishes a rate of between \$800 and \$1,200 per month. The current lease rate is \$14,400 per year, or \$1,200 per month. Exhibit 'A' indicates the general vicinity of the water tank, and Exhibit 'B' illustrates the tower site in relation to the water tank and access.

<u>ALTERNATIVES</u>: Council may deny the lease or amend the proposed terms including lease period and rate.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The city receives \$14,400 annually from the present lease for this tower and location.

LEGAL: Draft agreement is being reviewed by our attorney.

<u>STAFF RECOMMENDATION</u>: Approve Resolution 2020-64 authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement renewing a 20 Year Lease with TelAlaska.

PROPOSED MOTION: This is a consent agenda item and will be included in the motion to adopt the consent agenda.

<u>CITY MANAGER COMMENTS</u>: I support staff's recommendation.

ATTACHMENTS:

- Draft lease
- Appraisal Company of Alaska letter, Tower and Cell Site Leases, September 13, 2014

EXHIBIT A Vicinity Map



EXHIBIT B Location Map



LEASE AGREEMENT

This Lease Agreement is made and entered into this _____ day of _____ 2020, between the City of Unalaska, a first-class Alaska municipal corporation ("Lessor"), whose address is P.O. Box 610, Unalaska, Alaska 99685, and TelAlaska, an Alaskan corporation ("Lessee"), whose address is 201 E. 56th Avenue, Anchorage, AK 99518.

NOW THEREFORE, the Lessor and the Lessee, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions stated in this Lease, agree as follows:

Leased Parcel: The Lessor hereby leases to the Lessee, and the Lessee hereby leases from the Lessor, the following parcel of land (collectively "Parcel") located within, Plat No. 93-6, City of Unalaska, Aleutian Islands Recording District, Third Judicial District, State of Alaska, more particularly described as follows, with the right of vehicular access to and from the Premises across Water Tank Hill Subdivision:

Legal Description:

LEAR ROAD WATER TANK TRACT

Containing approximately 280 square feet, more or less, as shown on the attached drawing (marked as Exhibit A) made a part hereof.

- A. Together with a right-of-of-way for ingress to and egress from the Premises; a right-of-way for establishing and maintaining an underground line or underground lines for extending electric power and/or telecommunication lines to the Premises; all rights-of-way to be under said lands and adjoining lands of the Licensor, and unless herein described otherwise, to be by routes reasonably determined to be the most convenient to the Licensee.
- B. And the right to make alterations, attach fixtures, and erect additions, structures, or signs, in or upon the Premises hereby Licensed, which alterations, fixtures, additions, structures or signs so placed in or upon, or attached to the said Premises shall be and remain the property of the Licensee.

A plan view of the Premises is attached as Exhibit A which shows the leased parcel and the location in Water Tank Hill Subdivision.

EXCEPTING AND RESERVING THEREFROM, to the Lessor and its assigns during the term of this Lease, the following specific interests, which shall be in addition to and not in derogation of any general reservations to the Lessor, which may be stated elsewhere in this Lease: easements, rights of way and reservations of record.

1. <u>Term</u>: The term of this Lease shall be for a period of 20 year(s) commencing on the ______, 2020 and ending on ______, 2040 unless sooner terminated as herein provided.

Early Termination by Lessee: Lessee shall have the option to terminate this lease at any time prior to the expiration of the initial term subject to the following conditions:

- (a) Lessee shall give Lessor written notice of its intent to so terminate this lease no less than ninety (90) days prior to the date of termination; and
- (b) Lessee shall pay a termination fee to Lessor equal to one year's rent at the then-existing rental rate.
- <u>Rent</u>: The Lessee shall pay to the Lessor ("Rent') in the amount of <u>Fourteen</u> <u>Thousand Four Hundred Dollars (\$14,400)</u> per year, in advance, on January 1 of each year, based on the market rate for tower and cell site leases as determined by the City Assessor.
- 3. <u>Adjustments to Rent</u>: Commencing at the end of the fifth (5th) year of the term, and continuing at the end of every five (5) years thereafter the Rent shall be adjusted upward or downward, but not less than <u>Nine Thousand Six Hundred Dollars</u> (\$9,600), in accordance with the market rate for tower and cell site leases as determined by the City Assessor.
- 4. <u>Payment of Rent:</u> Rent payments shall be made payable to the City of Unalaska and delivered to the City of Unalaska Finance Department, P.O. Box 610, Unalaska, Alaska 99685, or to any other address that Lessor may designate in writing.
- 5. <u>Interest on Delinquent Payments:</u> All unpaid rents and fees shall accrue interest at the rate of ten and one-half per cent (10.5%) per annum beginning thirty (30) days after payment is due.
- 6. <u>Use of Parcel</u>: The Lessee shall use and occupy the Parcel in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, ordinances and orders which a public authority has promulgated or may promulgate, including those of a building or zoning authority and those relating to pollution and sanitation control. The Lessee shall not permit any unlawful occupation, business, or trade to be conducted on the Parcel. The Lessee shall properly locate itself and its improvements on the Parcel, and shall not commit waste of the Parcel, whether ameliorated or otherwise. Notwithstanding such laws, regulations, ordinances and orders, the Lessee shall maintain the Parcel in a reasonably neat and clean condition, and take all prudent precautions to prevent

or suppress pollution of the ground, surface water, air, or land, and to prevent erosion or destruction of the land.

- (a) Lessee may use the Parcel for any lawful purpose in connection with its telecommunication operations or any business purpose of the Lessee.
 - (1) All equipment on the Parcel, including, but not limited to, antennas placed on the Parcel shall not interfere with other equipment which is located on or about the same general site.
 - (2) All antennas and equipment shall be grounded to meet the National Electrical Code (NEC). The antenna/equipment facilities wind support guide lines shall include anti-reflective insulators as to prevent any Electro Magnetic Interference (EMI) with any other equipment on or about the site. The lessee will investigate any and all interference reports sent in written form. The Lessee will maintain technical support to correct any and all reports of interference by the Lessee's equipment. The Lessee will install any equipment necessary to filter, tune, and isolate any interference developed by the installed equipment.
 - (3) All towers shall be designed to prevent the climbing of the tower by the general public.
- 7. Quiet Enjoyment: Lessor covenants and agrees that Lessee, upon performance of all of Lessee's obligations under this Lease, shall lawfully, quietly and exclusively hold, occupy and enjoy the Parcel during the term of this Lease without disturbance by Lessor or by any person having title paramount to Lessor's title or by any person claiming under Lessor, provided, however, that Lessor expressly reserves the right, without compensation or adjustment of rentals to Lessee, to grant surface, underground or overhead easements or rights-of-way for public improvements and purposes in or upon the Parcel if the exercise of this right will not unreasonably interfere with Lessee's improvements and use of the Parcel.
- 8. <u>Alterations and Improvements</u>: Upon receiving written permission from Lessor, Lessee may make alterations, additions and improvements to the Parcel, at Lessee's sole cost and expense. Lessor's consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Lessee shall remove all improvements and personal property of Lessee from the Parcel at the end of the Lease term and the Parcel shall be restored to the condition prevailing on the effective date of this Lease.
- 9. <u>Title to Improvements</u>. All buildings, structures, fixtures and permanent improvements placed or attached on or about the Parcel by Lessee shall remain the property of Lessee until such time as the expiration or termination of this Agreement.
- 10. <u>Removal of Improvements And Chattels After Termination:</u>

- (a) Lessee shall, within three (3) months after termination of this Agreement, remove all improvements and chattels from the Parcel provided that Lessor first determines that such removal will not cause injury or damage to the Parcel or seriously impair its redisposal.
- (b) If any improvements or chattels having an appraised value exceeding \$20,000.00 as determined by the Lessor, are not removed from the Parcel within the time allowed, they shall, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to Lessee, be sold at public auction under the direction of Lessor.
- (c) Any chattels or improvements having a total appraised value of \$20,000.00 or less, as determined by the Lessor, and which are authorized for removal by Lessor but are not removed within the time allowed, shall become the absolute property of the Lessor.
- (d) Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for damages to the Parcel caused by the removal of fixtures and improvements.
- 11. <u>Encumbrance of Parcel</u>: The Lessee, during the term of this Lease, shall not encumber or cloud the Lessor's reversionary interest in the Parcel, without the prior written consent of the Lessor, which shall not be unreasonably withheld; and any such act or omission, without the prior written consent of the Lessor, shall be voidable by the Lessor.
- 12. <u>Assignment of Lease and Sublease of Parcel:</u> The Lessee may not assign this Lease or sublet the Parcel, without the prior written consent of the Lessor, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. No assignment of this Lease shall be approved until the assignee agrees to be subject to and governed by the provisions of this Lease in the same manner as the original Lessee to the extent that they may be applicable to the sublease except for the payment of Rent and other monetary obligations. No such assignment or sublease will be effective until approved by the Lessor in writing or shall annul the Lessee's obligation to pay the rent herein required for the full term of this Lease. Except as permitted by the Lessor, no subdivision of the Lessee's leasehold interest, including any exposed airspace thereon, shall occur.
- 13. <u>Denial of Warranty Regarding Conditions</u>: The Lessor makes no warranty, express or implied, nor assumes any liability whatsoever, regarding the natural, social, economic, or environmental conditions of the Parcel, including, without limitation, the soil, water and drainage conditions, natural or artificial hazards, and the profitability or fitness of the Parcel for any use.

Lessee represents and warrants that it has independently inspected the Parcel and made all tests, investigations and observations necessary to satisfy itself of the condition of the Parcel. Lessee shall and is relying solely on such independent inspection, tests, investigations and observations in making this Agreement. Lessee accepts and shall be responsible for any risk of harm to any person and property, including but not limited to, employees of Lessee, from any latent defects in the Parcel.

- 14. <u>Agreement to Terms of Lease:</u> The Lessor and the Lessee agree and recognize that each of the covenants and conditions in this Lease and any attachments thereto are merged and incorporated into this agreement and shall be binding upon themselves and upon their respective successors, successors in interest and assigns and shall inure to their benefit. The Lessor and the Lessee further agree and recognize that this Lease shall be conditioned upon satisfactory performance by the Lessor and the Lessee of all covenants and conditions contained herein.
- 15. <u>Utilities and Services</u>: Lessee shall, at its expense, procure and timely pay for all services and utilities and hook-ups therefor which are necessary or appropriate for its operation or use of the Parcel.
- 16. <u>Easements</u>: Lessor reserves the right to make grants to third parties or reserve to the Lessor easements through, on or above the Parcel for the purpose of providing water, sewer or electric services to the Parcel or to adjacent properties, or for the purpose of providing reasonable public access to public waters, provided that no such easement or may be granted or reserved which unreasonably interferes with the Lessee's use of the Parcel.
- 17. <u>Access</u>: The Lessor makes no representations or warranty that it will construct or maintain access to the Parcel.
- 18. <u>Valid Existing Rights</u>: This Lease is entered into and made subject to all valid existing rights, including easements, rights-of-way, reservations, or other interests in land of record on the date of execution of this Lease.
- 19. <u>Inspection</u>: The Lessor shall have reasonable access to the Parcel for purposes of inspection regarding the faithful performance by the Lessee of the covenants and conditions of this Lease and for the performance of other lawful requirements.
- 20. <u>Acquisition of Rights or Interests</u>: Any right or interest acquired during the term of this Lease and accruing to the benefit of the Parcel shall remain appurtenant to the Parcel during that term, and shall not be severed or transferred from the Parcel without the prior consent of the Lessor. In the event of termination or forfeiture of this Lease, any such right or interest shall revert to the Lessor along with the Parcel.
- 21. <u>Environmental Indemnification</u>: If any hazardous substances are released or discharged on or from the Parcel to, on or about the Parcel or other properties, including, but not limited to, the surface or subsurface waters adjacent to the Parcel during the term of this Agreement, Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and hold Lessor harmless from any and all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities or losses, including, but not limited to, costs incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any cleanup, remediation, removal, or restorative work required by any federal or state agency due to the presence of hazardous substances in the soil or groundwater on or under the Parcel or other affected properties, whether such losses arise during or after the term of this Agreement, but only to the extent that such release or discharge is not caused by the fault of Lessor or its agents, representatives, contractors or employees.

- 22. Hazardous Substances: Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee that, to the best of its information, knowledge and belief, no hazardous substances have been released, discharged or spilled on the Parcel; however, Lessor does not represent, warrant or guarantee that this is necessarily the case. Otherwise, Lessor has made no express or implied representations or warranties to Lessee with respect to the release, discharge or spillage of any hazardous substances in, on or about the Parcel. Lessee hereby releases and discharges Lessor, its affiliates and all of their respective past, present and future officials, employees, agents, attorneys, insurers and representatives, with prejudice, from any and all claims, obligations or liabilities which have arisen, resulted from or are based upon, or may in the future arise out of, result from or be based upon, in whole or in part, the past release, discharge or spill of any hazardous substances or other environmental pollution in, on or about the Parcel, regardless of whether such claim, obligation or liability, or the type or extent thereof, is now known or foreseeable; provided, however, that such release and discharge shall be inapplicable to claims, obligations and liabilities that are based upon a material breach of the representations and warranties made by Lessor in this Section.
- 23. <u>Definition of Hazardous Substance:</u> Hazardous substance, as such term is used in this Agreement, includes: (a) (1) crude oil, (2) petroleum, (3) diesel fuel, (4) marine fuel, (5) heating oil, (6) gasoline, (7) motor oil, (8) kerosene, (9) aviation fuel, (10) other petroleum products, additions and derivatives, (11) urea formaldehyde foam insulation, (12) asbestos, and (13) polychlorinated biphenyls; and (b) any other (1) pollutant, (2) contaminant or (3) toxic, flammable, explosive, radioactive, noxious, hazardous, extremely hazardous, dangerous or potentially dangerous waste, material or substance, the response to which or the remediation or removal of which is required, or the manufacture, preparation, production, use, maintenance, treatment, storage, transfer, disposal, handling, processing or ownership of which is restricted, prohibited, regulated or penalized by any federal or state law or regulation as now or hereafter in effect.
- 24. <u>Erosion Prevention</u>: Lessee shall prevent unwarranted erosion of the Parcel that is caused by Lessee's use or occupancy of the Parcel. Any such erosion shall be repaired in a manner satisfactory to Lessor at Lessee's sole expense.
- Waiver or Forbearance: The receipt of rent by the Lessor, with or without knowledge of 25. any breach of the Lease by the Lessee, or of any default on the part of the Lessee in the observance or performance of any of the terms, conditions or covenants of this Lease, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any provision of this Lease. No failure on the part of the Lessor to enforce a condition or covenant of this Lease, nor the waiver of any right hereunder by the Lessor, unless in writing, shall discharge or invalidate the application of such term or covenant; nor shall any forbearance or written waiver affect the right of the Lessor to enforce any term or covenant in the event of any subsequent breach or default. The receipt by the Lessor of rent or any other sum of money, or the termination in any manner of the Lease, or the giving by the Lessor of any notice hereunder to effect such termination, shall not reinstate, continue, or extend this Lease, nor destroy or in any manner or impair the validity of any such notice of termination which may have been given hereunder by the Lessor to the Lessee prior to the receipt of any such sum of money or other consideration, unless the contrary effect shall be expressed in writing and signed by the Lessor.

26. <u>Bankruptcy:</u> In the event Lessee becomes insolvent, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, becomes the subject of a bankruptcy proceeding, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency, receivership, liquidation, or dissolution proceedings, or in the event of any judicial sale of Lessee's interest under this Lease, Lessor shall have the right to declare this lease in default.

27. Breach and Remedies:

- (a) Time is of the essence of this Lease. If the Lessee shall materially breach any of the terms, covenants, conditions or stipulations contained in this Lease or attached hereto which are applicable to it, and said breach shall not be completely cured within 60 days after written notice of such breach has been served by the Lessor upon the Lessee and each holder of a security interest in the Lessee's interest under this Lease that has notified the Lessor of such security interest, the Lessee shall be subject to such legal rights and remedies as the Lessor shall have available to it under applicable law, including, but not limited to, the termination of this Lease; provided, however, that no improvements now upon the Parcel, or which may be placed thereon during the term of this Lease, may be removed therefrom during any time in which the Lessee may be in material breach of this Lease. In the event that this Lease is terminated by the Lessor for a material breach by the Lessee of this Lease, all rents paid by the Lessee shall be forfeited to and retained by the Lessor, not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages for such breach. The Lessor shall not be liable for any expenditures made by the Lessee or undertaken by the Lessee under this Lease prior to such termination.
- (b) If the Lessee fails to completely cure a material breach of this Lease by it within the time allowed in (a) of this paragraph, any holder of a security interest in the Lessee's interest under this Lease who has notified the Lessor such security interest may cure or remedy such breach if the breach can be cured by the payment of money or, if this cannot be done, by performing, or undertaking in writing to perform, the Lessee's obligations which are the subject of such breach that are capable of performance by the holder. The holder shall act within 60 days from the date of receipt of notice under (a) of this paragraph, or within any additional period, which the Lessor may allow for good cause.
- (c) In the event that this Lease is terminated, or in the event that the Parcel is abandoned by the Lessee during the term of this Lease, the Lessor may immediately, or at any time thereafter, enter or reenter and take possession of such Parcel and without liability for any damage there for, remove all persons and personal properties therefrom, either by summary proceedings or by suitable action at law; provided, however, that the words "enter" and "re-enter" as used herein are not restricted to their technical legal meaning. Any entry or re-entry, possession, repossession, or dispossession by the Lessor, whether taken by summary proceedings or otherwise, shall not be deemed to absolve, relieve, release or discharge the Lessee, either in whole or part, for any monetary liability under the Lease.
- 28. <u>Indemnification</u>: To the fullest extent allowed by law, Lessee shall defend indemnify and hold harmless Lessor from and against all claims and demands for loss or damage, including property damage, personal injury, wrongful death, and wage or employment claims arising out of or in connection with the use or occupancy of the Parcel by Lessee

or by any other person holding under Lessee from any accident or fire on the Parcel and from any nuisances made or suffered thereon; and from any failure by Lessee to keep the Parcel in a safe and lawful condition except to the extent that such claims or demands are caused by the fault of Lessor or its agents, representatives, employees or contractors.

- 29. <u>Surrender of Leasehold:</u> Upon the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, the Lessee shall quietly and peaceably leave, surrender and yield up unto the Lessor all of the Parcel. In the event that Lessee remains in possession of the Parcel after the expiration of this Agreement with Lessor's permission, Lessee shall be deemed to be occupying the Parcel as a month-to-month tenant, subject to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the law, to the extent that they may be applicable to a month-to-month tenant.
- 30. <u>Required Insurance</u>: The following insurance coverage is required to be furnished by the Lessee and is subject to annual review and adjustment by the Lessor, who may require reasonable increases in such coverage based on increased risks. Prior to execution of this Lease, Lessee shall provide Lessor with a certificate of insurance meeting the insurance requirements below. Acceptance of deficient evidence of insurance does not constitute a waiver of lease insurance requirements.

Insurance shall be placed with companies acceptable to the City of Unalaska; such companies shall be licensed to do business in Alaska or shall be a surplus carrier approved by the State of Alaska, and shall be rated "A-" or better in *Best's Key Rating Guide*.

(a) <u>Commercial General Liability Insurance</u>. Such insurance must have coverage limits of not less than \$1,000,000 combined single limits per occurrence and not less than two million dollars (\$2,000,000) aggregate limits and shall include Parcel operations, independent contractors, products/completed operations, broad form property damage, blanket contractual and personal injury endorsements.

The policies evidencing such coverage shall contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions:

- The Lessor, its officers, its agents and its employees are to be covered as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of use of the Parcel or operations of the Lessee with respect to the Parcel and all rights of subrogation must be waived against the Lessor, its officers, its agents and its employees for losses arising as a result of this lease.
- 2. The Lessee's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with respect to the Lessor, its officers, agents, and employees. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the Lessor shall be excess of the Lessee's insurance and shall not contribute to it.
- 3. Coverage shall state that the Lessee's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom claim is made or suit brought except with the respect to the limits of insurer's liability.
- 4. That, as respects the interests of Lessor, such insurance shall (A) not be invalidated by any action or neglect of any person other than Lessor and (B) insure Lessor regardless of any misrepresentation, breach or non-observance of

any warranty, declaration or condition contained in any applications by Lessee for, or policy evidencing, such insurance; and

- 5. That no such insurance shall be canceled or materially changed as respects the interests of Lessor on less than thirty days prior written notice to Lessor;
- (b) <u>Workers' Compensation and the Employer's Liability Coverage</u>. The Lessee shall be covered with workers compensation insurance and employer's liability insurance in the required statutory amounts.
- 31. <u>Notices:</u> All notices required or permitted under this Lease shall be personally delivered or sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, to the parties at the following addresses:

If to Lessee:

If to Lessor:

Erin Reinders, City Manager City of Unalaska P.O. Box 610 Unalaska, AK 99685

Any notice or demand which must be given or made by the Lessor or the Lessee shall be in writing and shall be complete if personally delivered or sent by United States certified mail to the address shown in the Lease Agreement, or to such other address as each of the parties may designate in writing from time to time. A copy of any such notice shall be forwarded to the Lessor, and to the holder of any security interest in the Lessee's interest in the Lease has properly given notice of its security interest in the Lease to the Lessor.

- 32. <u>Integration and Modification</u>: This Lease, including all attachments and documents which by reference are incorporated herein or made a part hereof, contains the entire agreement between the parties hereto.
- 33. <u>Amendments</u>: This Lease may not be modified or amended except by a document signed by both parties hereto, and any purported amendment or modification shall be without legal effect until reduced to writing and signed by both parties hereto.
- 34. <u>Severability of Clauses of Lease Agreement</u>: If any clause, or provision, herein contained, shall be adjudged to be invalid or unenforceable, it shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other clause or provision of this Lease or give any cause of action in favor of either party as against the other.
- 35. <u>Applicable Law</u>: This Lease shall be governed by the laws of the State of Alaska. The venue for any dispute between the parties shall lie exclusively with the courts for the Third Judicial District for the State of Alaska at Anchorage, or, alternatively, with the

United States District Court for the District of Alaska at Anchorage, unless a nonwaivable federal or Alaska law should require to the contrary.

36. <u>Effective Date:</u> This Lease shall not be effective until and unless approved by the City Council of Lessor and the Board of Directors of Lessee. This Lease shall become effective upon the occurrence of the last such approval.

EFFECTIVE DATE: _____, 2020.

IN WITHNESS WHEREOF, the Lessor and Lessee have each caused this lease to be duly executed as of the date first written above.

LESSEE:	
Dated:	BY <mark>Dave Goggins, General Manager</mark>
STATE OF Alaska)	
) ss.	
Third Judicial District)	
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged	
20by of _	Anchorage, Alaska, on
behalf of the corporation.	
	Notary Public, State of Washington
	My Commission expires

LESSOR: CITY OF UNALASKA

Dated: _____

BY_____ Erin Reinders, City Manager

STATE OF ALASKA)

) ss.

)

Third Judicial District

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of _____ 20__, by Erin Reinders, City Manager for the City of Unalaska, a First-Class Alaska Municipal Corporation, on behalf of the City of Unalaska.

Notary Public, State of Alaska

My Commission expires___



Return to: City of Unalaska Planning Department P.O. Box 610 Unalaska, AK 99685



September 13, 2014

Erin Renders, Planning Director City of Unalaska P.O. Box 610 Unalaska, AK 99685

RE: Tower and Cell Site Leases

Dear Ms. Reinders:

In the past we have leased these sites based upon the market value of the larger parcel per square foot times the area leased. After research in the market throughout the state I believe this method equates to a below market rate for tower and cell site leases. In talking to other telecommunication companies the lease rates for tower and cell sites range from \$800 to \$1200 per month. These rates are not dependent on size but the amount of revenue that can be generated from the site. The higher rates are for towers in densely populated urban areas. The lower end of the range is for sites with less usage.

It would be my recommendation that we set a minimum lease rate of \$800 per month for a tower or cell site lease. Very large sites would trend to the upper end of the range. Again I would recommend that the leases be reviewed every five years at the maximum.

I know that this methodology is different than what has been done in the past, but these sites are unique in the market place and we should follow the market for valuing them. I will be in Unalaska the 25th or 26^h for a week, weather and airline tickets cooperating if you have additional questions.

Sincerely,

Michael C. Renfro Contract Assessor City of Unalaska

CITY OF UNALASKA UNALASKA, ALASKA

RESOLUTION 2020-65

A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL APPROVING THE MAYOR'S APPOINTMENTS OF CAMERON DEAN AND ANDREW DIETRICK TO THE PARKS, CULTURE AND RECREATION COMMITTEE

WHEREAS, due to the resignations of Michelle Murdock and Robert Cummings, there are two vacancies on the Parks, Culture and Recreation Committee; and

WHEREAS, Unalaska City Code § 2.60.040 states that board members shall be appointed by the Mayor, subject to approval of the City Council; and

WHEREAS, Mayor Tutiakoff appointed Cameron Dean and Andrew Dietrick to the Parks, Culture and Recreation Committee to complete the terms of the resigning members, and submits the appointments to the City Council for approval.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council approves the following appointments to the Parks, Culture and Recreation Committee:

APPOINTEE	TERM EXPIRES
Cameron Dean	February 2021
Andrew Dietrick	February 2023

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 13, 2020.

Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. Mayor

ATTEST:

Marjie Veeder, CMC City Clerk

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL

To:	Mayor and City Council Members
From:	Marjie Veeder, City Clerk
Through:	Erin Reinders, City Manager
Date:	October 13, 2020
Re:	Resolution 2020-65: Approving the Mayor's Appointments of Cameron Dean and
	Andrew Dietrick to the Parks, Culture and Recreation Committee

<u>SUMMARY</u>: Members of committees and commissions are appointed by the Mayor, subject to approval of the City Council. The Mayor made appointments to the PCR Committee following the resignation of two members, which are presented to Council for approval.

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council is provided the opportunity to approve the Mayor's appointments to committees and commissions annually, or as vacancies and appointments occur throughout the year.

BACKGROUND and DISCUSSION: Due to the resignations of Michelle Murdock and Robert Cummings, there are two vacancies on the PCR Committee. Mr. Cummings' term expires in February 2021 and Ms. Murdock's term expires in February 2023. Three applications to serve on the PCR Committee were received. The PCR Committee reviewed the applications and made recommendations to the Mayor. The Mayor appointed Cameron Dean to the term expiring in 2021; and Andrew Dietrick to the term expiring in February 2023.

<u>ALTERNATIVES</u>: Council may choose not to approve the Mayor's appointments, in which case the vacancies will be advertised again and interested persons encouraged to apply.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: None. This is a Council decision.

PROPOSED MOTION: This is a consent agenda item and will be included in the motion to adopt the consent agenda.

ATTACHMENTS: Applications



BOARD, COMMITTEE & COMMISSION APPLICATION

APPLYING FOR (check one):

- Dependence Planning Commission, Platting Board and Historic Preservation Commission
- X Parks, Culture & Recreation Committee
- Library Advisory Committee

- □ Museum of the Aleutians Board of Directors
- □ Iliuliuk Family & Health Services Clinic Board

Name: Andy Dietrick

Mailing Address: PO Box 53, Unalaska, Alaska 99685

Telephone: 907-957-1680

Email: andydietrick@yahoo.com Occupation: Unmanned Aircraft Pilot & Boat Captain Employer: Aleutian Aerial LLC & Aleutian Excursions LLC

Previous Board/Committee/Commission Experience (attach additional pages if necessary):

None in Unalaska. Board member of the Alaska Mountain Rescue Group, Anchorage, AK, 2007-2013.

Check the primary reason(s) for your interest:

- □ I am a returning board, committee or commission member whose term recently expired.
- X I have expertise I want to contribute.
- □ I am interested in the activities the board, committee or commission handles.
- □ I want to participate in local government.
- □ I want to make sure my segment of the community is represented.
- Other

Please explain in greater detail the reasons you checked above: I would like to serve on this board and contribute input on PCR facilities and programming. I have a background in many outdoor recreational activities (hiking, mountaineering, skiing, diving, boating) as well as mountain search and rescue. I have ideas for outdoor recreation and safety related programming as well as future PCR facility construction and reconfiguration.

It is suggested you attach an outline of your education, work and volunteer experience, and other interests.

How did you learn of this vacancy (please check one): □ Media 🛛 🕱 Word of Mouth 🗆 Solicitation

Other

Date: 9/15/2020

Signature:

THANK YOU FOR YOUR INTEREST IN SERVING Applications expire one year from date received by City Clerk Please return completed Application to the City Clerk's Office in City Hall, 43 Raven Way, Unalaska Or mail to City Clerk, City of Unalaska, P. O. Box 610, Unalaska, AK 99685

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND

1998 – 2003 Corvallis, OR Bachelor of Science – Mechanical Engineering

WORK EXPERIENCE

• September 2016 – Present Unalaska, AK Aleutian Aerial LLC Owner/operator of Aleutian Aerial LLC, a FAA Part 107 certified small unmanned aerial systems service provider. Services include aerial photography, videography, photogrammetry, incident response, and environmental monitoring. Completion of the first highresolution, survey-grade, aerial imagery and modeling of an Alaskan town. The project included 3,000-acres of the developed area of the City of Unalaska. First in the United States to use drone technology in a successful dis-entanglement of a humpback whale during a NOAA led response in Unalaska Bay in October 2018. High-resolution aerial mosaic imagery of residential, commercial, and public properties in the Aleutians, Southeast Alaska, and beyond.

Oregon State University

• October 2016 – January 2019 Unalaska, AK University of Alaska Fairbanks Aleutian-Pribilof Center Liaison for the Bristol Bay Campus of the University of Alaska Fairbanks in Unalaska, Alaska. Some duties included class scheduling, media production, travel logistics, SCUBA diving instruction, marine mammal stranding and entanglement response.

• Winter seasons 2003 – 2016 Alaska Eaglecrest Ski Area, Alyeska Resort, Alaska DOT Ski patrol, weather & avalanche forecasting, and mountain/avalanche rescue for 13 winters – 3 at Eaglecrest Ski Area in Juneau, AK, 8 at Alyeska Ski Resort in Girdwood, AK, and 2 at the Alaska Department of Transportation in Juneau and Skagway, AK. This time included design, set-up, and maintenance of remote weather stations.

• Summer seasons 1998 - 2014 Alaska Various employers Outdoor guiding and boat captaining throughout the Inside Passage, Juneau Icefield, Prince William Sound, and the Talkeetna, Susitna, and Nenana Rivers during summer seasons for 17 years. This included river raft guiding, glacier trekking, water taxi, whale watching, kayak tours, fish guiding, and vessel repositioning.

OTHER CREDENTIALS & EXPERIENCE

- State of Alaska Commercial Driver's License, Class A, Hazmat and Tank endorsements with current health certificate
- FAA Part 107 Remote Pilot certificate
- United States Coast Guard 100-ton Master's License
- Transportation Worker Identification Credential (TWIC)
- PADI Rescue Diver (2017); PADI Advanced Open Water Diver (2016); PADI Open Water Diver (2003)
- Fundamentals of Engineering exam, passed in 2003
- ESRI Migrating from ArcMap to ArcGIS Pro, 16-hour training, May 2018
- Pix4D Attended Pix4D User Workshop in modern photogrammetry and Pix4D applications, March 2017
- Pix4D Attended Pix4D Intermediate User Workshop in advanced processing, March 2017
- Professional member: American Society for Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing (ASPRS) & American Avalanche Association
- State of Alaska EMT-I, current 2004-2018
- Volunteer board member and training coordinator for Alaska Mountain Rescue Group, Anchorage, Alaska, 2006-2014
- Volunteer member of Girdwood Volunteer Fire Department, 2011-2014
- Volunteer member of Capital City Fire & Rescue Rope & Water Rescue, EMS, Juneau, Alaska, 2004-2006
- Volunteer member of Juneau Mountain Rescue, 2004-2006



white Ma

BOARD, COMMITTEE & COMMISSION APPLICATION

APPLYING FOR (check one):

D Planning Commission, Platting Board and Historic Preservation Commission

Parks, Culture & Recreation Committee

Museum of the Aleutians Board of Directors

- Library Advisory Committee
- Iliuliuk Family & Health Services Clinic Board

Name: Comeron Deon	and the second s
Mailing Address: PO Ba 921225	Durch Honbor, At 99692
Telephone: 907 359 2007	Email: camhopkinsdean Egmail.com
Occupation: GTS Admin	Employer: Cou

Previous Board/Committee/Commission Experience (attach additional pages if necessary):

none

Check the primary reason(s) for your interest:

□ I am a returning board, committee or commission member whose term recently expired.

I have expertise I want to contribute.

x I am interested in the activities the board, committee or commission handles.

- I want to participate in local government.
- I want to make sure my segment of the community is represented.

Other

Please explain in greater detail the reasons you checked above: T this Ponto Anchonge (CT State Fork For

It is suggested you attach an outline of your education, work and volunteer experience, and other interests.

How did you learn of this vacancy (please check one):

Date

Signature:

Other

THANK YOU FOR YOUR INTEREST IN SERVING Applications expire one year from date received by City Clerk Please return completed Application to the City Clerk's Office in City Hall, 43 Raven Way, Unalaska Or mail to City Clerk, City of Unalaska, P. O. Box 610, Unalaska, AK 99685

Work Experience

City of Unalaska, GIS Administrator Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection, Resource Assistant Osmose Utilities Services, Production Technician Recreational Equipment, Inc., Outdoor Educator Anchorage Park Foundation, Field Educator and Program Assistant University of Alaska Center for Economic Development, AmeriCorps VISTA Leader Southwest Alaska Municipal Conference, STEM Education and Workforce Development Coordinator

Volunteering

Anchorage Nordic Ski Patrol

Education

Michigan State University, Professional Certificate in Geographic Information Systems University of Michigan, BA in Anthropology and Russian



BOARD, COMMITTEE & COMMISSION APPLICATION

APPLYING FOR (check one):

- D Planning Commission, Platting Board and Historic Preservation Commission
- Parks, Culture & Recreation Committee
- Museum of the Aleutians Board of Directors
- Library Advisory Committee

Iliuliuk Family & Health Services Clinic Board

Name: Jay Edward King

Mailing Address: Post Office Box 921311, Dutch Harbor, Alaska 99692

Telephone: 907-359-5050

Email: jking@ci.unalaska.ak.us

Occupation: Public Safety Director/Chief of Police Employer: City of Unalaska

Previous Board/Committee/Commission Experience (attach additional pages if necessary): No Prior Experience

Did serve as elected officer for Kiwanis Club, AL Peace Officer's Assoc., SSPBA & FOP

Check the primary reason(s) for your interest:

- □ I am a returning board, committee or commission member whose term recently expired.
- I have expertise I want to contribute.
- I am interested in the activities the board, committee or commission handles.
- I want to participate in local government.
- □ I want to make sure my segment of the community is represented.

Other

Please explain in greater detail the reasons you checked above: As a new member of the community, I have a desire to utilize my experiences gained by serving as a member of the Kiwanis Club and as the Commander over

the Montgomery Police Department School Resource Officer Program to create discussion on and implement goals

for improvements and the safety and security of operations of the facilities and programs offered through the PCR

It is suggested you attach an outline of your education, work and volunteer experience, and other interests.

How did you learn of this vacancy (please check one): Word of Mouth □ Media Solicitation

D Other

Date: 15 September 2020

Signature:

THANK YOU FOR YOUR INTEREST IN SERVING Applications expire one year from date received by City Clerk Please return completed Application to the City Clerk's Office in City Hall, 43 Raven Way, Unalaska Or mail to City Clerk, City of Unalaska, P. O. Box 610, Unalaska, AK 99685

CITY OF UNALASKA UNALASKA, ALASKA

RESOLUTION 2020-66

A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL CONTINUING MEASURES TO PROTECT PUBLIC HEALTH

WHEREAS, the COVID-19 pandemic has generated a public health emergency that threatens to overwhelm the City of Unalaska health system and the economy of our community, endangering the lives and wellbeing of our citizens; and

WHEREAS, on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared the virus a pandemic; and

WHEREAS, on March 11, 2020, the State of Alaska declared a public health emergency in response to the anticipated outbreak of the virus in Alaska and Governor Dunleavy implemented several health mandates and recommendations to help reduce the spread of COVID-19; and

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2020, President Donald J. Trump declared a national emergency in response to the virus pandemic; and

WHEREAS, on March 15, 2020, Mayor Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. declared a local emergency in the City of Unalaska, authorizing the City Manager to take necessary actions to reduce the impact and spread of the coronavirus known as COVID-19 through the City of Unalaska; and

WHEREAS, on March 18, 2020, the Unalaska City Council passed Resolution 2020-16, declaring a local emergency to remain in effect for so long as the declaration of a Public Health Disaster in the State of Alaska Remains in effect; and

WHEREAS, beginning on March 24, 2020, the Unalaska City Council has passed resolutions instituting additional local public health protective measures; and

WHEREAS, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) have issued public health guidance, including the social distancing measures, the recommendation that everyone wear a cloth face covering when in public settings where social distancing measures are difficult to maintain, and that certain individual take greater precautions; and

WHEREAS, local health officials have advised that in addition to practicing social distancing and staying at home as much as possible, additional measures that include the covering of an individual's nose and mouth will prevent asymptomatic individuals with COVID-19 from unknowingly spreading the disease; and

WHEREAS, local health officials have advised that stronger protective measures are required given Unalaska's remoteness, lack of road access to the mainland, and the fact that the majority of our community's businesses are designated as essential, critical or support critical infrastructure; and

WHEREAS, local health officials have advised that stronger protective measures are required to conserve limited local healthcare resources, as they strive to meet the needs of all community members and essential workforce employees; and

WHEREAS, as of October 7, 2020, there were 9,861 (residents and non-residents) cumulative known COVID-19 cases in the state, including travel-related cases in geographically isolated and remote communities; and

WHEREAS, there have been cases of seasonal non-resident workers throughout Alaska, including Unalaska, which have not been counted toward state totals, and which have been contained due to effective quarantine measures; and

WHEREAS, as of October 7, 2020, 103 patients have tested positive locally in Unalaska; and

WHEREAS, COVID-19 continues to pose a grave and imminent threat to the health, safety, order and welfare to the residents of the City; and

WHEREAS, this resolution shall have the same effect as a rule issued by the City Manager pursuant to Unalaska Code of Ordinances §2.96.040.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED:

1. Governor Mandates. Everyone in the City must follow all health mandates issued by the State of Alaska. Review local requirements carefully as some are more restrictive than state mandates.

2. Face Coverings. All customers and visitors of businesses and organizations that are open and operating must wear face masks covering their nose and mouth to provide additional protection for employees and customers. The face coverings need not be medical-grade masks or N95 respirators, but can be cloth face coverings. Face masks may be temporarily removed as necessary and incidental to utilizing the business or service.

A cloth face covering is a material that covers the nose and mouth. It can be secured to the head with ties or straps or simply wrapped around the lower face. It can be made of a variety of materials, such as cotton, silk, or linen. A cloth face covering may be factory-made or sewn by hand, or can be improvised from household items such as scarfs, T-shirts, sweatshirts or towels.

A business owner or operator may refuse admission or service to any individual who fails to wear a face covering as required by this resolution.

3. Traveler Quarantine. A person traveling into the City of Unalaska ("the city") by vessel or airplane, from another community or port, must self-quarantine for 14 days upon arriving at their destination and monitor for symptoms of illness. During travel and following the quarantine period, adherence to CDC guidance, State of Alaska mandates, and local orders and resolutions is required. This includes appropriate social distancing measures and adherence to face covering requirements. People traveling for critical business purposes are required to follow all State of Alaska health mandates including complying with their approved state plans.

a. Critical workforce employees must self-quarantine immediately upon arrival. If their employer has filed the required protocol with the City as required at paragraph 4, critical workforce employees may work during their self-quarantine period in accordance with that protocol. All workers under the critical workforce exception are required to self-quarantine during non-work hours within the 14 day time period.

- b. Patients or travelers arriving in Unalaska/Dutch Harbor, whose final destination is not Unalaska/Dutch Harbor, are required to self-quarantine during their stopover, but not remain here for the entire 14 day time period. This includes, but is not limited to, air travel.
- c. For individuals arriving on a vessel, time spent at sea is credited to the 14 day quarantine period. The time at sea is counted from the time of departure from the last location at which a crew member disembarked the vessel, provided that no one has boarded the vessel in that time. Vessel captains shall maintain a ship's log or equivalent record demonstrating compliance with State Health Mandate 17, when applicable, and detailing all activities at port or contact with other vessels or personnel during the time for which they seek credit for time at sea. For vessels that have been at sea more than 14 days and no one has disembarked or boarded the vessel, no quarantine is required unless individuals are showing symptoms of COVID-19, including, but not limited to fever, chills, or respiratory symptoms. Vessels at sea for less than 14 days, where no one has disembarked or boarded the vessel, may complete their quarantine in port as long as quarantine is not broken for the remainder of the 14 days.
- d. Anyone who is required to self-quarantine must adhere to the following:
 - 1) You may leave your designated quarantine location for:
 - i. medical emergencies or to seek medical care;
 - ii. to travel in your personal vehicle or vessel, individually or with members of your household, without contacting others, so long as you go directly from the quarantine location to the vehicle or vessel and directly back to the quarantine location; and
 - iii. to participate in outdoor recreational activities (i.e. fishing, hiking) individually or with members of your household, without contacting others, so long as you go directly from the quarantine location to the recreational activity and directly back to the quarantine location.
 - 2) Do not visit any public spaces, including, but not limited to stores, pools, meeting rooms, fitness centers or restaurants.
 - Do not allow visitors in or out of your designated quarantine location other than a physician, healthcare provider, or individual authorized to enter the designated quarantine location by Unified Command.
 - 4) Comply with all rules or protocols related to your quarantine as set forth by your hotel or rented lodging.
 - 5) If you are required to self-quarantine and there are other individuals in your residence, hotel room, or rented lodging, you are required to comply with social distancing guidelines, sanitize regularly touched surfaces, and follow CDC best practices for hand washing.

4. Essential Services/Critical Infrastructure State Protocols. Businesses identified as "essential services" or as "critical infrastructure" and operating in the City shall submit all protocols or plans required by State of Alaska Health Mandates to the City of Unalaska. These plans are to be submitted as soon as possible after filing these protocols or plans with the State of Alaska and regardless of whether the State review of those protocols or plans has been completed. Businesses shall also provide the City confirmation of the State's approval of its plan or protocol no more than three days after receiving such approval. In the event a business plan or protocol requires amendment or is rejected by the State, the business submitting that plan or protocol must notify the City no more than 48 hours after receiving the State's notification of deficiency. Such businesses shall submit their plans, protocols, or relevant notifications to the City of Unalaska by email to <u>COVID19PLANS@ci.unalaska.ak.us</u>. The definitions of "essential services" and "critical infrastructure" may be found in the Alaska Essential Services and Critical Workforce Order, Amended May 5, 2020. The plan submission requirements and definitions in the May 5 Order apply to businesses doing business in Unalaska regardless of any modifications or revocations of the Order or State Health Mandates 10, 10.1 or 18.

5. Business COVID-19 Protection Measures and Protocols. All businesses and organizations open and operating within the City shall comply with all relevant State of Alaska Health Mandates. All businesses and organizations, other than state, federal or municipal government facilities, which are open to members of the public at a physical location within the City shall post "COVID-19 Protection Measures and Procedures" on all entrances to and exits from the business. The "COVID-19 Protection Measures and Procedures" shall include, at minimum:

- a. The sanitation measures taken by the business or organization to prevent the spread of COVID-19.
- b. The social distancing measures taken by the business or organization to prevent the spread of COVID-19.
- c. A description of a process for obtaining goods or services from the business or organization without entering the business, if such a process is at all feasible.
- d. A contact number for individuals to report any violations of these measures to the owner or designee.
- e. Clearly state that any person with symptoms consistent with COVID-19 may not enter the premises.
- f. Shuttles, van services and taxis shall clearly state that the total number of passengers shall be limited to three.

6. Penalties. Violation of this resolution is punishable as a misdemeanor under Unalaska Code of Ordinances § 2.96.090 and is a Public Nuisance, subject to the remedies in Unalaska Code of Ordinances, Title 11, Chapter 8, including prosecution as a minor offense.

7. Effective Date; Expiration. This resolution shall be effective at noon on October 14, 2020 and expires at noon on October 28, 2020. The City Council may extend it as necessary, or the City Manager may extend it or amend it pursuant to the emergency management powers under Unalaska Code of Ordinances § 2.96 and Resolution 2020-16.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 13, 2020.

Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. Mayor

ATTEST:

Marjie Veeder, CMC City Clerk

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL

To:Mayor and City Council MembersFrom:Erin Reinders, City ManagerDate:October 13, 2020Re:Resolution 2020-66: Continuing measures to protect public health

<u>SUMMARY</u>: Council has been considering resolutions instituting local measures to protect the public health. The first of these measures was approved on March 24, 2020. The measures continue to be evaluated as this situation unfolds.

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council approved Resolution 2020-17 on March 24, 2020. The focus of Resolution 2020-17 was on hunkering down, traveler quarantine and the closure of non-essential business. The resolution expired April 15. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the April 14 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-19 on April 14, extending and clarifying the orders outlined in Resolution 2020-17, and instituted additional measures protecting the public health. The resolution expired April 29, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the April 28 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-25 on April 28, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-19. This resolution expired May 13, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the May 12 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-34 on May 12, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-25 and replacing the "Hunker Down" section with a "Social Distancing" section. This resolution expired May 27, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the May 26 Council Meeting. Also on May 12, Council discussed the topic of Cruise Ships and the Alaska Marine Highway System passengers.

Council approved Resolution 2020-36 on May 26, extending and clarifying the orders in Resolution 2020-34 and specifically addressing the Alaska Marine Highway System. This resolution expired June 10, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the June 9 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-38 on June 9, extending and clarifying the orders in Resolution 2020-36 and removed the reference to the Alaska Marine Highway System. This resolution expired June 24, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the June 23 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-41 on June 23, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-38 and began allowing for individuals in traveler self-quarantine to go outside or in their personal vehicles and vessels with certain limitations. This resolution expired July 15, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the July 14 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-45 on July 14, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-41 and clarified that time at sea counted toward the 14 traveler self-quarantine time period. This resolution expired July 29, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the July 28 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-49 on July 28, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-45 and focus in on requirements to reduce the length of the document. This resolution expired August 12, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the August 11 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-51 on August 11, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-49. This resolution expired August 26, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the August 25 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-54 on August 25, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-51. This resolution expired September 9, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the September 8 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-58 on September 8, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-54. This resolution expired September 23, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the September 22 Council Meeting.

Council approved Resolution 2020-63 on September 22, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-58. This resolution expires October 14, 2020. The date was set so that Council could reconsider the action at the October 13 Council Meeting.

BACKGROUND: The nation, state and our city are in a state of emergency and in the midst of a public health crisis. The state continues to update its health mandates, though less frequently than it had previously. The State has eased back on a number of the state-wide restrictions.

State Health Mandate 10, regulating interstate and international travel, was updated on August 11. It applies to residents, nonresidents and critical infrastructure employees. Alaska residents now have four options when traveling to Alaska. Those include obtaining a negative test result if a test was taken within 72 hours of travel, taking a test within 72 hours of travel and then waiting in quarantine for the results, taking a test upon arrival (at no cost), or quarantining for 14 days upon arrival and not taking a test. Non-residents have similar options, with critical distinctions being that quarantine is not an alternative to testing, and that non-residents who opt not to take a test before traveling to Alaska must pay \$250 for the test upon arrival. Critical infrastructure workers must have a letter from their employer identifying the employee and containing details of their travel. They must also have their plan or protocol filed with the state. The plan must explain a protocol for testing and/or quarantine.

Health Mandate 10, Appendix 1 applies to all workers traveling into Alaska to work in a seafood processing plant, or onboard a processor or catcher-processor vessel. It provides six alternative methods to quarantine, depending, in part on whether the processing workers are shore-based or working on processor vessels. Appendix 1 contains detailed screening requirements for seafood processing workers, and also adopts by reference the CDC and OSHA requirements for Meat and Poultry Processing Workers and Employers.

Other State Health Mandates remain in effect as well:

- Health Mandate 15 regulates certain healthcare practices. It contains detailed guidance as to certain types of procedures and types of practices. It requires "universal masking procedures" and other strict testing, screening and distancing measures to protect providers and patients.
- Health Mandate 17 and Appendix 1 regulate independent commercial fishing vessels. Appendix 1 reiterates the 14-day quarantine requirement and outlines not just onboard conduct, but also contains a detailed list of requirements to limit interaction with the public at times when the fishing vessels are in communities. All fishing vessels should have a completed, signed acknowledgment of Health Mandate 17, which is found at Appendix 2.
- Health Mandate 18 governs intrastate travel. As a community on the Alaska Marine Highway system, there is essentially no restriction on travel to Unalaska. The mandate does expressly allow communities to enact local travel restrictions, but the local restrictions cannot require "automatic" quarantine or measures that prevent travel for critical personal needs or conduct of essential services and critical infrastructure.

As with previous Council Resolutions addressing protective measures, this resolution addresses what is different locally from statewide mandates or additional protective measures specific to our community.

DISCUSSION: The resolution is set expire October 28, 2020 but may be amended or extended as necessary, and will be revisited at the Council Meeting on October 27, 2020. The following protective measures from previous resolutions remain in Resolution 2020-66, with the revisions noted:

- **Face Coverings** Customers and visitors of businesses and organizations must wear a covering over their nose and mouth *(no change).*
- **14 Day Traveler Self Quarantine** Individuals traveling into the City by vessel or airplane must self-quarantine, with limited exceptions (*no change*).
- State Approved Plan Submittal Business that are required to submit plans to the State, must submit those to the City (no change).
- **Protective Protocols** All business open to the public must post their basic measures to protect the public health on their doors (*no change*).

As has been the case all along, additional local protective measures, such as business closures or gathering size limits, may be considered if the risk threshold increases locally. City Staff and other members of Unalaska's Unified Command continue to work together to support the community and these protective measures.

<u>ALTERNATIVES</u>: Council may choose to approve, amend or disapprove this resolution.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Unknown at this time.

LEGAL: This resolution, like all the other resolutions protecting public health that Council has considered during this pandemic, was drafted in close collaboration with Sam Severin, one of our City Attorneys.

<u>STAFF RECOMMENDATION</u>: With heavy consideration of our local health care professionals, the City Manager recommends approval.

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to approve Resolution 2020-66.